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Forward-looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties Forward-looking

statements convey current expectations or forecasts of future events for ExamWorks Group Inc and its consolidated

subsidiaries also referred to herein as we our us Company or ExamWorks All statements contained in this

report other than statements of historical fact including statements regarding our future results of operations and

financial position business strategy and plans and our objectives for future operations are forward-looking You can

identif forward-looking statements by terminology such as project believe anticipate plan expect

estimate intend should would could will can continue or may or the negative of these terms or

other similar expressions that convey uncertainty of future events or outcomes The following uncertainties and factors

among others including the factors described in the section entitled Risk Factors in this report could affect our

future performance and cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by forward-looking

statements

our ability to compete successfully

our ability to implement our growth strategy and acquisition program

our ability to integrate completed acquisitions

our expansion into international markets

our ability to secure additional fmancing

changes in regulations affecting our clients needs for our services or enactment of regulations

impacting our business

failure to effectively and efficiently develop and integrate our information technology platform

our ability to protect our intellectual property rights and other information including non-public

medical related personal information

our ability to retain qualified physicians and other medical providers for our medical panel

our ability to retain or expand our client relationships or obtain new ones

our ability to provide our services in an accurate timely and efficient manner

our limited operating history

our ability to retain key management personnel and

restrictions in our credit facility the indenture governing the notes and future indebtedness

There are number of important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results

anticipated by these forward-looking statements These important factors include those that we discuss in this report

under the caption Risk Factors You should read these factors and the other cautionary statements made in this report

as being applicable to all related forward-looking statements wherever they appear in this report If one or more of these

factors materialize or if any underlying assumptions prove incorrect our actual results performance or achievements

may vary materially from any future results performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-

looking statements Moreover we operate in very competitive and rapidly changing environment New risks emerge

from time to time It is not possible for our management to predict all risks nor can we assess the impact of all factors on

our business or the extent to which any factor or combination of factors may cause actual results to differ materially

from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make We undertake no obligation to update any

forward-looking statements whether as result of new information future events or otherwise except as required by

law

This report also contains statistical data and estimates including those relating to market size and growth rates

of the markets in which we participate that we obtained from industry publications and generated with internal analysis

and estimates These publications include forward-looking statements made by the authors of such reports
These

forward-looking statements are subject to number of risks uncertainties and assumptions Actual results could differ

materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements Some data and information

are also based on our good faith estimates which are derived from our review of internal surveys as well as the

independent sources listed above Although we believe these sources are reliable we have not independently verified the

information and cannot assure you of its
accuracy or completeness



Part

Item Business

Our Company

ExamWorks is leading provider of independent medical examinations IMEs peer reviews bill reviews

and related services IME services or the IME industry We provide these IME services through our medical panel

of independently contracted credentialed physicians and other medical providers Our clients include property and

casualty insurance carriers law finns third-party claim administrators and government agencies that use independent

services to confirm the veracity of claims by sick or injured individuals for workers compensation automotive personal

injury liability and disability insurance coverage We help our clients manage costs and enhance their risk management

processes by verifying the validity nature cause and extent of claims identifying fraud and providing fast efficient and

quality IME services

We deliver our services in all 50 U.s states Canada and the United Kingdom Our operating model enables us

to offer our clients the localized services they are accustomed to while realizing the benefits of scale that accrue to

larger integrated company We provide our clients with the local presence expertise and broad geographic coverage

they increasingly require Our size and geographic reach give our clients access to our medical panel and proprietary

information technology infrastructure that has been specifically designed to streamline the complex process of

coordinating referrals scheduling appointments complying with regulations and client reporting Our primary service is

to provide IMEs that give our clients authoritative and accurate answers to questions regarding the nature and

permanency of medical conditions or personal injury their cause and appropriate treatment Additionally we provide

peer reviews which consist of medical opinions by members of our medical panel without conducting physical exams
and bill reviews which consist of the review of physician and hospital bills to examine medical care rendered and its

conformity to accepted standards of care

The qualifications experience and availability of physicians and other medical providers are critical to the IME

industry as they are the primary determinants of the speed and quality with which IME services are performed We

provide our physicians and other medical providers with seamless document management scheduling transcription and

tracking systems helping them increase efficiency and optimize the number of IME services they can conduct based on

their availability Our ability to minimize administrative burden and schedule appointments efficiently encourages

physicians and other medical providers to perform IME services through us Based on client and physician feedback we

believe our medical panel effectively meets our clients needs

Our revenues consist primarily of fees per IME service performed Our fees vary by physician/medical

provider specialty and type of service Our primary costs are the payments made to physicians and other medical

providers on our medical panel Our costs are variable as virtually all medical panel members are independent

contractors allowing us to maintain and manage our operating margins more effectively Our long-standing relationships

with clients have resulted in historically consistent and recurrent demand for our services

From July 14 2008 through the date of this filing we have acquired 37 IME businesses including leading IME

businesses in the U.S Canada and the United Kingdom as well as leading provider of software solutions to the 1MB

industry As result of our corporate infrastructure and scale we have developed and refined our services by identifying

and integrating processes from acquired businesses throughout our entire organization that require accountability set

clear sales goals and track progress effectively

We also maintain industry certifications and accreditations in order to ensure the quality and integrity of our

IME services and processes For example ExamWorks private cloud computing platform allows us to maintain some of

the industrys most rigorous controls for the protection of confidential information Our SSAE 16 certification awarded

upon the successful completion of SSAE 16 Audit in North America validates the robust nature of our technology

platform and information security controls In addition industry-specific accreditations such as URAC demonstrate that

we have consistently met meaningful standards of quality and compliance in the delivery of our services



Industry Opportunity

We believe the IME industry represented sales volumes in 2010 of approximately $4.0 billion in the U.S $0.6

billion in Canada and $0.5 billion in the United Kingdom based on our analysis of data reported by the U.S National

Association of Insurance Commissioners U.S NAIC the Insurance Bureau of Canada the Association of Workers

Compensation Boards of Canada and the Association of British Insurers regarding the number of claims made in 2010

for which IME services may be requested in insurance lines we service the estimated average price for IMEs and our

knowledge of the IME market our competitors and potential acquisition targets The IME industry is highly fragmented

consisting of an estimated 500 companies in the U.S most of which are privately owned and generate less than $10.0

million in annual revenues and thousands of independent physicians and other medical providers Most of these

companies provide IME services to only one line of business and only at local level In contrast the needs and

requirements of IME clients are increasingly sophisticated requiring broader portfolio of services uniform quality

standards consistent reporting and robust administrative and information systems necessary to meet their needs across

multiple geographies and lines of business

The following clients routinely request IME services

Clients Description

Insurance Companies Mainly claims adjusters and in-house counsel for major insurance companies covering

workers compensation automotive personal injury liability and disability insurance claims

Law Firms Attorneys who request IME services based on specific claims for insurance carriers

Third-Party Claim Process claims and administer benefits for large self-insured corporations that outsource

Administrators TPA claims management

Government Agencies Government agencies across the federal state and local levels e.g U.S Department of

Labor and Health Canada

State Funds State-run payors that provide mandatory workers compensation insurance to companies

IME Industry Growth Drivers

We believe the IME industry presents IME services providers like us with continued potential for growth and

profitability through consolidation growth in international markets and capture of market share from IME companies

without national infrastructure large credentialed medical panel and/or robust technology platform The following are

some of the factors that contribute to these opportunities

IME services are frequently used for number of claims IME services are regularly used by

insurance companies law firms TPAs government agencies and state funds for the evaluation of non-

litigated and litigated claims In the U.S IME market we estimate based on data reported by the U.S

NAIC that approximately 25 million workers compensation automotive personal injury liability and

disability insurance claims are made per year which are potentially subject to IME services Particular

types of claims with high economic value such as permanent disability typically require IMEs and

have shown strong demand in recent years

Cost containment and risk management will be primary areas of focus Current macroeconomic

demographic and regulatory trends including increased medical costs and administrative and

regulatory burdens will continue to pressure users of IME services to better manage costs and mitigate

risks If settled claims are usually paid as multiple of medical expenses and other costs accrued

Consequently clients increasingly demand fast accurate and efficient provision of IME services to

help manage costs

Demand for IME services due to the prevalence of fraud The National Health Care Anti-Fraud

Association estimates that 3% of all healthcare spending in the U.S approximately $68.0 billion in

2007 was lost to fraud With ongoing efforts to address healthcare fraud we expect the demand for

IME services to increase



Sources of low-risk revenue are increasingly attractive to physicians Pressure in the healthcare

industry on physician compensation encourages physicians to take on additional work including

performing IME services to supplement their incomes There is almost no reimbursement risk

associated with performing IME services as physicians are paid on per service basis at pre

negotiated rate Consequently demand from physicians to perform IME services is expected to remain

strong

International markets represent key growth opportunities There are several international markets

with demand for IME services either due to regulatory requirements such as national health programs

or private-sector adoption of claims validation practices to better manage costs and mitigate risks

Industry fragmentation inefficiencies and lack of scale present challenges for smaller IME

companies The IME industry is highly fragmented and smaller IME companies may provide IME

services inefficiently and with inconsistent quality With ongoing pressure in the IME industry to

reduce costs improve quality and improve workflow efficiency we believe the market opportunity for

IME companies with comprehensive portfolio of services and broad geographic coverage is

significant

Our Competitive Strengths

While we compete with large number of primarily local and regional IME providers we believe our

competitive strengths include the following

Leading market positions in stable industry We believe based on our knowledge of the IME

market our competitors our acquired businesses and our potential acquisition targets that we are the

largest provider of IME services in the U.S based on revenues and the only provider with significant

operations in both Canada and the United Kingdom We believe demand for IME services has

historically been driven by cost containment initiatives in
response to rising medical costs the need to

efficiently manage substantial administrative and regulatory requirements and the prevalence of

fraudulent claims all of which are expected to continue

Growing brand names associated with market leading capabilities Our brands have distinct

geographic and market strengths which continue to grow stronger as we build our national and

international presence We are known by our clients as having industry leading capabilities and

continue to position ourselves as the optimal IME services provider for insurance companies and other

clients as well as physicians and other medical providers As we acquire companies we seek to

maintain the relationships and recognition associated with the acquired brands We believe that as the

strength of our brands improve we will continue to attract clients and qualified physicians and other

medical providers to our medical panel

Well positioned to capture market share With our focus on national accounts our long-standing local

relationships and our national and international footprint we believe we are well positioned to

continue to capture market share at the local and national level To date we have been successful in

being named preferred vendor for many of the largest insurers and are in the process of adding more

national accounts to our client list As preferred vendor local offices of national accounts while

generally maintaining discretion are free to utilize our services over other vendors Consequently as

we add national accounts and proactively sell our services to our clients through our sales force we

should continue to receive new business and grow our market share The quality of our long-standing

relationships with our clients has historically provided consistent and recurrent demand for our

services

Large qualjfled and experienced medical paneL We believe our medical panel represents one of the

IME industrys leading groups of widely accessible experienced and credible physicians and other

medical providers We have relationships with physicians and other medical providers across nearly

every medical specialty We are able to attract and retain our highly qualified medical panel through

our ability to fill schedules and offer full range of administrative services We believe that quality of

service professionalism and speed of IME or review completion are key areas of focus for our clients

and we work with our medical panel to ensure that we meet or exceed client expectations



Leading technology platform Our proprietary and scalable technology platform IMECentric

streamlines our business
processes

and reduces administrative operating costs with industry leading

coordination of patient referrals appointment scheduling client reporting and real-time case tracking

We believe that the complexities of the IME industry and client demand for broader more cost-

effective portfolio of services will continue to benefit companies like us which remain at the forefront

of technological innovation

Proven track record of successfully completing and integrating key acquisitions Our growth is

supplemented by selective disciplined acquisitions to expand our geographic coverage provide new or

complementary lines of business expand our portfolio of services and increase our market share Since

our founding we have acquired 37 IME businesses and have track record of successfully integrating

acquired businesses into our operations Through rapid and effective integration we have been able to

utilize acquired platforms to cross-sell IME services To date we have successfully realized several

key benefits through our acquisition strategy including the scale to operate efficiently while

retaining the critical local office presence ii the ability to offer our clients leading medical panel

iii service-specific processes which are rapidly shared throughout our entire Company and iv the

opportunity to introduce new products and services and enter new markets and geographic regions

Experienced management team Our management team has an in-depth understanding of the IME

industry as well as extensive experience growing companies profitably both organically and through

acquisitions Prior to founding our Company our senior executive team founded and operated three

successful public companies They bring extensive experience in growing businesses organically and

acquisitively having successfully integrated over 90 acquisitions during their careers Many of the

members of the executive management team have worked together closely over the past 16 years

Since ExamWorks inception the management team has sourced and successfully completed 37

acquisitions In addition the MES acquisition in February 2011 has added many experienced industry

executives to our management team

Our Growth Strategies

Our objective is to continue to be leading provider of IME services and to build on our position as an

essential and trusted service provider in claims validation and verification processes

We believe the following initiatives will allow us to continue to grow

Drive sales growth As many of our acquired companies were family-owned businesses built on local

relationships they often did not have well-developed management strategies policies and procedures

We have been able to implement processes that require accountability set clear sales goals and track

progress effectively with the goal of increasing the number of IME services provided to existing

clients This in turn should lead to increased growth and profitability

Sell additional services to existing clients With locations serving the U.S Canada and the United

Kingdom we are able to use our large network to efficiently share services expertise within our sales

force By accelerating the knowledge transfer and cross-selling capabilities of our sales force we are

able to offer additional IME services to existing clients for example peer and bill reviews to existing

IME clients This will allow us to capture additional market share and grow our presence in markets

by increasing utilization of our existing platform across all IME service offerings

Cross-sell into other insurance lines of business Currently we have clients that use our services for

specific line of business We can increase sales to existing clients through cross-selling into additional

lines of business such as workers compensation automotive personal injury liability and disability

Expand geographic footprint with existing clients We intend to build on our local relationships and

expand into new geographic regions where our clients operate As many of our clients have broad

national and/or international presence we believe our strong relationships and reputation for providing

quality IME services will provide us with opportunities to receive intra-client referrals and increase our

geographic footprint As we continue to expand geographically we expect our national account

program to build momentum and for us to become preferred provider for more of our clients



Pursue accretive strategic acquisitions We believe that our fragmented industry provides many

opportunities for acquisitions We plan to continue pursuing acquisitions to grow our business in our

existing markets and add new service areas and geographic regions including new international

markets We have history of successfully integrating acquired businesses and have acquired 37

businesses to date The acquisitions have allowed us to diversify our portfolio of services and expand

our geographic footprint

Our Services Medical Panel and Technology Platform

Our services primarily include IMEs and peer and bill reviews which are provided by members of our medical

panel Our portfolio of IME services meets the urgent claims evaluation needs of our clients by verifying the validity

nature cause and extent of claims identifying fraud and providing fast efficient and quality IME services

Independent Medical Examinations

Our primary service is to arrange for the provision of IMEs that give our clients authoritative and accurate

answers to questions regarding the nature and permanency of medical conditions or personal injury their cause and

appropriate treatment Clients use IMEs as part of their claims or liability management process in order to confirm the

veracity of claims by sick or injured individuals for workers compensation automotive personal injury liability and

disability insurance coverage Our independent and clearly written opinions prepared by our credentialed panel of

physicians and other medical providers address both medical and legal competencies In most cases clients cannot

perform the services in-house as there is need to perform IMEs independently objectively and in cost-effective

manner IMEs are also used by attorneys for legal disputes and proceedings related to personal injury and other claims

In the case of litigated claims physicians and medical providers on our medical panel are able to provide expert

testimony

Peer Reviews

We offer full range
of

peer
review services including medical record reviews nurse file reviews and

utilization reviews by members of our medical panel Our peer reviews which are performed by members of our medical

panel provide an informed credible and evidence-based medical opinion of claimants condition and treatment These

reviews examine and include opinions as to causal relationships ii reasonableness and appropriateness of treatment

iiimitigating conditions with relevant associated and degenerative conditions and iv the necessity of medical service

and treatment all for the purpose of facilitating the fair and proper handling of claims

Bill Reviews

We offer full range
of bill review services including physician and hospital bill reviews and surgical cost

estimates Bill reviews examine the specific medical care rendered and how its relevance and cost conform to industry

accepted standards of care Physician and hospital bill reviews are used to facilitate the adjudication settlement or

resolution of medical bill or claim through line item audit for every charge on the bill based on service rates from

local market data Our surgical cost estimates performed by credentialed registered nurses on our medical panel

highlight ways in which costs can be anticipated managed and reduced This service provides insight into prospective

procedures likely rehabilitation and implications for disability and costs and is particularly helpful in addressing claims

where medical severity continues to increase

Other IME-related services

We also offer variety of other IME-related services including litigation support services medical record

retrieval services and administrative support services Litigation support services involve member of our medical panel

providing expert testimony on behalf of our clients Medical record retrieval services are performed by an ExamWorks

employee and involve the physical retrieval of the claimants historical medical records typically in conjunction with an

IME or peer review Administrative support
services are performed by an ExamWorks employee and involve the

completion and submission of forms required for the request of exams on behalf of our clients



Medical Panel

Our IME services are performed by panel of experienced and credentialed physicians and other medical

providers which include dentists chiropractors psychologists acupuncturists physical therapists nurses and social

workers among others Our medical panel consists of physicians and other medical providers who have performed

services and received compensation from us and our acquired businesses In virtually all cases these physicians and

other medical providers are engaged by us on an independent contractor basis which is customary in the IME industry

Because virtually all members of our medical panel are independent contractors as opposed to employees we do not

withhold income or other employment related taxes pay employment related taxes provide workers compensation

insurance or directly assume any malpractice liability with respect to them Utilization of members on our medical panel

is heavily dependent on geographic location and certain specialties including orthopedic chiropractic rehabilitation and

neurology specialties Importantly our medical panel costs are variable allowing us to effectively maintain and manage

our operating margins We have been able to attract and retain members of our own panel through our ability to fill

schedules and offer full range of administrative services We also employ in-house recruiters who are responsible for

the identification and recruitment of members of our medical panel and members of our panel also serve as source of

referrals for other panel members

Members of our medical panel must have extensive applicable experience and clinical background an active

medical practice and/or hold position in reputable medical or clinical facility To the extent applicable we require

our physicians and other medical providers to be board certified licensed or accredited practitioners of related and

supporting medical specialties ii have proof of medical malpractice insurance iii pass background checks for

disciplinary action iv maintain offices that are well kept and clean submit to regularly scheduled site inspections to

ensure that the highest standards of courtesy and professionalism are observed and vi be available to testify when

needed

The credentialing of physicians and other medical providers is critical component of our ability to provide and

maintain the integrity and quality of our services and compete effectively All physicians and other medical providers in

our panel must comply with any and all requests for information and with our credentialing procedures The process

starts with each physician and other medical provider completing comprehensive questionnaire that is reviewed

carefully using primary source verification methods to verify his or her license status and other professional

qualifications Primary source verification involves direct contact with the sources of licenses and qualifications to

confirm that information provided to us about licenses and qualifications are legitimate and current As we acquire

businesses we implement our credentialing policies and procedures to ensure that all of our acquired businesses operate

on consistent basis and in conformity with our procedures as quickly as reasonably possible after being acquired

In addition our quality management program provides oversight to and ensures quality performance of IMEs

by our medical panel through recruitment credentialing auditing and ongoing education Under the leadership of our

Chief Medical Director and our compliance and network development directors our quality management committee

monitors and provides ongoing evaluation of all aspects of the IME process to ensure the consistent delivery of high

quality IME services to our clients

Technology Platform

Through our acquisition of IME Software Solutions in July 2009 we acquired IME Centric leading platform

software solution for the IME industry and are in the process
of deploying this technology We are now able to

customize specific software initiatives to meet our clients needs and to support our strategic objectives With

IMECentric we provide clients with access to our web portal and computing network that automates host of tasks that

can otherwise consume significant amount of time for both our staff and our clients Specific functions of our

technology platform include central data collection data privacy controls elimination of cost centers business continuity

procedures and data mining capabilities We use real-time feedback from our clients to improve functionality and

performance of our technology and processes and incorporate these improvements into our portfolio of services on

regular basis



IMECentric links our clients with our IME platform and medical panel and allows for the following

functionality

online referrals and electronic record submission

automated forms generation

search and scheduling

review and comment on documents and physician reports

tracking and auditing

The architecture of our IMECentric technology platform is built in Private Virtual Cloud Computing

Network PVCCN

In addition through our acquisition of MES in February 2011 we acquired OMS robust proprietary software

platform The OMS software solution shares many of the features of IMECentric and is fully deployed throughout all of

MES service centers To date the IMECentric software solution has been deployed in the majority of our other service

centers As we continue to run IMECentric and OMS our ownership of both solutions provides us with the flexibility to

build technology platform that combines the strengths of both systems

The development and deployment of our technology platform is led by our Chief Information Officer and

managed centrally by dedicated team leaders and other members of our information technology department We plan to

continue developing our technological capabilities nationally and internationally and enhancing the competitive

advantages our technology platform provides

Acquisitions

We have substantial experience in identifying acquiring and integrating IME services businesses Since our

inception we have acquired 37 IME businesses and have track record of successfully integrating acquired businesses

into our operations These acquisitions have enabled us to establish presence in new markets strengthen our position in

existing markets and add new or complementary lines of business to our portfolio of services Our management team

executes our growth strategy by being involved in the process of identifying complementary acquisition opportunities in

new and existing markets Our management team is experienced having collectively coordinated due diligence

negotiation and execution for all acquisitions to date

We anticipate that we will continue to acquire companies in geographic regions in which we currently have

limited presence or that offer complementary portfolio of services to those that we already provide and would consider

suitable acquisition candidates characterized by several if not all of the following attributes

an experienced and talented management team prepared to make commitment to executing our

strategic business plan

specialization in certain services that may be beneficial to or complement our other companies

demonstrated record of organic growth and profitability or capable of achieving our minimum

financial performance targets in the near term

Our process to source execute and integrate acquisition targets has been successful to date as we have been

able to identify suitable targets efficiently and close the vast majority of transactions we initiated Our acquisition

process includes several key steps During sourcing we either identify potential targets directly or receive inbound

requests from IME or IME-related businesses interested in joining ExamWorks Our preliminary assessment consists of

an evaluation of the targets financial performance and fit with our business model and culture If proposal is

considered we formulate suitable bid based on critical assessment of the targets historical and projected

performance We always aim to negotiate and complete purchase agreements as efficiently as possible During the fmal

stage of closing and integration we strive to introduce concrete goals and objectives and implement professional

management practices to ensure that the targets culture and processes are consistent with those of Exam Works



Exam Works Acquisitions

From our inception through the date of this filing we have completed the following acquisitions

Name

Bronshvag

Matrix Health Management

Capital Vocational Specialists

North York Rehabilitation Centre

MLS Group of Companies

Medicolegal Services

Premex Group

MES Group

National IME Centres

Royal Medical Consultants

BMEGateway
UK Independent Medical Services

Health Cost Management

Verity Medical

Exigere

SOMA Medical Assessments

Direct IME

Network Medical Review

Independent Medical Services

401 Diagnostics

Metro Medical Services

American Medical Bill Review

Medical Evaluations

Abeton

Medical Assurance Group

MedNetl.M.S

Qualmed

IME Operations of Physicians Practice

The Evaluation Group

Benchmark Medical Consultants

IME Software Solutions

Florida Medical Specialists

Marquis Medical Administrators

Ricwel

CFO Medical Services

Crossland Medical Review Services

Southwest Medical

Acquisition Date

October 27 2011

October 24 2011

October 2011

September 28 2011

May 10 2011

February 28 2011

February 18 2011

December 20 2010

October 2010

September 2010

September 2010

August 2010

June 30 2010

March 26 2010

March 15 2010

December 31 2009

August 14 2009

August 2009

July 2009

May 21 2009

April 17 2009

July 14 2008



Geographic Information

For the year ended December 31 2009 all of our revenues were generated in the U.S and all of our long-lived

assets were located in the U.S With the acquisitions of SOMA and Direct IME in June 2010 we entered the Canadian

market and with the acquisition of UK Independent Medical Services in September 2010 we entered the U.K market

The following tables detail revenues and long-lived assets by geographic region

Revenues For the years ended December 31

2009 2010 2011

in thousands

United States 49634 147918 298056

Canada 9710 21271

United Kingdom 5883 78533

Total 49634 163511 397860

Long-lived assets December 31

2010 2011

in thousands

United States 126772 340955

Canada 24028 42377

United Kingdom 7616 72452

Total 158416 455784

Long-lived assets are noncurrent assets excluding deferred tax assets and deferred financing costs

Sales and Marketing

We employ direct sales force of approximately 112 representatives with in-depth knowledge of the IME

industry Given the experience of our sales team and the constant sharing of market data and other relevant information

from each of our 45 service centers we believe our sales force provides us with competitive advantage Our sales force

promotes and sells our services to existing and new clients and seeks to expand the services we provide to our existing

client base We focus on both our clients who request IME services and the physicians and other medical providers who

perform them

Physician and other medical providers enrollment and retention are critical aspects of our sales strategy It is

important for us to have large motivated network of physicians and other medical providers who collectively offer

diverse expertise and enable accelerated IME and review times We recruit physicians and other medical providers

through various channels including med-legal conferences referrals and continuing medical education seminars Our

ability to recruit physicians and other medical providers has been supported by the increasing prominence of our brands

both domestically and abroad

Our marketing efforts focus on creating strong brand identities through industry trade shows websites print

media and development of industry related seminars and continuing medical education opportunities Our brand

awareness in the IME industry has resulted in several companies proactively reaching out to us to join ExamWorks and

aided in our national account program to become preferred service provider for clients We have developed and intend

to continue to develop local regional national and international marketing programs designed to create strong brand

identities emphasizing our wide geographic footprint capabilities and technology platform

Clients

Our clients include insurance companies law firms TPAs government agencies and state funds Our client

base is diversified with one client contributing 11% of total revenues in the year ended December 31 2009 and no client

contributing more than 10% of total revenues in each of the years ended December 31 2010 and 2011 Pro forma for

acquisitions completed to date no client contributed more than 10% of pro forma total revenues in 2009 2010 or 2011
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Competitive Landscape

Our competitors primarily consist of significantly smaller local and regional companies in fragmented

landscape In the U.S we estimate that there are approximately 500 mainly private companies and thousands of

independent physicians and medical providers that provide IME services Small local and regional providers often lack

the scale and experience to provide multiple products across multiple service lines Typically these companies are able

to provide just one product We indirectly compete with local providers HMOs and non-profit hospitals utilizing staff

physicians insurance companies employing in-house staff and public companies providing services as subset of core

line of business In the U.S Canada and the United Kingdom IME providers compete on the basis of their geographic

footprint the strength of their client relationships quality of reports availability of qualified physicians and other

medical providers service offerings and to lesser extent price Increasingly IME providers in all three countries also

compete on the ability of their technology platforms to streamline the IME business processes of their clients

The competitive landscapes in Canada and the United Kingdom have similar characteristics in that IME

services are mainly provided by smaller companies and independent physicians We estimate that there are in excess of

90 and 40 companies that provide IME services in Canada and the United Kingdom respectively We believe there is an

opportunity for an IME services company such as ExamWorks with broad infrastructure and extensive experience to

grow and expand in Canada and the United Kingdom

Some of our competitors may have more significant historical relationships with clients in their geographic

regions

Government Regulation

As participant in the medical industry our operations and relationships with our clients physician contractors

and other medical professionals are subject to variety of government regulations These laws and regulations are broad

in scope and they are subject to evolving interpretations which could require us to incur substantial costs associated with

compliance and/or to alter one or more of our practices We devote significant efforts to establish and maintain

compliance with all regulatory requirements that we believe are applicable to our business and the services we offer

Specifically but without limitation the following laws and regulations may affect our operations and contractual

relationships

Government Regulation of Health Information

HJPAA The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 as amended including by the Health

Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act HITECH including the regulations issued and

effective thereunder which we collectively refer to as ITIIPAA contains substantial restrictions and requirements with

respect to the use and disclosure of individuals protected health information HIPAA applies to covered entities such as

certain healthcare providers and health plans as well as business associates that perform functions on behalf of or

provide services to covered entities

As result of our dealings with clients suppliers and contractors in the medical industry which may be

considered covered entities under or otherwise subject to the requirements of HIPAA we are in some circumstances

considered business associate under HIPAA As business associate we are subject to the HIPAA requirements

relating to the privacy and security of protected health information Among other things HIPAA requires business

associates to maintain physical technical and administrative safeguards to prevent protected health information from

misuse ii report security incidents and other inappropriate uses or disclosures of the information including to

individuals and governmental authorities and iii assist covered entities from which we obtain health information with

certain of their duties under HIPAA We have policies and safeguards in place intended to protect health information as

required by HIPAA and have processes in place to assist us in complying with applicable laws and regulations regarding

the protection of this data and responding to any security incidents

On July 14 2010 the Department of Health and Human Services published set of proposed rules designed to

modii and add provisions to HIPAA to reflect HITECH If finalized these proposed HITECH regulations could expand

the applicability of HIPAA to our business For example the proposed HITECH regulations would among other things

Expand the circumstances we could be considered business associate subject to HIPAA and

Require us to implement additional provisions in our agreements with our subcontractors
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We are monitoring these proposed changes to ITHPAA with the goal of effecting compliance when and if any

new rules or regulations go into effect

Other Laws In addition to HIPAA most states have enacted confidentiality laws that protect against the

unauthorized disclosure of confidential health information and many states have adopted or are considering further

legislation in this area including privacy safeguards security standards and data security breach notification

requirements Such state laws if more stringent than HIPAA requirements are not preempted by the federal

requirements and we must comply with them even though they may be subject to different interpretations by various

courts and other governmental authorities In addition numerous other state and federal laws govern the collection

dissemination use accesses to confidentiality and retention of health information

False or Fraudulent Claim Laws

There are numerous federal and state laws that forbid submission of false information or the failure to disclose

information in connection with the submission and payment of physician claims for reimbursement In some cases these

laws also forbid abuse of existing systems for such submission and payment for example by systematic over treatment

or duplicate billing of the same services to collect increased or duplicate payments

In particular the federal False Claims Act or FCA prohibits person from knowingly presenting or causing to

be presented false or fraudulent claim for payment or approval by an officer employee or agent of the U.S In addition

the FCA prohibits person from knowingly making using or causing to be made or used false record or statement

material to such claim The FCAs reverse false claim provision also creates liability for persons who knowingly and

improperly conceal the retention of an overpayment of government money Violations of the FCA may result in treble

damages significant monetary penalties and other collateral consequences including potentially exclusion from

participation in federally funded health care programs The scope and implications of the Fraud Enforcement and

Recovery Act amendments have yet to be fully determined or adjudicated and as result it is difficult to predict how

future enforcement initiatives may impact our business

In addition under the Civil Monetary Penalty Act of 1981 the Department of Health and Human Services

Office of Inspector General has the authority to impose administrative penalties and assessments against any person

including an organization or other entity who among other things knowingly presents or causes to be presented to

state or federal government employee or agent certain false or otherwise improper claims

Stale and Local Laws and Licenses

We are subject to various federal state and local laws rules and regulations relating to our industry and our

specific lines of business including without limitation workers compensation auto-injury and insurance laws These

laws are wide-ranging in scope and effect and
range

from requiring that we register with governmental agency to

imposing specific limitations on how medical assessments must be scheduled and conducted and how payment must be

collected Our other lines of services including our bill review and peer review services are also subject to or influenced

by wide variety of state and local laws rules and regulations

In addition in some states these laws require us to obtain and maintain licenses certifications and/or

accreditations in order to conduct business as for example an independent review organization or utilization review

agent We are subject to periodic inspection by governmental and other authorities to assure continued compliance with

the various standards necessary for licensing and accreditations We are taking the steps that we believe are required to

maintain or obtain all requisite licenses and certifications and to comply with these laws

Slate Laws Regarding Prohibition of Corporate Practice of Medicine and Fee Splitting Arrangements

The practice of most healthcare professions requires appropriate licensing under applicable state law Some

states prohibit general business entities such as we are from practicing medicine controlling physicians medical

decisions and engaging in some practices such as fee-splitting Among other things we currently contract with

physicians to facilitate provision of IMEs in all 50 U.S states Although we are not in the business of providing

healthcare or practicing medicine and believe that we have structured our operations appropriately we could be alleged

or found to be in violation of some or all of these laws If state determines that some portion of our business violates

these laws it may seek to have us discontinue those portions or subject us to penalties fines certain license requirements

or other measures Any determination that we have acted improperly in this regard may result in liability to us Even an
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unsuccessful challenge by regulatory authorities or others of our practices could result in adverse publicity and be costly

to respond to

Healthcare Reform Law

On March 23 2010 the healthcare reform bill passed into law as the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act

as amended by the Healthcare and Education Reconciliation Act together PPACA This law and related measures

call for increased scrutiny of and impose requirements on physicians employer plans and insurance companies and

their third party contractors while we are not in the business of providing healthcare to the extent we contract with these

parties these reforms may affect our business For example PPACA now requires claims made under certain self-

insured plans to be reviewed in accordance with certain appeal and external review processes which has resulted in

need for PPACA peer review services Many of the provisions of PPACA are either still being implemented interpreted

and/or challenged for example in the United States Supreme Court As result we cannot yet predict the full effect of

PPACA and related measures however at this time we do not believe that these reforms will have significant negative

impact on our business

Foreign Regulations

In General Our operations in Canada and the U.K are subject to variety of federal and provincial regulations

related to privacy security and employment

Canada The Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act PIPEDA is federal legislation

that applies to federally regulated private sector organizations including organizations in the transportation

communications broadcasting and banking sectors and to provincially regulated private sector organizations in

provinces that have not enacted substantially similar legislation PIPEDA applies to personal information including

health information which is collected used or disclosed in the course of commercial activity that takes place across the

Canadian border between provinces or within Canadian province that has not enacted substantially similar legislation

The province of Ontario has not enacted privacy law of general application thus PIPEDA applies to the

activities of organizations operating within the province of Ontario PIPEDA requires that organizations obtain consent

from individuals for the collection use or disclosure of their personal information subject to limited exceptions

PIPEDA also requires that organizations protect collected information with reasonable security measures ii

implement privacy policy including an information retention policy iii appoint privacy officer responsible for

representing the organization in privacy matters and iv provide individuals with the right to access personal

information held by the organization and to challenge its accuracy Physicians and other persons providing services to us

may also be subject to other provincial laws governing health information that is transmitted to us in connection with

these services

In Ontario the conduct of IMEs and the preparation of reports in connection with motor vehicle accident

claims is governed by the Statutory Accident Benefit Schedule SABS set forth in regulations promulgated under the

Insurance Act Ontario Under the SABS insurers are generally required to pay for all reasonable and necessary

expenses incurred by or on behalf of an insured person for the purpose of obtaining and attending an IME or in obtaining

certificate report or treatment plan Amendments to the SABS that went into effect on September 2010

implemented several changes relevant to our business First the SABS no longer requires insurance companies to first

obtain medical assessments before denying claims and/or classifying them as minor injury claims but clarify that all

such denials and/or determinations must state medical and any other reasons This change has resulted in decrease in

demand for IMEs in Canada which has negatively impacted our Canadian business In addition the SABS now requires

that all fees and expenses for conducting IMEs initiated by the claimant be paid out of the claimants medical and

rehabilitation benefits There is uncertainty in the industry as to the long-term effect that the changes related to insurers

ability to deny claims without an IME and charging claimants for the costs of medical assessments will have on the

demand for IMEs The SABS now also imposes cap of C$2000 as the maximum fee that may be charged for each

IME Historically fees for IMEs for non-catastrophic automobile injuries which constitute the substantial majority of

IMEs performed by us have been below the C$2000 cap As result the cap itself has not significantly impacted our

business in Canada

United Kingdom In the United Kingdom the collection and use of personal data is principally governed by the

Data Protection Act 1998 the Data Protection Act The Data Protection Act applies to the processing of personal

data with both of these terms being widely defmed Consequently virtually every business operating in the United
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Kingdom holding information about employees customers or anyone else is required to comply with the Data Protection

Act which is administered and enforced by the Information Commissioner

Subject to some limited exceptions the Data Protection Act requires those subject to it to notify the Information

Commissioner prior to commencing the processing of information Notifications need to include specific information

including the processors name ii description of the personal information being processed iii the reasons the

information needs to be processed iv security measures in place relating to the information and details about whom

the information is processed by

The Data Protection Act also imposes obligations on those processing personal data including right for the

individual to inspect their personal data ii restrictions on the transfer of data outside the European Economic Area

without adequate safeguards iii need to have in place appropriate security measures to safeguard the personal data

iv requirement that the data held is not excessive in relation to the purpose for holding the information and an

obligation not to retain data longer than necessary breach of data protection legislation can result in civil and criminal

sanctions as well as the risk of adverse publicity

The Bribery Act 2012 the Bribery Act came into force in the United Kingdom in 2011 and it applies to both

individuals and companies The Bribery Act makes it criminal offense to give or receive bribe and it is also

corporate offense if company fails to prevent bribery Non-U.K companies are covered by the Bribery Act provided

that they have some operations in the United Kingdom and could be prosecuted by the Serious Fraud Office in the

United Kingdom company will not be liable under the Bribery Act however if it can demonstrate that it had

adequate procedures in place to prevent bribery Accordingly we have implemented anti-bribery policies and

procedures and have undertaken anti-bribery training with applicable staff throughout our U.K operations

Intellectual Property

Our success and ability to compete depend in part on our ability to protect our intellectual property rights We

rely on combination of copyright trademark trade secret and other related laws and confidentiality procedures and

contractual provisions to protect maintain and enforce our proprietary technology and intellectual property rights Our

two main intellectual properties are the registered trademark of ExamWorks and our ExamWorks domain name We

also own the copyright to the IMECentric software as well as the trademarks and service marks for the names of our

acquired businesses and their domain names With our acquisition of MES in 2011 we acquired the copyright to the

MES OMS software as well as the registered trademark of MES Solutions We own no patents In the U.S and many

foreign jurisdictions trademark protection can potentially be perpetual provided the relevant mark is still used in

commerce and all applicable fees are paid Likewise domain names typically can be renewed perpetually upon the

payment of applicable registrar and renewal fees Copyrights have limited duration but such duration in the U.S for

works made for hire is 95 years from publication or 120 years from creation whichever is earlier As such almost all

copyrightable works are protected beyond their useful life In the case of IMECentric the copyright is protected for

approximately 70 years All of our trademarks are currently used in commerce and we have paid all applicable

trademark domain name and copyright fees

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary technology and intellectual property rights we may fail to

adequately protect our copyright trademark or trade secret rights while trademark copyright and trade secret protection

may be unavailable or limited in some countries or may expire or provide us commercial advantage for only limited

period of time Furthermore third parties may use our proprietary technology and intellectual property rights without our

consent As such it is possible we will not be able to protect maintain or enforce our proprietary technology and

intellectual property rights

Employees

As of February 15 2012 we had approximately 1880 employees approximately 1660 of whom are full-time

employees None of our employees are represented by union or collective bargaining agreement We believe our

relationship with our employees to be positive which is key component of our operating strategy We seek to create

corporate culture in which virtually every employee benefits from his or her and our success through participation in our

employee stock option program and culture that rewards performance and accountability

Our employees are required to participate in various training sessions each year Our ongoing training and

executive learning programs are modeled after the practices of companies that we believe have reputations for service

excellence
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Independent Contractors

We also have medical panel consisting of credentialed physicians and other medical providers Our member

panel costs are variable as members of our medical panel are virtually all independent contractors allowing us to

effectively maintain and manage our operating margins

Corporate Information

Our executive offices are located at 3280 Peachtree Road N.E Suite 2625 Atlanta GA 30305 and our

telephone number at this location is 404 952-2400

Our website is www examworks corn Our annual reports on Form 10-K including this Form 10-K as well as

our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to such reports are available free of

charge on our website These reports are available as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed

with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC Information included or referred to on or

otherwise accessible through our website is not intended to form part of or be incorporated by reference into this

report

Item 1A Risk Factors

Our operations and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties including without

limitation those described below that could materially and adversely affect our business financial condition results

of operations performance and the trading price of our common stock You should carefully consider the following

risks as well as the other information included in this Form 10-K including Managements Discussion and Analysis

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and our financial statements and related notes included elsewhere

in this Form 10-K

We have limited history and may not be able to achieve financial or operational success

We are relatively new company with an approximate five-year history Our operations are subject to all risks

inherent in the establishment of recently formed business Our success may be limited by problems fluctuations in

expenses difficulties and delays frequently encountered with new businesses as well as competition in the IME industry

While we have been able to generate revenues we may not be able to increase the amount of revenues we generate and

we will likely continue to incur net losses for some time as we continue to grow Any evaluation of our business and our

prospects must be considered in light of these factors and the risks and uncertainties often encountered by companies in

our state of development Further we may not be able to successfully implement any of our plans in timely or effective

manner which would negatively impact our ability to generate or increase revenues as well as our results of operations

and financial condition

We may be unable to successfully integrate completed acquisitions and such acquisitions may fail to achieve the

financial results we expected

Since July 2008 we have acquired 37 IME businesses These acquisitions have involved and could continue to

involve the integration of separate company that previously operated independently and had different systems

processes and cultures into our existing operations While we expect to continue to evaluate potential strategic

acquisitions that might augment our existing services we may be unable to successfully integrate businesses we acquire

including our recently completed acquisitions and such acquisitions may fail to achieve the financial results we

expected Integrating completed acquisitions into our existing operations particularly larger acquisitions involves

numerous risks including loss of clients diversion of our managements attention failure to retain key personnel and

failure of the acquired business to be financially successful In addition we cannot be certain of the extent of any

unknown or contingent liabilities of any acquired business including liabilities for failure to comply with applicable

laws We may incur material liabilities for past
activities of acquired businesses Also depending on the location of the

acquired business we may be required to comply with laws and regulations that may differ from those of the

jurisdictions in which our operations are currently conducted Our inability to successfully integrate businesses we

acquire or if such businesses do not achieve the financial results we expect may increase our costs and have material

adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations
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We may not be successful in implementing our growth strategy and acquiring companies that complement our

business which would adversely impact our growth and profitability

Our growth strategy is dependent on acquiring and integrating the operations of companies in the IME industry

Since our inception we have acquired 37 IME businesses including provider of software solutions to the IME

industry To continue this strategic growth we will need to continue to identify appropriate businesses to acquire and

successfully undertake the acquisition of these businesses on reasonable terms Although we expect to continue to

evaluate such strategic acquisitions we may not be successful in pursuing acquisition opportunities and implementing

our growth strategy if without limitation

suitable acquisition candidates are not available

acquisitions cannot be completed on reasonable terms

we inherit or assume significant liabilities relating to acquired entities or businesses including

liabilities for failure to comply with applicable laws or

we are unable to raise the funds
necessary to make acquisitions

In addition we may compete for acquisitions with other potential acquirers some of which may have greater

financial or operational resources than we do If we are not successful in finding attractive acquisition candidates that we

can acquire on satisfactory terms or if we cannot complete those acquisitions that we identify we will not be able to

realize the benefit of this part of our growth strategy which could harm our future profitability

If we fmance acquisitions by issuing equity securities or securities convertible into equity securities our

existing stockholders will be diluted If we finance an acquisition with debt it will result in higher leverage and interest

costs As result if we fail to evaluate and execute acquisitions properly we might not achieve the anticipated benefits

of these acquisitions and we may increase our acquisition costs

The terms of certain of our acquisitions have included and may in the future include earnout provisions or the

issuance of indebtedness to the seller Such earnout provisions may require us to make additional payments in cash

which would reduce the amount of cash available to us or could cause us to incur additional indebtedness or cause us to

issue additional shares resulting in an increase in the number of our outstanding shares In addition these arrangements

may make it more difficult to consummate such acquisitions and can sometimes complicate integration efforts

Our international expansion and operations in foreign markets expose us to risks associated with international sales

and operations

We intend to continue to expand internationally and operate in select foreign markets Managing global

organization is difficult time consuming and expensive Our inexperience in operating our business globally increases

the risk that any future international expansion efforts that we may undertake will not be successful In addition

conducting international operations subjects us to new risks that we have not generally faced These risks include lack of

familiarity with and unexpected changes in foreign regulatory requirements longer accounts receivable payment cycles

and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable difficulties in managing and staffmg international operations

fluctuations in currency exchange rates potentially adverse tax consequences including foreign value added tax systems

and restrictions on the repatriation of earnings the burdens of complying with wide variety of foreign laws and legal

standards increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities and political social and economic

instability abroad Operating in international markets also requires significant management attention and financial

resources The investment and additional resources required to establish operations and manage growth in other countries

may not produce desired levels of revenue or profitability

We are sensitive to regional weather conditions that may adversely affect our operations

Our operations are directly affected in the short-term by the weather conditions in certain of our regions of

operation Therefore our business is sensitive to the weather conditions of these regions Unusually inclement weather

including significant rain snow sleet freezing rain or ice can temporarily affect our operations if clients are forced to

close operational centers and physicians and claimants are unable to travel to their appointments Accordingly our

operating results may vary from quarter to quarter depending on the impact of these weather conditions
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We may need additional capital to fund our operations and finance our growth and we may not be able to secure

such capital on terms acceptable to us or at alL

In order for us to grow and successfully execute our business plan we may require additional financing which

may not be available or may not be available on acceptable terms If such financing is available it may dilute the

existing stockholders ownership interests in the Company Failure to obtain financing may have material adverse

effect on our financial position and may cause you to lose your entire investment in the Company In addition if we are

unable to secure additional financing on acceptable terms or at all it will impact our ability to consummate acquisitions

Our industry is regulated at the federal state and local levels and government authorities may determine that we have

failed to comply with applicable laws and regulations

As company involved in the provision of IME peer review bill review and related services we are subject to

certain federal state and local laws and regulations There are significant costs involved in complying with these laws

and regulations Moreover if we are found to have violated any applicable laws and regulations we could be subject to

civil and/or criminal damages fines sanctions or penalties and have our licenses revoked If our arrangements or

business practices become subject to government scrutiny or are found to violate laws or regulations we could incur

significant costs and may be required to modif certain aspects of our operations Government audits investigations and

prosecutions even if we ultimately are found to be without fault can be costly and disruptive to our business and could

result in the loss of clients Any of these actions could have material adverse effect on our business fmancial condition

and results of operations

Unintended consequences of recently adopted health reform legislation in the U.S may adversely affect our business

The healthcare industry is undergoing fundamental changes resulting from political economic and regulatory

influences In the U.S comprehensive programs are under consideration and being implemented that seek to among

other things increase access to healthcare for the uninsured and control the escalation of healthcare expenditures within

the economy For example on March 23 2010 PPACA was approved by Congress and has been signed into law While

we do not believe this legislation will have direct negative impact on our business the legislation has only recently

been enacted and requires the adoption of implementing regulations which may have unintended consequences or

indirectly impact our business Also in some instances our clients are health insurers that will be subject to limitations

on their administrative expenses and new federal review of unreasonable rate increases which could impact the prices

they are willing to pay for our services If the legislation or related regulations cause such unintended
consequences or

indirect impact it could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition and results of operations

Changes in government regulations could increase our costs of operations and/or reduce the demand for our services

which would negatively impact our growth and profitability

Federal and state legislatures may review and consider legislation that may impact our business and our

industry Secondly state and local administrative regulatory bodies may enact new regulations or interpret existing rules

and regulations in way that impacts our business and industry If new laws rules or regulations are implemented or

changes are made to existing laws or regulations impacting the IME industry we may be required to incur additional

costs or make changes to our services which could have material adverse impact on our financial condition and results

of operations

In addition the confidentiality and security of patient records and the circumstances under which such

information may be used or released are subject to substantial regulation by state and federal laws and regulations The

administrative simplification provisions of HIPAA and other regulations governing privacy security and electronic

health data transmissions are evolving rapidly through regulation and are often unclear and difficult to apply If we

violate HIPAA or other applicable state federal or local laws or regulations we could be subject to fmes and penalties

Further final or new regulations may require costly system purchases or additional modifications to our policies and

procedures which could have material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations

Changes in laws at either the national state or local level making it more difficult to bring certain kinds of cases or

that limit jury awards commonly referred to as tort reform could decrease the demand for our services

Changes in laws at either the national or state level making it more difficult to bring certain kinds of cases or

that limit jury awards commonly referred to as tort reform could lead to smaller number of insurance or other claims
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which in turn could result in decrease in demand for IMEs and other services we provide Such decrease in demand

for our services could have material adverse impact on our fmancial condition and results of operations

We may not be able to maintain or expand our accreditation which may adversely affect our ability to market our

services

Certain of our subsidiaries and divisions are accredited by third-party accreditation bodies However we may

not be able to maintain or expand our accreditation which may adversely impact our ability to competitively market our

services The costs of initial accreditation and maintenance of accreditation may exceed our expectations and the

benefits of accreditation may be outweighed by the related costs

If we cannot update and maintain our information technology platform so that we can meet critical client

requirements the competitiveness of our business will suffer

Our information technology platform is critical to our competitive position and success If we are unable for

technological or other reasons to develop and introduce new software solutions or enhance our existing ones in cost-

effective and timely manner and to respond to changing market conditions or client requirements our business results of

operations and financial conditions may be adversely affected

We rely on combination of internal development and strategic relationships to develop our infrastructure

platform and software solutions Through our acquisition of IME Software Solutions in July 2009 we acquired

platform software solution for the IME industry and are in the process of deploying this technology throughout our entire

organization Our information technology platform is built in PVCCN Our development and implementation of new

generation software solutions and an information technology infrastructure may take longer than originally expected and

require the acquisition of additional personnel and other resources which may adversely affect our business results of

operations and financial condition We devote significant resources to protecting our information and updating our

software and systems Expenses associated with these steps could increase costs Also any inability to deploy our

technology platform through our entire organization could cause us to operate different platforms slow integration

efforts and increase costs

Failures of interruptions of or breach in security relating to our information systems could adversely affect us

Any system failure that causes an interruption in service or availability of our information technology

infrastructure could adversely affect our operations Even though we have implemented network security measures our

servers may be vulnerable to computer viruses cyber-attacks break-ins and similar disruptions from unauthorized

tampering In addition certain of our services are based upon the collection distribution and protection of sensitive

private data Unauthorized users might access that data and human error or technological failures might cause the

wrongful dissemination of that data The occurrence of any of the events described above could result in interruptions

delays the loss or corruption of data cessations in the availability of systems or liability under privacy laws or contracts

each of which could have material adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations

Our intellectual property rights are valuable and we are unable to protect them or are subject to intellectual

property rights claims our business may be harmed

Our intellectual property rights include certain trademarks copyrights and trade secrets which are important

assets for our business Although we take precautions to protect our intellectual property rights these efforts may not be

sufficient or effective In addition various events outside of our control pose threat to our intellectual property rights as

well as to our business For example we may be subject to third-party intellectual property rights claims Regardless of

the merits of the claims any intellectual property
claims could be time-consuming and expensive to litigate or settle In

addition if any claims against us are successful we may have to pay substantial monetary damages or discontinue any of

our practices that are found to be in violation of another partys rights We may also have to seek license to continue

such practices which may significantly increase our operating expenses or may not be available to us at all Any

significant impairment of our intellectual property rights could harm our business or our ability to compete

Our operations and reputation may be harmed we do not adequately secure information

Federal and state laws regulate the disclosure of certain medical test results and other nonpublic medical-related

personal information If we do not adequately safeguard such information and it were to become available to persons or

entities that should not have access to it our business could be impaired our reputation could suffer and we could be
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subject to fines penalties and litigation In addition any incidents with respect to the handling of such information could

involve us in litigation or indemnification claims with members of our medical panel our clients or other parties

Although we have implemented security measures to protect confidential information our infrastructure is vulnerable to

computer viruses break-ins and similar disruptive problems caused by our clients or others which could potentially

jeopardize the security of confidential information stored physically at our locations or electronically in our computer

systems Such an event could damage our reputation cause us to lose existing clients and deter potential clients as well

as expose us to liability to parties whose security or privacy has been infringed Moreover if we do not protect the

confidentiality of private information in accordance with applicable laws we could face significant civil or criminal

sanctions The occurrence of any of the foregoing events could adversely impact our business

Competition in the IME industry could result in reduction in our revenues and earnings and adversely affect our

financial condition

The IME industry is highly fragmented and competitive Our primary competitors in the IME industry include

companies and individual physicians that specialize in one or more services similar to those offered by us on local or

regional basis as well as insurance companies and other organizations which have established an in-house capability of

performing such services It is also possible that our clients may establish the in-house capability of performing certain

services offered by us or decide to continue to use any of our numerous small local or regional competitors to service

their needs We also compete with national regional and local firms specializing in case management medical records

reviews and other services we provide It is possible that now or in the future some of our competitors could have greater

financial and market resources than us Competition from existing competitors or new entrants to our key markets could

cause us to lose clients prevent price increases for our services or could require price reductions for our services which

would adversely affect our results of operations

If we are unable to attract and retain qualjfled physicians and other medical providers to perform IME services on

our behalf our financial condition may suffer

Our performance and future success depends on the talents and efforts of the physicians and other medical

providers on our medical panel who perform the IME services on our behalf and on our ability to maintain good relations

with those physicians and other medical providers If we do not succeed in attracting qualified physicians and other

medical providers or retaining or motivating physicians or other medical providers our performance may suffer and we

may be unable to grow our business effectively Further we may be required to enhance compensation in order to recruit

and retain physicians and other medical providers As result our medical panel costs could increase and we may not be

able to raise rates to offset these increased costs which could have material adverse effect on our results of operations

Our clients may terminate their relationships with us or reduce the fees they pay us which may have negative

impact on our business

Our operations depend upon our relationships with our clients Our clients are primarily insurance companies

law firms TPAs government agencies and state funds We do not have formal written agreements with many of our

clients and to the extent we do such agreements do not generally restrict our clients from terminating or deciding not to

renew our contracts If clients attempt to introduce unfavorable terms or limit the services and products we provide them

our revenues could be negatively impacted In addition the termination of business by any of our clients could have

material adverse effect on our operations There is no guarantee that we will be able to grow or retain our existing

clients particularly after acquisitions or develop relationships with new clients

We may be subject to possible litigation and legal liability which could adversely affect our business or results of

operations

Through the medical certifications of our medical panel we make recommendations concerning the

appropriateness of providers medical treatment plans of patients throughout the U.S Canada and the United Kingdom

and could share in potential liabilities for adverse medical consequences if the medical provider negligently provides its

services or we and/or the medical provider are alleged to have inappropriately failed to certify condition requiring care

or treatment plans We do not grant or deny claims for payment of benefits and we do not believe that we engage in the

practice of medicine or the delivery of medical services However we may become subject to claims or litigation related

to the grant or denial of claims for payment of benefits or allegations that we engage in the practice of medicine or the

delivery of medical services We credential our medical panel in variety of ways including utilizing reputable

contractor in many cases If such credentialing is not carried out appropriately or if we do not re-credential at appropriate

intervals to identify changes in licensure or other status we may become subject to claims or litigation Our clients might
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also allege that we negligently failed to detect provider fraud Further in performing our services we or the medical

provider may provide services that rely on the interpretation of reports or data prepared or gathered by third parties If

such information is not properly prepared or gathered or is not accurate or complete we may become subject to claims

or litigation In addition we may become subject to other litigation that may adversely affect our business or results of

operations We maintain professional liability and other insurance as we believe are reasonable in light of our experience

to date However such insurance may not be sufficient or available in the future at reasonable cost to protect us from

liability which might adversely affect our business or results of operations

If we lose our key management personnel or we are unable to attract hire integrate and retain key personnel and
other necessary employees our business would be harmed

We are dependent on our executive officers and other key personnel and those of the acquired companies the

loss of one or more of whom could materially and adversely affect us Some of these personnel are new to the industry

and some have been part of target companies for many years but may not have experience managing larger company

and integrating the separate operations of newly acquired entities Currently we do not have employment agreements

with any of our executive officers Our success will depend in large part on our ability to attract and retain talented and

qualified employees as well as our executive officers We may not be able to retain our executive officers and key

employees or attract assimilate and retain other qualified personnel in the future

The terms of our indebtedness could restrict our operations particularly our ability to respond to changes in our

business or to take spec jf
led actions

Our existing credit facility and the indenture governing our senior unsecured notes the Indenture contain

and any future indebtedness would likely contain number of restrictive covenants that impose significant operating and

financial restrictions on us including restrictions on our ability to take actions that may be in our best interests

The credit facility and the Indenture include covenants including requirements that

restrict our ability to pay dividends on repurchase or make distributions in respect of our capital stock

or make other restricted payments

limit our ability to make certain investments or sell or transfer assets

limit our ability to incur additional debt

restrict our ability to create certain liens and

restrict our ability to consolidate merge sell or otherwise dispose of our properties or assets

The credit facility and the Indenture also include covenants which may require that we obtain consent from our

lenders or noteholders with respect to acquisitions Further the credit facility requires that we grant security interests in

newly-acquired companies and that we do not impair our lenders security interest in our assets

breach of any of these covenants could result in default under the credit facility and/or the Indenture Upon
the occurrence of an event of default our lenders or noteholders could elect to declare all amounts outstanding to be

immediately due and payable and our lenders could terminate all commitments to extend further credit In addition if we

were unable to repay those amounts the lenders under the credit facility could proceed against the collateral granted to

them to secure such indebtedness We have pledged all of our assets and personal property as collateral under the credit

facility If any of the lenders accelerate the repayment of borrowings we may not have sufficient funds to repay our

existing debt

Our ability to comply with these provisions may be affected by general economic conditions industry

conditions and other events beyond our control As result we may not be able to comply with these covenants Our

failure to comply with the covenants contained in our credit facility or the Indenture including failure as result of

events beyond our control could result in an event of default which could materially and adversely affect our operating

results and our financial condition
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We may be able to incur substantially more debt which could further exacerbate the risks we face

We and our subsidiaries have the ability to incur additional indebtedness in the future subject to the restrictions

contained in our credit facility and the Indenture If we amend the credit facility and/or the Indenture to increase the level

of our indebtedness or if we enter into new facilities to incur more debt we may be faced with additional risks and

restrictions on our operations including the following

an increase in our vulnerability to downturns or adverse changes in general economic industry or

competitive conditions and adverse changes in government regulations

requirement to dedicate substantial portion of cash flow from operations to the payment of principal

and interest on our indebtedness therefore reducing our ability to use our cash flow to fund our

operations capital expenditures and future business opportunities

limit on our ability to make strategic acquisitions

limit on our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital capital expenditures debt

service requirements and general corporate or other purposes and

limit on our ability to adjust to changing market conditions and placing us at competitive

disadvantage compared to our competitors who are less highly leveraged

The market price of our common stock may be volatile which could cause the value of our common stock to decline

The market price of our common stock may be volatile due to number of factors including without limitation

those listed in Risk Factors and the following some of which are beyond our control

quarterly variations in our results of operations

results of operations that vary from the expectations of securities analysts and investors

the failure of securities analysts to publish research about us or to make changes in their financial

estimates

results of operations that vary from those of our competitors

changes in expectations as to our future financial performance including financial estimates by

securities analysts and investors

announcements by us our competitors or our vendors of significant contracts acquisitions joint

marketing relationships joint ventures or capital commitments

announcements by third parties or governmental entities of significant claims or proceedings against

us
new laws and governmental regulations applicable to the IME industry

default under agreements covering our existing or future indebtedness

future sales of our common stock by us directors executives and significant stockholders and

changes in economic and political conditions

Furthermore the stock market has recently experienced extreme volatility that has particularly affected the

market price of the stock of many early-stage companies and that in some cases has been unrelated or disproportionate

to the operating performance of these companies These broad market and industry fluctuations may adversely affect the

market price of our common stock regardless of our actual operating performance Further securities class action suits

have been filed against companies following periods of market volatility in the price of their securities If such an action

is instituted against us we may incur substantial costs and diversion of management attention and resources which

would seriously harm our business fmancial condition and results of operations regardless of the outcome of such

litigation

The requirements of being public reporting company including compliance with the reporting requirements of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and adoption of corporate

governance practices that are customary for public companies may strain our resources increase our costs and

distract management and we may be unable to comply with these requirements in timely or cost-effective manner

We have recently become public company As public company we are subject to the reporting requirements

of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act and requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002 the Sarbanes-Oxley Act These requirements may place strain on our systems and resources The Exchange

Act requires that we file annual quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and fmancial condition The

Sarbanes-Oxley Act as well as rules subsequently implemented by the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange have

imposed various requirements on public companies including corporate governance requirements The cost of preparing
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and filing annual and quarterly reports proxy statements and other information with the SEC and furnishing audited

reports to stockholders cause our expenses to be higher than they would be if we had remained privately-held company

Our management and other personnel need to devote substantial amount of time to comply with these rules and

regulations

In addition the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and

internal control over financial reporting To maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and

procedures significant resources and management oversight are required We are implementing additional procedures

and processes
for the purpose of addressing the standards and requirements applicable to public companies We have and

continue to incur significant additional annual expenses related to these activities and among other things additional

directors and officers liability insurance director fees reporting requirements transfer agent fees hiring additional

accounting legal and administrative personnel increased auditing and legal fees and similarexpenses

Evolving regulation of corporate governance and public disclosure may result in additional expenses and continuing

uncertainty

Changing laws regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure including the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act new SEC regulations the DoddFrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and New

York Stock Exchange rules are creating uncertainty for public companies We continually evaluate and monitor

developments with respect to new and proposed rules and cannot predict or estimate the amount of the additional costs

we may incur or the timing of such costs These new or changed laws regulations and standards are subject to varying

interpretations in many cases due to their lack of specificity and as result their application in practice may evolve

over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies This could result in continuing uncertainty

regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices

We are committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and public disclosure If our efforts to

comply with new or changed laws regulations and standards differ from the activities intended by regulatory or

governing bodies due to ambiguities related to practice regulatory authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us

and we may be harmed

Failure to maintain effective internal controls could have material adverse effect on our business and stock price

As public company we have significant requirements for financial reporting and internal controls The

process
of maintaining and implementing effective internal controls is continuous effort that requires us to anticipate

and react to changes in our business and the economic and regulatory environments and to expend significant resources

to maintain system of internal controls that is adequate to satisfy our reporting obligations as public company If we

are unable to maintain appropriate internal fmancial reporting controls and procedures it could cause us to fail to meet

our reporting obligations on timely basis result in material misstatements in our fmancial statements and harm our

operating results In addition we are required pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act to furnish report by

management on among other things the effectiveness of our internal control over fmancial reporting every fiscal year

Each assessment includes disclosure of any material weaknesses identified by our management in our internal control

over financial reporting as well as statement that our auditors have issued an attestation report on effectiveness of our

internal controls Testing and maintaining internal controls may divert our managements attention from other matters

that are important to our business We may not be able to conclude in the future that we have effective internal control

over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act or our independent registered public

accounting firm may not issue an unqualified report If either we are unable to conclude in the future that we have

effective internal control over financial reporting or our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to

provide us with an unqualified report investors could lose confidence in our reported fmancial information which could

have negative effect on the trading price of our stock

Future sales of shares by existing stockholders or the possibility or perception of such future sales could cause our

stock price to decline

Sales of substantial number of shares of common stock in the public market or the perception that these sales

could occur could substantially decrease the market price of our common stock If our existing stockholders sell or

indicate an intention to sell substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market after the contractual lock-up

agreements described below expire and other restrictions on resale lapse the trading price of our common stock could

decline Substantially all of the shares of our common stock are eligible for sale in the public market
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The exercise of options or other equity awards or the issuance and/or payout of additional equity will result in

dilution to our stockholders

Under the Companys Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan as amended the Company granted

and in the future intends to grant awards of stock options to purchase common stock and other awards to our officers

directors employees and consultants As of February 15 2012 approximately 9351000 shares of our conmion stock

were subject to issuance upon exercise of outstanding stock options and approximately 9000 shares were subject to

vesting and payout under outstanding restricted stock units Also as of February 15 2012 approximately 415000 shares

of our common stock were subject to issuance upon exercise of outstanding warrants

Our stockholders ownership interest will be diluted by the exercise of any of these outstanding stock options

restricted stock units or warrants

We will in the future grant stock options and other awards to certain current or future officers directors

employees and consultants of the Company under additional plans or individual agreements The grant and exercise of

these awards as applicable will have the effect of diluting our stockholders ownership interests in the Company

Further we may need to raise additional funds in the future to finance our operations and/or acquire

complementary businesses If we obtain capital in future offerings the value of the price per share of our stockholders

common stock could be reduced In addition if we issue additional equity securities in future offering and certain

stockholders do not participate in such offering there will effectively be dilution in their percentage ownership interest in

the Company

We may also issue additional equity securities in connection with other types of transactions including shares

issued as part of the purchase price for acquisitions of assets or other companies from time to time in connection with

strategic partnerships or joint ventures or as incentives to management or other providers of resources to the Company

Such additional issuances are likely to have the same dilutive effect

We do not currently intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future and our credit

facility and indenture restrict our ability to pay such cash dividends

To date the Company has not paid any dividends on its capital stock The Company does not anticipate making

any cash dividends or other distributions to the stockholders in the immediate or foreseeable future and any future

decision to make such distributions will be at the discretion of the Board of Directors of the Company referred to herein

as the Board of Directors or the Board and in any event will be dependent upon the Companys financial condition

results of operations capital requirements contractual restrictions and such other factors as the Board of Directors deems

relevant Further our existing credit facility and the Indenture restrict our ability to pay cash dividends and any future

financing agreements may also restrict our ability to pay any type of dividends As result you may not receive any

return on an investment in your shares of common stock unless you sell such shares for price greater than that which

you paid In addition to the extent we do not pay dividends our common stock may be less valuable because return on

investment will only occur if and to the extent our stock price appreciates

Your ability to influence corporate matters may be limited because small number of stockholders beneficially own

substantial amount of our common stock and have substantial control over us

As of February 15 2012 our officers directors and principal stockholders greater than 5% stockholders

collectively beneficially own approximately 36% of our common stock As result these stockholders may be able to

exert significant influence over all matters requiring stockholder approval including the election of directors and

approval of significant corporate transactions such as merger or other sale of our Company or its assets and may have

interests that are different from yours and may vote in way with which you disagree and which may be adverse to your

interests In addition this concentration of ownership may have the effect of preventing discouraging or deferring

change of control which could depress the market price of our common stock

Transactions engaged in by our principal stockholders our officers or directors involving our common stock may
have an adverse effect on the price of our stock

As described above as of February 15 2012 our officers directors and principal stockholders greater than 5%

stockholders collectively control approximately 36% of our common stock Subsequent sales of our shares by these

stockholders could have the effect of lowering our stock price The perceived risk associated with the possible sale of
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large number of shares by these stockholders or the adoption of significant short positions by hedge funds or other

significant investors could cause some of our stockholders to sell their stock thus causing the price of our stock to

decline In addition actual or anticipated downward
pressure on our stock price due to actual or anticipated sales of stock

by our directors or officers could cause other institutions or individuals to engage in short sales of our common stock

which may further cause the price of our stock to decline

From time to time our directors and executive officers may sell shares of our common stock on the open market

These sales will be publicly disclosed in filings made with the SEC In the future our directors and executive officers

may sell significant number of shares for variety of reasons unrelated to the performance of our business Our

stockholders may perceive these sales as reflection on managements view of the business and result in some

stockholders selling their shares of our common stock These sales could cause the price of our stock to drop

Certain provisions of our corporate governing documents and Delaware law could make an acquisition of our

company more djfflcult

Provisions contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and Delaware law impose various

procedural and other requirements which could make it more difficult for third party to acquire us or for stockholders

to effect certain corporate actions For example our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes our

Board of Directors to determine the rights preferences privileges and restrictions of unissued series of preferred stock

without any vote or action by our stockholders Therefore the Board of Directors can authorize and issue shares of

preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that could adversely affect the voting or other rights of holders of our

common stock In addition our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws

provide for staggered or classified board of directors consisting of three classes of directors each serving staggered

three-year terms These rights may have the effect of delaying or deterring change of control of our Company These

provisions could limit the price that certain investors may be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

We lease our corporate headquarters at 3280 Peachtree Road N.E Suite 2625 Atlanta GA 30305

approximately 9600 square feet We also lease office space for our corporate office in New York New York

approximately 4200 square feet as well as for 44 of our 45 service centers in the U.S Canada and the United

Kingdom under lease agreements The lease for our corporate headquarters in Atlanta Georgia expires on April 30
2015 The lease for our corporate office in New York expires on June 30 2014 We expect to be able to renew each of

our leases or to lease comparable facilities on terms commercially acceptable to us at each of our leased locations

throughout the U.S Canada and the United Kingdom In addition we own an office facility located in Warren

Michigan which houses certain of the operations of our subsidiary MES Group

We believe that our current facilities are sufficient for our current needs We intend to add new facilities or

expand existing facilities as we add employees or expand our geographic markets and we believe that suitable additional

or substitute space will be available as needed to accommodate any such expansion of our operations

Item Legal Proceedings

We are currently party to various legal proceedings arising from the normal course of business activities

While we do not presently believe that the ultimate outcome of such proceedings will have material adverse effect on

our business operating results or financial condition litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties If an unfavorable

ruling were to occur it is possible that such ruling could have material adverse impact on our business operating

results or financial condition in the period in which the ruling occurs Our current estimates of the potential impact from

such legal proceedings could change in the future

Item Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity

Securities

Market Information for Common Stock

On October 28 2010 our common stock commenced trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the

symbol EXAM The table below sets forth the high and low sales prices for our common stock for the periods indicated

Stockholders

The number of record holders of our common stock as of February 15 2012 was 92 excluding individual

participants in nominee security position listings

Dividend Policy

Since our incorporation in 2007 we have not declared or paid any dividends on our common stock We

currently intend to retain all of our future earnings if any to finance the growth and development of our business and do

not anticipate paying cash dividends for the foreseeable future Our existing credit facility and the Indenture restrict our

ability to pay cash dividends and any future financing agreements may also restrict our ability to pay any type of

dividends

Unregistered sales of equity securities sold during 2011

Acquisitions

During 2011 pursuant to the exemption from registration provided in Section 42 of the Securities Act
common stock was issued as portion of the purchase price in connection with the acquisitions set forth below The per

share price set forth below represents the closing price of our common stock on the date of issuance No underwriters

were involved in these sales of securities nor were any commissions paid as part of these sales

Name

National IME Centres Inc

MES Group Inc

Premex Group

North York Rehabilitation Centre Inc

Matrix Health Management Inc

Acquisition Date

February 18 2011

February 28 2011

May 10 2011

October 2011

October 24 2011

Number of Shares

11927

1424501

661610

153979

49020

Price Per Share

21.33

21.07

22.85

8.42

10.03

2010

Quarter

First

Second

Third

Fourth

High

N/A

N/A

N/A

19.79

2011

High LowLow

N/A

N/AS
N/A$

15.10

17.5024.71

26.19

26.48

11.77

21.11

9.80

6.40
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Share Issuances

On August 12 2011 the Company issued 57758 shares of common stock in settlement of an earnout obligation

in connection with the Companys acquisition of an IME company completed in 2009

The Company also issued shares of common stock upon the exercise of outstanding warrants at an exercise

price of $6.63 per share on the following dates

Date Number of Shares

May 26 2011 1748

June 2011 3302

June62011 2181
June 30 2011 4405

Julyl32011 8886

With respect to each issuance the Company claims exemption from registration of the shares under Section

42 of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended as sale not involving public offering

Repurchases of Securities

In August 2011 the Companys Board approved stock repurchase program authorizing the repurchase of up to

$20.0 million of its common stock During the quarter ended December 31 2011 the Company repurchased 691954
shares of common stock under the share repurchase program as set forth in the following table These shares were

repurchased at an average cost of $8.49 per share for total cost of approximately $5.9 million There is no guarantee as

to the exact number of shares if any that may be repurchased by the Company and the Board of Directors may suspend

or discontinue the repurchase program at any time

Total

Number of Approximate

Shares Dollar

Purchased Value of

as Part of Shares that

Publicly May Yet Be

Total Announced Purchased

Number Average Plans Under the

Of Shares Price Paid or Plans

Period Purchased Per Share Programs or Programs

October October31 406790 9.27 406790 12681380
November 1-November30 285164 7.37 285164 10578694
December December31 10578694

Total 691954 8.49 691954 10578694
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Equity Compensation

The following table provides information as of December 31 2011 with respect to the shares of our common

stock that may be issued under our existing equity compensation plan

Number of

securities Weighted

to be issued average

upon exercise

exercise of price of

outstanding outstanding

options options

warrants warrants

and rights and rights

7382530 12.46

Number of

securities

remaining

available

for

future

issuance2

7231750

Includes our Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan as amended

Number of securities available for future issuance represents securities available under the Amended and Restated

2008 Stock Incentive Plan as amended

Performance Graph

The following performance graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return on an investment of $100 in

our common stock from the time of our initial public offering until December 31 2011 with the total return of the

Russell 3000 Index on which we are listed and the SP 600 Health Care Index

UEXAM Russell 3000 Index SP 600 Heslthcsre Index

$100 invested on October 28 2010 in stock or index including reinvestment of dividends

Plan Category

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders

Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders

Total 7382530 12.46 7231750

$17500

Comparhon of Cumulative Total Return5

$165.00

$155.00

$145.00

$135.00

$125.00

$115.00

$105.00

$95.00

$85.00

$75.00

$65.00

$55.00

$45.00
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10/28/2010 12/31/2010 3/31/2011 6/30/2011 9/30/2011 12/31/2011

Exam WorksGroupInc 100.00 115.50 138.94 158.69 63.63 59.25

Russell3000Index 100.00 107.06 113.40 112.85 95.13 106.08

SP 600 Healthcare Index 100.00 110.55 124.85 131.95 109.04 125.45

The stock performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock performance

Item Selected Financial Data

The following tables set forth for the periods and as of the dates indicated our predecessor and successor

summary consolidated fmancial data For financial statement presentation purposes CFO Medical Services P.A

CFO has been identified as the predecessor The summary predecessor Statement of Operations data for the year

ended December 31 2007 and for the period from January 2008 to July 13 2008 are derived from previously audited

financial statements not included in this report The summary predecessor balance sheet data as of December 31 2007 is

derived from previously audited fmancial statements not included in this report ExamWorks is the successor company

having been founded on April 27 2007 for the purpose of acquiring companies in the IME industry The successor

summary consolidated statement of operations data for the period from April 27 2007 inception to December 31 2007

and for the year ended December 31 2008 is derived from previously audited financial statements not included in this

report The successor summary consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 is derived

from previously audited fmancial statements not included in this report The successor summary consolidated statement

of operations data for the years in the three-year period ended December 31 2011 and the successor summary

consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31 2010 and 2011 are derived from our audited consolidated fmancial

statements Historical results are not indicative of the results to be expected in the future
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You should read the following selected consolidated financial data below in conjunction with Managements

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the consolidated fmancial statements

related notes and other financial information included in this Form 10-K The significant changes in balances impacting

comparability are the result of business combinations See further discussion in Note to the Consolidated Financial

Statements

Predecessor Successor

For the

For the period For the

year ended ended years ended

December 31 July 13 December 31

2007 20081 20072 2008 2009 2010 2011

Consolidated

Statement of

Operations Data3

Revenues 9783 6072 14694 49634 163511 397860

Costs and expenses

Costs of revenues 5873 3757 9828 32026 103606 262242

Selling general

and

administrative

expenses 3772 2304 226 4610 15811 37689 84133

Depreciation and

amortization 57 33 2392 6889 19505 47439

Total costs and

expenses 9702 6094 226 16830 54726 160800 393814

Income loss from

operations 81 22 226 2136 5092 2711 4046

Interest and other

expenses net 13 11
_____________

1470 1925 11233 16461

Income loss before

income taxes 68 33 226 3606 7017 8522 12415
Provision benefit for

income taxes 1434 2613 2484 4082
Net income loss 64 36 226 2172 4404 6038 8333

Net income loss per

share attributable to

common

stockholders

basic and diluted 54.01 30.38 0.73 0.44 0.42 0.33 0.25

Weighted average

shares outstanding

common stock 1185 1185 308466 4895962 10479155 18500859 33975658

Other Financial Data

Adjusted EBITDA4 138 11 36 1076 6496 30321 63304
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Predecessor Successor

As of

December

31 As of December 31
2007 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

In thousands

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents 191 416 1203 1499 33624 8416

Current assets 1625 416 4735 11497 74580 159797
Total assets 1883 689 38898 76547 249062 627039

Current portion of long-term debt 1534 3263

Current portion of subordinated

unsecured notes payable 1565 2312 1932

Current liabilities 648 434 5700 20871 37580 90113

Senior unsecured notes 250000

Revolving line of credit and working

capital facilities 500 1500 600 4998 44063

Long-term debt less current portion 49 10205 29371

Long-term subordinated unsecured

notes payable less current portion 3552 2546 717

Total liabilities 1197 434 18375 56147 48822 389115

Total stockholders equity 686 255 20523 20400 200240 237924

Includes the period from January 2008 to July 13 2008 for the predecessor company
Includes the period from April 27 2007 inception to December 31 2007 for the successor company
The significant changes in balances impacting comparability are the result of business combinations See

further discussion in Note of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Adjusted EBITDA is non-GAAP measure that is described and reconciled to net loss below and is not

substitute for the GAAP equivalent We defme Adjusted EBITDA as earnings before interest taxes depreciation

amortization acquisition related transaction costs stock based compensation expenses and other non-recurring costs

We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is an important measure of our operating performance because it allows management

lenders investors and analysts to evaluate and assess our core operating results from period to period after removing the

impact of changes to our capitalization structure acquisition related costs income tax status and other items of non-

operational nature that affect comparability The following table presents reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net

loss the most comparable GAAP measure for each of the periods indicated See also Management Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of OperationsResults of OperationsA dj usted EBITDA
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Predecessor Successor

For the For the

year ended period ended For the

December July years ended

31 13 December31

2007 2008i 2007u 2008 2009 2010 2011

In thousands

Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA
Net income loss 64 36 226 2172 4404 6038 8333
Share-based

compensation

expense iii 101 218 1816 7834

Depreciation and

amortization

expense 57 33 2392 6889 19505 47439

Acquisition-related

transaction costs 719 2109 6101 3107

Monitoring feeiv 1738

Other non-recurring

costsv 190 634 188 878

Interest and other

expenses net 13 11 1470 1925 11233 16461

Provision benefit for

income taxes 1434 2613 2484 4082
Adjusted EBITDA 138 11 36 1076 6496 30321 63304

Includes the period from January 2008 to July 13 2008 for the predecessor company

ii Includes the period from April 27 2007 inception to December 31 2007 for the successor company

iii Share-based compensation expense of $2.0 million is included in costs of revenues for the year ended

December 31 2011 and the remainder is included in SGA expenses For years prior to 2011 all share-based

compensation expense is included in SGA expenses

iv See Certain Relationships and Related TransactionsMonitoring Fee Agreement for description of the

monitoring fee

Other non-recurring costs consist of start-up costs incurred in 2007 severance and facility termination costs in

2009 severance and relocation costs in 2010 and severance relocation and facility termination costs in 2011

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read

together with Selected Consolidated Financial Data and our consolidated financial statements and the related notes

and the other financial information appearing elsewhere in this
report This discussion contains forward-looking

statements that involve risks and uncertainties such as statements of our plans objectives expectations and intentions

Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as result of various

factors including those discussed below and elsewhere in this report particularly under Risk Factors and Forward-

Looking Statements Ii forward-looking statements in this document are based on information available to us as of the

date hereof and we assume no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements

Our Business

We are leading provider of IMEs peer and bill reviews and related services which include legal support

services administrative support services and medical record retrieval services We were incorporated as Delaware

corporation on April 27 2007 From July 14 2008 through the date of this filing we have acquired 37 IME businesses

including leading provider of software solutions to the IME industry We currently operate out of 45 service centers

servicing all 50 U.S states Canada and the United Kingdom

We provide our services to property and casualty insurance carriers law firms third-party claim administrators

government agencies and state funds that use independent services to confirm the veracity of claims by sick or injured

individuals for workers compensation automotive personal injury liability and disability insurance coverage We help

our clients manage costs and enhance their risk management processes by verifying the validity nature cause and extent

of claims identifying fraud and providing fast efficient and quality IME services
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We provide our clients with the local presence expertise and broad geographic coverage they increasingly

require Our size and geographic reach give our clients access to our medical panel of credentialed physicians and other

medical providers and our proprietary information technology infrastructure that has been specifically designed to

streamline the complex process of coordinating referrals scheduling appointments complying with regulations and

client reporting Our primary service is to provide IMEs that give our clients authoritative and accurate answers to

questions regarding the nature and permanency of medical conditions or personal injury their cause and appropriate

treatment Additionally we provide peer and bill reviews which consist of medical opinions by members of our medical

panel without conducting physical exams and the review of physician and hospital bills to examine medical care

rendered and its conformity to accepted standards of care Prior to the MES acquisition in February 2011 we marketed

our services primarily under the ExamWorks brand Initially with the MES acquisition and subsequently with the

Premex acquisition we began to market our services under several brands including but not limited to ExamWorks
MES and Premex

We operate in highly fragmented industry and have completed numerous acquisitions key component of

our business strategy is growth through acquisitions that expand our geographic coverage provide new or

complementary lines of business expand our portfolio of services and increase our market share Another central feature

of our business strategy is to grow our business organically by selling additional services to existing clients cross-selling

into additional insurance lines of business and expanding our geographic footprint with existing clients To date we have

completed the following 37 acquisitions

Acquisition Date

October 27 2011

October 24 2011

October 32011

September 28 2011

May 10 2011

February 28 2011

February 18 2011

December 20 2010

October 2010

September 2010

September 2010

August 2010

June 30 2010

March 26 2010

March 15 2010

December 31 2009

August 14 2009

August 2009

July 2009

May 21 2009

April 17 2009

July 14 2008

Name

Bronshvag
Matrix Health Management

Capital Vocational Specialists

North York Rehabilitation Centre

MLS Group of Companies

Medicolegal Services

Premex Group

MES Group

National IME Centres

Royal Medical Consultants

BMEGateway
UK Independent Medical Services

Health Cost Management

Verity Medical

Exigere

SOMA Medical Assessments

Direct IME

Network Medical Review

Independent Medical Services

401 Diagnostics

Metro Medical Services

American Medical Bill Review

Medical Evaluations

Abeton

Medical Assurance Group

MedNet I.M.S

QualMed
IME Operations of Physicians Practice

The Evaluation Group

Benchmark Medical Consultants

IME Software Solutions

Florida Medical Specialists

Marquis Medical Administrators

Ricwel

CFO Medical Services

Crossland Medical Review Services

Southwest Medical
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Sources of Revenues and Expenses

Revenues

We derive revenue primarily from fees charged for independent medical examinations peer and bill reviews

and other related services which include litigation support services administrative support services and medical

record retrieval services Revenues are recognized at the time services have been performed and if applicable at the

time the report is shipped to the end user We expect revenue to continue to increase through acquisition and organic

growth Our revenue is derived from services performed in different geographic areas

Certain agreements with customers in the U.K include provisions whereby collection of the amounts billed

are contingent on the favorable outcome of the claim We have deemed these provisions to preclude revenue

recognition at the time of sale as collectability is not reasonably assured and the sales are contingent and are deferring

these revenues net of estimated costs until the case has been settled and the contingency has been resolved

Costs of revenues

Costs of revenues are comprised of fees paid to members of our medical panel other direct costs including

transcription film and medical record obtainment and transportation and other indirect costs including labor and

overhead related to the generation of revenue We expect these operationally driven costs to increase to support future

revenue growth and as we continue to grow through acquisitions

Selling general and administrative expenses

Selling general and administrative SGA expenses consist primarily of expenses for administrative

human resource related corporate information technology support legal primarily from transaction costs related to

acquisitions finance and accounting personnel professional fees primarily from transaction costs related to

acquisitions insurance and other corporate expenses We expect that SGA expenses
will increase as we continue to

add personnel to support the growth of our business and pursue acquisition growth In addition we anticipate that we

will incur additional personnel expenses professional service fees including audit and legal investor relations costs

of compliance with securities laws and regulations and higher director and officer insurance costs related to operating

as public company As result we expect that our SGA expenses will continue to increase in the future but decrease

as percentage of revenue over time as our revenue increases

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization DA expense consists primarily of amortization of our finite lived

intangible assets obtained through acquisitions completed to date and to lesser extent depreciation of equipment and

leasehold improvements We expect that depreciation and amortization expense will increase as we continue our

acquisition strategy
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our Consolidated Statements of Operations data for each of the periods indicated in

thousands

For the years ended December 31
2009 2010 2011

Revenues

Costs and expenses

Costs of revenues

Selling general and administrative expenses

Depreciation and amortization

Total costs and expenses

Income loss from operations

Interest and other expenses net

Loss before income tax benefit

Benefit for income taxes

Net loss

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders basic and diluted

Weighted average
shares outstanding common stock basic and diluted

Other Financial Data

Adjusted EBITDA

49634 163511 397860

32026 103606 262242

15811 37689 84133

6889 19505 47439

54726 160800 393814

5092 2711 4046

1925 11233 16461

7017 8522 12415
2613 2484 4082
4404$ 6038$ 8333

0.42$ 0.33$ 0.25

10479155 18500859 33975658

6496 30321 63304

Adjusted EBITDA is non-GAAP measure that is described and reconciled to net loss in the next section and is

not substitute for the GAAP equivalent

Adjusted EBITDA

In connection with the ongoing operation of our business our management regularly reviews Adjusted

EBITDA non-GAAP financial measure to assess our performance We define Adjusted EBITDA as earnings before

interest taxes depreciation amortization acquisition-related transaction costs share-based compensation expenses and

other non-recurring costs We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is an important measure of our operating performance

because it allows management lenders investors and analysts to evaluate and assess our core operating results from

period to period after removing the impact of changes to our capitalization structure acquisition related costs income tax

status and other items of non-operational nature that affect comparability

We believe that various forms of the Adjusted EBITDA metric are often used by analysts investors and other

interested parties to evaluate companies such as ours for the reasons discussed above Additionally Adjusted EBITDA is

used to measure certain financial covenants in our credit facility Adjusted EBITDA is also used for planning purposes

and in presentations to our Board of Directors as well as in our incentive compensation programs for our employees

excluding our senior management

Non-GAAP information should not be construed as an alternative to GAAP information as the items excluded

from the non-GAAP measures often have material impact on our fmancial results Management uses and investors

should use non-GAAP measures in conjunction with our GAAP results
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The following table presents reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net loss the most comparable GAAP

measure for each of the periods indicated The following table also presents reconciliation of pro forma Adjusted

EBITDA to pro forma net loss for the period presented

For the years ended December 31

2009 2010 2011

Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA
Net loss 4404 6038 8333

Share-based compensation expense 218 1816 7834

Depreciation and amortization 6889 19505 47439

Acquisition-related transaction costs 2109 6101 3107

Monitoring feeii 1738

Other non-recurring costsiii 634 188 878

Interest and other expenses net 1925 11233 16461

Benefit for income taxes 2613 2484 4082
Adjusted EBITDA 6496 30321 63304

Share-based compensation expense of $2.0 million is included in costs of revenues for the year ended December

31 2011 and the remainder is included in SGA expenses For the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 all

share-based compensation expense is included in SGA expenses

ii See Certain Relationships and Related TransactionsMonitoring Fee Agreement for description of the

monitoring fee

iii Other non-recurring costs consist of severance and facility termination costs

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31 2011 and 2010

Revenues Revenues were $397.9 million for the year ended December 31 2011 compared to $163.5 million for

the
year

ended December 31 2010 an increase of $234.4 million or 143% The increase in revenues over the 2010

period was due primarily to acquisitions completed in 2010 and 2011 offset by decreased IME service volume in our

ExamWorks brand

On pro forma basis considering acquisitions through the date of this filing revenues were $483.2 million for

the year ended December 31 2011 compared to $485.7 million for the year ended December 31 2010 representing

less than 1% decrease year over year Pro forma revenues for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 assumes that

the 2010 and 2011 acquisitions were completed on January 2010

Costs of revenues Costs of revenues were $262.2 million for the year ended December 31 2011 compared to

$103.6 million for the year ended December 31 2010 an increase of $158.6 million or 153% The increase in costs of

revenues over the 2010 period was primarily due to acquisitions completed in 2010 and 2011 Costs of revenues as

percentage of revenues for the year ended December 31 2011 increased from 63% for the year ended December 31
2010 to 66% for year ended December 31 2011 The change in this percentage was primarily due to the impact of

decreased IME service volume in our ExamWorks brand and higher costs of revenues as percentage of revenues for the

MES acquisition offset in part by lower costs of revenues as percentage of revenues for the Premex acquisition

Selling general and administrative SGA expenses were $84.1 million for the year ended December 31 2011

compared to $37.7 million for the year ended December 31 2010 an increase of $46.4 million or 123% The increase in

SGA expenses over the 2010 period was primarily due to acquisitions completed in 2010 and 2011 with personnel

expenses accounting for $27.3 million of this increase and the remainder resulting primarily from increases in rent

travel phone legal insurance sales and marketing and other professional expenses offset by decrease in acquisition

related transaction costs

Depreciation and amortization DA expenses were $47.4 million for the year ended December 31 2011

compared to $19.5 million for the year ended December 31 2010 an increase of $27.9 million or 143% The increase in

DA expenses over the 2010 period was due primarily to additional amortization of finite-lived intangible and tangible

assets related to acquisitions completed during 2010 and 2011
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Interest and other
expenses net Interest and other expenses net were $16.5 million for the year ended

December 31 2011 compared to $11.2 million for the year ended December 31 2010 an increase of $5.3 million or

47% Interest and other expenses net increased primarily due to increased interest expenses related to additional

borrowings on our Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility and Senior Unsecured Notes to fund acquisitions deferred

loan cost amortization and realized loss on foreign currency offset by adjustments to an interest rate swap

Income tax benefit Income tax benefit was $4.1 million for the year ended December 31 2011 compared with

$2.5 million for the year ended December 31 2010 an increased benefit of $1.6 million or 64% Our effective income

tax rate was 32.9% and 29.1% for the
years

ended December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively The tax rates in the 2011

period were impacted primarily by non-deductible items and the tax rates in the 2010 period were impacted by state

operating losses and non-deductible items

Net loss For the foregoing reasons net loss was $8.3 million for the
year ended December 31 2011 compared

to $6.0 million for the year ended December 31 2010 an increased loss of $2.3 million or 38%

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31 2010 and 2009

Revenues Revenues were $163.5 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $49.6 million for

the
year

ended December 31 2009 an increase of $113.9 million or 229% The increase in revenues over the 2009

period was primarily due to acquisitions completed in 2009 and 2010 and to lesser extent increased volume and

favorable change in sales mix in businesses acquired through the third quarter of 2009

Costs of revenues Costs of revenues were $103.6 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to

$32.0 million for the year ended December 31 2009 an increase of $71.6 million or 224% The increase in costs of

revenues over the 2009 period was primarily due to acquisitions completed in 2009 and 2010 and to lesser extent

increased fees paid to members of our medical panel and other direct costs Costs of revenues as percentage of

revenues for the year
ended December 31 2010 decreased slightly from 65% for the

year
ended December 31 2009 to

63% for the year ended December 31 2010 The improvement in this percentage was primarily due to the impact of

favorable change in sales mix and to lesser extent the operating leverage inherent in the business

Selling general and administrative SGA expenses were $37.7 million for the year ended December 31 2010

compared to $15.8 million for the
year

ended December 31 2009 an increase of $21.9 million or 138% The increase in

SGA expenses over the 2009 period was primarily due to acquisitions completed in 2009 and 2010 and to lesser extent

increases in acquisition related transaction costs increased share-based compensation expense primarily due to the

accelerated vesting provision of certain options upon initial public offering increased legal phone rent travel persoimel

and other administrative expenses to support the growth in operations These increases were offset by the decrease in

professional fees due to the termination of the Compass Monitoring agreement in 2009 coupled with the decrease in bad

debt expense
attributable to improved collection efforts

Depreciation and amortization DA expenses were $19.5 million for the year ended December 31 2010

compared to $6.9 million for the year
ended December 31 2009 an increase of $12.6 million or 183% The increase in

DA expenses over the 2009 period was primarily due to growth resulting from additional amortization of finite-lived

intangible and tangible assets related to acquisitions completed in 2009 and 2010

Interest and other expenses net Interest and other expenses net were $11.2 million for the year ended

December 31 2010 compared to $1.9 million for the year ended December 31 2009 an increase of $9.3 million or

484% Interest expense net increased by approximately $5.6 million due to increased borrowings used to finance our

acquisitions completed in 2009 and 2010 In addition amortization of capitalized loan costs increased by approximately

$740000 Coupled with the increase in other expenses net approximately $385000 of the variance is attributable to the

change in the interest rate swap from net gain of $343000 for the
year

ended December 31 2009 to net loss of

approximately $42000 during the year ended December 31 2010 The increase in net loss on the interest rate swap was

due to the change in the fair value of the instrument primarily driven by falling interest rates during 2009 and 2010

Lastly approximately $2.7 million of the variance is attributable to the write-off of capitalized loan costs related to our

senior credit facility with Fifth Third Bank which was repaid and terminated in November 2010

Income tax benefit Income tax benefit was $2.5 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared with

$2.6 million for the year ended December 31 2009 decrease of $0.1 million or 4.9% Our effective income tax rate

was 29.1% and 7.2% for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively The tax rates in the 2010 period

were impacted by state net operating losses and non deductible items
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Net loss For the foregoing reasons net loss was $6.0 million for the year
ended December 31 2010 compared

to $4.4 million for the year ended December 31 2009 an increase of $1.6 million or 37.1%

Selected Quarterly Financial Data Unaudited

March June September December

2011 Quarter Ended 31 30 30 31

In thousands except share and per share data

Revenues 66588 106742 109218 115312

Costs and expenses

Costs of revenues 43569 70508 72148 76017

Selling general and administrative expenses 14328 21654 22803 25348

Depreciation and amortization 8609 11475 13069 14286

Total costs and expenses 66506 103637 108020 115651

Income loss from operations 82 3105 1198 339
Interest and other expenses net 1012 3214 5287 6948

Loss before income taxes 930 109 4089 7287
Benefit for income taxes 371 37 1412 2262
Net loss 559 72 2677 5025

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders

Basic and diluted 0.02 0.08 0.15

Weighted average shares outstanding common stock

Basic and diluted 32739428 34222475 34732028 34223906

Other Financial Data

Adjusted EBITDA1 10902 18465 17128 16809

March June September December

2010-QuarterEnded 31 30 30 31

In thousands except share and per share data

Revenues 25400 35279 48563 54269

Costs and expenses

Costs of revenues 16132 22133 30428 34913

Selling general and administrative expenses 6011 8372 9587 13719

Depreciation and amortization 2977 3570 5905 7053

Total costs and expenses 25120 34075 45920 55685

Income loss from operations 280 1204 2643 1416
Interest and other expenses net 1464 1347 2533 5889

Income loss before income taxes 1184 143 110 7305
Provision benefit for income taxes 589 71 33 1857
Net income loss 595 72 77 5448

Net income loss per share attributable to common

stockholders

Basic 0.04 0.20

Diluted 0.04 0.20

Weighted average shares outstanding common stock

Basic 13943454 15270593 17367540 27168890

Diluted 13943454 15270593 22342793 27168890

Other Financial Data

Adjusted EBITDA1 4166 6183 9915 10057

Adjusted EBITDA is non-GAAP measure that is described and reconciled to net income loss below and is not

substitute for the GAAP equivalent We defme Adjusted EBITDA as earnings before interest taxes depreciation

amortization acquisition related transaction costs share-based compensation expenses
and other non-recurring costs

We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is an important measure of our operating performance because it allows management

lenders investors and analysts to evaluate and assess our core operating results from period to period after removing the
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impact of changes to our capitalization structure acquisition related costs income tax status and other items of non-

operational nature that affect our comparability The following table presents reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to

net loss the most comparable GAAP measure for each of the periods indicated See also Results of Operations

Adjusted EBITDA

March June September December

2011-QuarterEnded 31 30 30 31

In thousands

Net loss 559 72 2677 5025
Share-based compensation expense 977 2045 2363 2449

Depreciation and amortization expense 8609 11475 13069 14286

Acquisition-related transaction costs 767 1460 477 403

Other non-recurring costsii 467 380 21 10

Interest and other expenses net 1012 3214 5287 6948

Benefit for income taxes 371 37 1412 2262

Adjusted EBITDA 10902 18465 17128 16809

March June September December

2010-QuarterEnded 31 30 30 31

In thousands

Net income loss 595 72 77 5448
Share-based compensation expense

114 184 261 1257

Depreciation and amortization expense 2977 3570 5905 7053

Acquisition-related transaction costs 795 1225 1106 2975

Other non-recurring costsii
188

Interest and other expenses net 1464 1347 2533 5889

Provision benefit for income taxes 589 71 33 1857

Adjusted EBITDA 4166 6183 9915 10057

Share-based compensation expense
of $650000 is included in costs of revenues during the quarters ended June 30

2011 September 30 2011 and December 31 2011 and the remainder is included in SGA expenses During the

quarter ended March 31 2011 and all 2010 quarters all share-based compensation expense is included in SGA

expenses

iiOther non-recurring costs consist of severance relocation and facility terminations

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal capital requirements are to fund operations and acquisitions To date we have funded our capital

needs from cash flow generated from operations private placements of our common and preferred stock our initial

public offering IPO borrowings under the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility and the private offering of the

Senior Unsecured Notes as defmed below We have also funded our acquisition program with equity issuances to

sellers and with seller debt financing We expect that cash and cash equivalents availability under our existing Senior

Secured Revolving Credit Facility proceeds from the Senior Unsecured Notes and cash flow from operations will be

sufficient to support our operations planned capital expenditures and acquisitions for at least the next 12 months

Although we believe that our current cash and cash equivalents and funds available under our Senior Secured

Revolving Credit Facility will be sufficient to meet our working capital and acquisition plans for at least the next 12

months we may need to raise additional funds through the issuance of equity or convertible debt securities or increase

borrowings to fund acquisitions If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity or convertible debt securities

the percentage ownership of our existing stockholders will be reduced and these securities might have rights preferences

and privileges senior to those of our current stockholders Additional fmancing may not be available or if available such

financing may not be obtained on terms favorable to our stockholders and us
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Private Placements

From our inception through July 2008 we privately placed an aggregate of 6169320 shares of common stock

to one investor for gross proceeds of $12.0 million

In January 2010 we issued an aggregate of 1989867 shares of common stock for
gross proceeds of $3.5

million and as consideration for the termination of the monitoring fee See Certain Relationships and Related

TransactionsMonitoring Fee Agreement

In May 2010 we completed private placement of our Series Convertible Preferred Stock which were

convertible into shares of our common stock at the option of the holder to raise additional capital to fund our acquisition

program We also increased the number of our authorized shares to 250 million shares of common stock and 50 million

shares of preferred stock Between March 2010 and May 2010 we issued an aggregate of 4975180 shares of Series

Convertible Preferred Stock for approximately $33.0 million in gross proceeds to the Company These shares of

preferred stock had an aggregate initial liquidation preference of $33.0 million and accrued dividends at an annual rate of

12% in each case payable only upon liquidation or deemed liquidation event The preferred stock automatically

converted into shares of our common stock simultaneously with the closing of the IPO

On August 13 2010 we issued 8585 shares of common stock each to two investors at purchase price of

$11.67 per
share

Initial Public Offering

On November 2010 we completed an IPO of common stock The total offering size was 11845000 shares

after exercise by the underwriters of their over-allotment option consisting of 9290114 shares issued by us and

2554886 shares sold by existing stockholders of the Company Net proceeds to the Company were approximately

$133.7 million of which $102.4 million was used to repay the amounts outstanding under previous credit facility with

Fifth Third Bank

Share Repurchase Program

In August 2011 we announced the Board of Directors authorized the implementation of share repurchase

program to repurchase up to $20.0 million of outstanding shares of our common stock The program calls for the

repurchases to be made at managements discretion in the open market or privately negotiated transactions subject to

cash requirements for other purposes and other relevant factors such as trading price trading volume general market

and business conditions and our compliance with certain covenants under our contractual obligations There is no

guarantee as to the exact number of shares if any that we may repurchase and the Board of Directors may suspend or

discontinue the repurchase program at any time For the
year

ended December 31 2011 we repurchased approximately

1009000 shares of common stock under the share repurchase program These shares were repurchased at an average

cost of $9.34 per
share for total cost of $9.4 million For the year ended December 31 2011 we have reissued

approximately 203000 shares from treasury to fund certain acquisitions completed in 2011

Credit Facilities

Credit Facility

In November 2010 in conjunction with the IPO we repaid $102.4 million of outstanding debt and terminated

credit facility This facility was replaced with new senior secured revolving credit facility with Bank of America N.A
as administrative agent and the other lenders party thereto the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility which

following the exercises of the accordion feature in February 2011 and subsequently in May 2011 and as amended in

July 2011 and February 2012 as defined below provides for borrowings of up to $262.5 million Up to $15.0 million of

the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility may be in the form of letters of credit and up to $15.0 million may be in

the form of swingline loans Loans under the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility which terminates in July 2016

will be used to fund our acquisition program plans and for general corporate purposes including permitted acquisitions

On May 2011 we increased and fully exercised the accordion features of the Senior Secured Revolving

Credit Facility The increase and exercise of the accordion feature increased the committed capacity of the credit facility

by $55.0 million from total of $245.0 million to total of $300.0 million Concurrently with the foregoing we

amended the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility to among other things permit its maximum senior leverage
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ratio to temporarily increase from 3.0 to to 3.50 to for the quarters ending June 30 and September 30 2011 and 3.25

to for the quarter ending December 31 2011 and 3.0 to thereafter and ii permit the netting of unrestricted domestic

cash in excess of $2.5 million but not exceeding $12.5 million against funded indebtedness for purposes of calculating

leverage ratios

On July 2011 we entered into second amendment to our Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility the

Second Amendment which became effective simultaneously with the consummation of our private offering of $250.0

million aggregate principal senior notes The Second Amendment amended the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility

to among other things extend the maturity date of the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility from November

2013 to July 2016 ii permit the issuance and sale of the Senior Unsecured Notes iii replace the consolidated senior

leverage ratio with consolidated senior secured leverage ratio while permitting the maximum consolidated senior

secured leverage ratio to be 3.00 to iv permit our maximum consolidated leverage ratio to increase from 3.5 to to

4.75 to reduce the borrowing cost and vi allow us to complete acquisitions with purchase price of up to $75.0

million previously $50.0 million without prior lender consent The Second Amendment also reduced the aggregate

revolving commitments under the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility by $37.5 million for maximum

commitment of $262.5 million subject to our right to increase the aggregate revolving commitments by $37.5 million for

maximum commitment of $300.0 million so long as we are not in default and we satisfy certain other customary

conditions

On February 27 2012 we entered into third amendment to our Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility the

Third Amendment The Third Amendment amended the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility as to the definitions

of consolidated fixed charges and consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio and does not permit the consolidated fixed

charge coverage ratio as of the end of any fiscal quarter to be less than for an fiscal quarter ending during the period

from December 31 2011 to and including September 30 2012 1.75 to 1.00 and ii for an fiscal quarter ending

thereafter 2.00 to 1.00

Our obligations under the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility are guaranteed by each of our existing and

future direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries and such obligations are secured by substantially all of the assets of us

and our domestic subsidiaries however in the case of our foreign subsidiaries no more than 65% of the capital stock of

first-tier subsidiaries shall be pledged and no assets will be encumbered by liens in favor of our lenders

Borrowings under the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility as amended bear interest at either LIBOR

plus the applicable margin or ii base rate equal to the highest of the federal funds rate plus 0.5% the Bank of

America prime rate and LIBOR using one month-period plus 1.0% plus the applicable margin as we elect The

applicable margin means percentage per annum determined in accordance with the following table

Commitment

Pricing Consolidated Senior Secured Fee/Unused Letter of Eurocurrency Base Rate

Tier Leverage Ratio Line Fee Credit Fee Rate Loans Loans

2.SOto 1.0 0.50% 3.75% 3.75% 2.75%

2.OOto 1.0 but2.50 to 1.0 0.45% 3.50% 3.50% 2.50%

1.5Oto 1.Obut2.OOto 1.0 0.40% 3.25% 3.25% 2.25%

1.00 to 1.Obut 1.50 to 1.0 0.35% 3.00% 3.00% 2.00%

1.00 to 1.0 0.30% 2.75% 2.75% 1.75%

In the event of default the outstanding indebtedness under the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility will

bear interest at an additional 2%

The Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility contains restrictive covenants including among other things

financial covenants requiring us to not exceed maximum consolidated senior secured leverage coverage ratio

maximum total consolidated leverage ratio and to maintain minimum consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio The

Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility also restricts our ability subject to certain exceptions to incur indebtedness

prepay or amend other indebtedness create liens make certain fundamental changes including mergers or dissolutions

pay dividends and make other payments in respect of capital stock make certain investments sell assets change our

lines of business enter into transactions with affiliates and other corporate actions As of December 31 2011 the

Company was in compliance with the fmancial covenants in the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility
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The Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility also includes events of default typical of these types of credit

facilities and transactions including but not limited to the nonpayment of principal interest fees or other amounts

owing under the new Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility the violation of covenants the inaccuracy of

representations and warranties cross defaults insolvency certain ERISA events material judgments and change of

control The occurrence of an event of default could result in the lenders not being required to lend any additional

amounts and the acceleration of obligations under the new senior secured revolving credit facility causing such

obligations to be due and payable immediately which could materially and adversely affect us

As of December 31 2011 we had $5.0 million outstanding under the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility

bearing interest at rate of 3.00% resulting in $257.5 million of undrawn commitments without taking into account

$190000 outstanding under letter of credit However the credit agreement governing our Senior Revolving Credit

Facility contains restrictive covenants including among other things financial covenants which may limit the amount of

borrowings available to us

Working Capital Facilities

On September 29 2010 the Companys indirect wholly-owned subsidiary UKIM entered into Sales Finance

Agreement the UKIM SFA with Barclays Bank PLC Barclays pursuant to which Barclays will provide UKIM

working capital facility of up to 5000000 subject to the terms and conditions of the UKIM SFA The working capital

facility bears discount margin of 2.5% over Base Rate 0.5% rate on December 31 2011 and serves to finance

UKIMs unpaid account receivables The working capital facility operates on co-terminus and cross-default basis with

other facilities provided by Barclays and with the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility As of December 31 2011

the Company had $6.6 million outstanding under the working capital facility resulting in approximately $1.1 million in

availability

On May 12 2011 the Companys indirect wholly-owned subsidiary Premex entered into Sales Finance

Agreement the Premex SFA with Barclays pursuant to which Barclays will provide Premex working capital

facility of up to 26500000 subject to the terms and conditions of the Premex SFA The working capital facility bears

discount margin of 2.4% over Base Rate 0.5% rate on December 31 2011 and serves to finance Premexs unpaid

account receivables The working capital facility operates on co-terminus and cross-default basis with other facilities

provided by Barclays and with the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility As of December 31 2011 the Company

had $32.5 million outstanding under the working capital facility resulting in approximately $8.5 million in availability

Senior Unsecured Notes

On July 19 2011 we closed our private offering of $250.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 9.0% senior

notes due 2019 the Senior Unsecured Notes The Senior Unsecured Notes were issued at price of 100% of their

principal amount The Senior Unsecured Notes are senior obligations of Exam Works and are guaranteed by

ExamWorks existing and future U.S subsidiaries portion of the gross proceeds of $250.0 million were used to repay

borrowings outstanding under our Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility included related fees and expenses and to

fund acquisitions completed in September 2011 and October 2011

The Senior Unsecured Notes were issued under an Indenture dated as of July 19 2011 the Indenture

among the Company the Guarantors and U.S Bank National Association as trustee the Trustee The Senior

Unsecured Notes are our general senior unsecured obligations and rank equally with our existing and future senior

unsecured obligations and senior to all of our further subordinated indebtedness The Senior Unsecured Notes accrue

interest at rate of 9.0% per year payable semi-annually in cash in arrears on January 15 and July 15 of each year

commencing January 15 2012

At any time on or after July 15 2015 we may redeem some or all of the Senior Unsecured Notes at the

redemption prices stated in the Indenture plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption Prior to July 15

2014 we may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the Senior Unsecured Notes with net cash

proceeds from certain equity offerings at redemption price equal to 109% of the aggregate principal amount of the

Senior Unsecured Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest if any provided that at least 65% of the original aggregate

principal amount of the Senior Unsecured Notes remains outstanding after redemption Further we may redeem some or

all of the of the Senior Unsecured Notes at any time prior to July 15 2015 at redemption price equal to 100% of the

principal amount of the Senior Unsecured Notes plus make whole premium described in the Indenture plus accrued

and unpaid interest
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The Indenture includes covenants which subject to certain exceptions limit the ability of the Company and its

restricted subsidiaries as defined in the Indenture to among other things incur additional indebtedness make certain

types of restricted payments incur liens on assets of the Company or the restricted subsidiaries engage in asset sales and

enter into transactions with affiliates Upon change of control as defmed in the Indenture we may be required to

make an offer to repurchase the Senior Unsecured Notes at 101% of their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid

interest The Indenture also contains customary events of default

Cash Flow Summary

Cash and cash equivalents were $8.4 million at December 31 2011 as compared with $33.6 million at

December 31 2010 and $1.5 million at December 31 2009

Our cash flows from operating investing and financing activities as reported in our Consolidated Financial

Statements included elsewhere in this report are summarized as follows

For the years ended

December 31

2009 2010 2011

Net cash provided by operating activities 4177 18303 39543

Net cash used in investing activities 25775 116537 335814

Net cash provided by financing activities 21894 130319 270885

Exchange rate impact on cash and cash equivalents
40 178

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents
296 32125 25208

Operating Activities Net cash provided by operating activities was $39.5 million for the year ended December

31 2011 as compared with net cash provided by operating activities of $18.3 million for the year ended December 31

2010 Net cash provided by operating activities for 2011 consisted of our net loss of $8.3 million and net increase in

working capital of approximately $5.1 million in 2011 which was offset by net non-cash charges of $53.0 million

principally including $47.4 million in depreciation and amortization and $7.8 million in share-based compensation

offset by net decrease in deferred income taxes of $6.4 million The increase in working capital primarily consisted of

increases in accounts receivable prepaid expenses and other current assets and decreases in accounts payable and

accrued expenses offset by increased accrued interest expense associated with the Senior Unsecured Notes

Net cash provided by operating activities was $18.3 million for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared

with net cash provided by operating activities of $4.2 million for the year ended December 31 2009 Net cash provided

by operating activities for 2010 consisted of our net loss of $6.0 million which was offset by net non-cash charges of

$19.1 million principally including $19.5 million in depreciation and amortization offset by net decrease in deferred

income taxes of $5.4 million and decrease in working capital of approximately $5.2 million in 2010 The decrease in

working capital primarily consisted of increases in accounts receivable offset by increases in accounts payable and

accrued expenses
and other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $4.2 million in the
year

ended December 31 2009 and consisted

of our net loss of $4.4 million which was offset by non-cash charges of $4.9 million principally including $6.9 million

in depreciation and amortization offset by net decrease of $2.7 million from deferred income taxes and decrease in

working capital of approximately $3.6 million in 2009 The decrease in working capital primarily consisted of increases

in accounts receivable offset by increases in accounts payable and accrued expenses and other liabilities

Investing Activities Net cash used in investing activities was $335.8 million and $116.5 million for the years

ended December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively This increased use was directly attributable to cash paid for increased

acquisition activity capital asset purchases and acquisition settlement related activities during 2011 of approximately

$322.2 million $6.9 million and $6.7 million respectively

Net cash used in investing activities was $116.5 million and $25.8 million for the years ended December 31

2010 and 2009 respectively This increased use was directly attributable to cash paid for increased acquisition activity

and capital asset purchases during 2010 of approximately $115.2 million and $1.7 million respectively The increase in

cash used was partially offset by cash inflows from other acquisition settlement related activities of approximately

$418000
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Net cash used in investing activities was $25.8 million year ended December 31 2009 and consisted of cash

paid for increased acquisition activity and capital asset purchases of approximately $25.7 million and $1.6 million

respectively The increase in cash used was partially offset by cash inflows from other acquisition settlement related

activities of approximately $1.5 million

Financing Activities Net cash provided by financing activities was $270.9 million and $130.3 million for the

years
ended December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively This increase in cash provided was primarily attributable to

$250.0 million in proceeds from our private offering of the Senior Unsecured Notes in the July 2011 net borrowings

under our working capital facilities of $35.6 million and borrowings under our Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility

of $278.0 million offset by repayments under our credit facilities of $273.0 million payments of deferred financing

costs of $9.7 million and purchases of stock for treasury of $9.4 million

Net cash provided by financing activities was $130.3 million and $21.9 million for the years ended December

31 2010 and 2009 respectively This increase was primarily attributable to the net issuance of preferred stock of $32.4

million and net issuance of common stock of approximately $136.7 million and borrowings under our credit facilities of

approximately $67.3 million offset by repayments under our credit facilities of approximately $100.6 million and

payment of deferred financing costs of approximately $6.5 million

Net cash provided by financing activities was $21.9 million in the year ended December 31 2009 consisting

primarily of borrowings under our credit facilities of approximately $40.1 million and advances from related party notes

of approximately $3.5 million offset by repayments under our credit facilities of approximately $20.1 million and

payment of deferred financing costs of approximately $1.8 million

Contingencies

We record contingent liabilities resulting from asserted and unasserted claims against us when it is probable that

liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss is reasonably estimable We disclose contingent liabilities when

there is reasonable possibility that the ultimate loss will exceed the recorded liability Estimating probable losses

requires analysis of multiple factors in some cases including judgments about the potential actions of third-party

claimants and courts Therefore actual losses in any future period are inherently uncertain We currently are not involved

in any material legal proceedings It is possible however that future results of operations for any particular quarterly or

annual period could be materially affected by changes in our assumptions or the effectiveness of our strategies related to

any future proceedings Contingent liabilities are described in Note to the consolidated financial statements included

elsewhere in this report
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Our contractual cash payment obligations as of December 31 2011 are set forth below

Payments due by year ending December 31

Total 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter

In thousands

Amounts

outstanding under

senior unsecured

notes payable 250000 250000

Amounts

outstanding under

senior secured

revolving credit

facility 5000 5000

Operating leases 27284 8572 6019 4498 3410 2275 2510

Amounts

outstanding under

working capital

facilities 39063 6554 32509

Subordinated

unsecured notes

payable and

deferred

payments 2718 2001 434 283

Total 324065 10573 13007 37290 3410 7275 252510

As of December 31 2011 we leased our office spaces for our corporate locations in Atlanta Georgia and New

York New York and also for 44 of our 45 service centers in various cities under non-cancelable lease agreements We

own an office facility in Warren Michigan

We have certain contractual obligations including various debt agreements with requirements to make interest

payments Amounts outstanding under the Senior Unsecured Notes are subject to fixed interest rate of 9.0% and

interest is expected to be $22.5 million annually with semi-annual payments beginning in January 2012 and ending July

2019 Additionally certain amounts are subject to the level of borrowings in future periods and the interest rate for the

applicable periods and therefore the amounts of these payments are not determinable Based upon amounts outstanding

at December 31 2011 and applicable interest rates currently ranging between 0.0% and 6.0% interest amounts are

expected to be approximately $1.3 million for the year ended December 31 2012 approximately $1.2 million for the

year ended December 31 2013 approximately $544000 for the year ended December 31 2014 and approximately

$151000 for the years ended December 31 2015 and 2016

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We engage in no activities obligations or exposures associated with off-balance sheet arrangements

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Overview and Definitions

We have identified the policies below as critical to our business operations and understanding of our results of

operations The impact and any associated risks related to these policies on our business operations are discussed

throughout this managements discussion and analysis of fmancial condition and results of operations where such

policies affect our reported and expected fmancial results Our consolidated financial statements which have been

prepared in accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles require us to make estimates and judgments

that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenue and expenses cash flow and related disclosure of

contingent assets and liabilities Our estimates include those related to accounts receivable reserves goodwill and other

intangible assets share-based compensation other equity instruments income and other taxes derivative instruments and

contingent obligations We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe
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to be reasonable under the circumstances Actual results may differ from these estimates and the impact of changes in

key assumptions may not be linear Our management has reviewed the application of these policies with the audit

committee of our Board of Directors For detailed discussion on the application of these and other accounting policies

see Note to the consolidated fmancial statements included elsewhere in this report We believe that our most critical

accounting policies and estimates relate to the following

Revenue Recognition

Revenue related to IMEs peer reviews bill reviews and administrative support services is recognized at the

time services have been performed and the report is shipped to the end user We believe that recognizing revenue at the

time the report is shipped is appropriate because we meet the following four criteria in accordance with ASC 605-10-

S25 Revenue Recognition Overall persuasive evidence that arrangement exists ii shipment has occurred iiithe

price is fixed and determinable and iv collectability is reasonably assured We report revenues net of any sales use and

value added taxes

Revenue related to other IME services including litigation support services and medical record retrieval

services where no report is generated is recognized at the time the service is performed We believe that recognizing

revenue at the time the service is performed is appropriate because we meet the following four criteria in accordance

with ASC 605-10-S25 persuasive evidence that arrangement exists ii services have been rendered iii the price is

fixed and determinable and iv collectability is reasonably assured

Certain agreements with customers in the U.K include provisions whereby collection of the amounts billed are

contingent on the favorable outcome of the claim We have deemed these provisions to preclude revenue recognition at

the time of sale as collectability is not reasonably assured and the sales are contingent and are deferring these revenues

net of estimated costs until the case has been settled and the contingency has been resolved For the year ended

December 31 2011 we had deferred $2.6 million in contingent revenues and $1.6 million in costs associated with the

contingent revenues There was no deferral related to contingent revenues as of December 31 2010

Should changes in conditions cause management to determine these criteria are not met for certain future

transactions revenue recognized for any reporting period could be adversely affected

Trade Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable balances consist of amounts owed to us for services provided in the normal course of

business and are reported net of an allowance for doubtful accounts Generally no collateral is received from clients and

the collectability of trade receivable balances is regularly evaluated based on combination of factors such as client

credit-worthiness past transaction history with the customer current economic industry trends and changes in customer

payment patterns and additions to the allowance are made based on these trends Accounts are reviewed regularly for

collectability and those deemed uncollectible are written off

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill is an asset representing the future economic benefits arising from assets acquired in business

combination that are not individually identified and separately recognized Based on the provisions of ASC 350

IntangiblesGoodwill and Other ASC 350 goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets are tested for impairment

annually or more frequently if impairment indicators arise We evaluate the carrying value of goodwill during the fourth

quarter of each fiscal year and between annual valuations if events occur or circumstances change that would more likely

than not reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying amount Such circumstances include

significant adverse change in legal factors or in business climate unanticipated competition or an adverse action

or assessment by regulator When evaluating whether goodwill is impaired we compare the fair value of the reporting

unit to which the goodwill is assigned to the reporting units carrying amount including goodwill The fair value of the

reporting unit is estimated using primarily the income or discounted cash flows approach If the carrying amount of

reporting unit exceeds its fair value then the amount of the impairment loss must be measured The impairment loss is

calculated by comparing the implied fair value of the reporting units goodwill to its carrying amount In calculating the

implied fair value of the reporting units goodwill the fair value of the reporting unit is allocated to all of the other assets

and liabilities of that unit based on their fair values The excess of the fair value of reporting unit over the amount

assigned to its other assets and liabilities is the implied fair value of goodwill An impairment loss would be recognized

when the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value
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Intangible assets including client relationships trade names covenants not to compete and technology that

have finite lives are amortized over their useful lives

We performed our annual impairment review of goodwill in October 2011 and reviewed subsequent events

through December 31 2011 and determined that the carrying value of goodwill was not impaired as of year end Further

we believe that there have been no facts or circumstances through the date of this filing that indicate an impairment of

goodwill exists

Deferred Income Taxes

In preparing our consolidated financial statements we are required to estimate our income taxes in each of the

jurisdictions in which we operate This process involves estimating actual current tax exposure together with assessing

temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and financial reporting purposes These

differences result in deferred income tax assets and liabilities

As of December 31 2009 we had net operating losses NOLs which are subject to annual limitations

resulting from the change in control provisions in Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code IRC Section 382 We

generated $5.2 million of federal taxable income in the year ended December 31 2010 fully utilizing the NOLs In

2011 in conjunction with the MES acquisition we acquired $20.1 million of federal NOLs We generated $17.7 million

of estimated federal taxable income in the
year

ended December 31 2011 and we expect to utilize $17.7 million of the

NOLs in 2011 to offset against this estimated federal taxable income As of December 31 2011 we have $2.4 million in

estimated federal NOLs to offset against future federal taxable income These NOLs are subject to IRC Section 382

limitations and expire in 2031 For the year ended December 31 2011 we were subject to the alternative minimum tax

AMT and we have estimated AMT credit carryforwards of $355000 as of December 31 2011 which may be used to

offset future federal tax liabilities For the year ended December 31 2011 we generated $2.1 million in estimated

foreign tax credits related to income taxes payable at certain of our businesses located in the U.K which may be used to

offset against future federal taxable income

Additionally we currently have significant deferred tax assets and other deductible temporary differences

including basis differences between intangible assets We do not provide valuation allowance against our deferred tax

assets as we believe that it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized based on

available evidence including scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities projected future taxable income and other tax

planning considerations

We apply the provisions of ASC 740 Income Taxes ASC 740 as it relates to uncertain tax positions This

guidance prescribes comprehensive model for how company should recognize measure present and disclosure in its

financial statements uncertain tax positions that company has taken or expects to take on tax return ASC 740 states

that tax benefit from an uncertain tax position may be recognized only if it is more likely than not that the position is

sustainable based on its technical merits The tax benefit of qualifing position is the largest amount of tax benefit that

is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement with taxing authority having full knowledge of all relevant

information As of the adoption date the total amount of liability for unrecognized tax benefits related to federal and

state taxes was approximately $96000 As of December 31 2009 the liability related to unrecognized tax benefits was

approximately $96000 We recorded an additional liability of $80000 and $132000 in the years ended December 31
2010 and 2011 respectively related to acquired liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits and interest and penalties on

prior year tax positions We recognize interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax

expense

We are no longer subject to U.S federal income or state tax return examinations by tax authorities before 2006

and 2005 respectively which periods relate to certain acquired businesses The Internal Revenue Service IRS
commenced an examination of our U.S income tax returns for 2009 during the second quarter of 2011 As of December

31 2011 the IRS had not proposed any adjustments to our tax positions and in January of 2012 we received closure

letter from the IRS stating that no adjustments were identified We operate in multiple taxing jurisdictions and face

audits from various tax authorities We remain subject to examination until the statute of limitations expires for the

respective tax jurisdiction We do not anticipate that the amount of the unrecognized benefit will significantly increase or

decrease within the next twelve months

Undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries are considered indefmitely reinvested and accordingly no

provision for U.S federal income taxes has been recorded Deferred taxes are provided for earnings outside the United

States when those earnings are not considered indefinitely reinvested
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Share-Based Compensation and Other Equity Instruments

Our stock incentive plan provides for the granting of stock options and share-based awards in accordance with

ASC Topic 718 CompensationStock Compensation ASC 718 ASC 718 requires measurement of compensation

cost for all share-based awards at fair value on the grant date or measurement date if different and recognition of

compensation expense net of forfeitures over the requisite service period for awards expected to vest We use the

straight-line amortization method for recognizing share-based compensation expense

The fair value of stock option grants is determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model The Black-Scholes

option-pricing model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions

and are fully transferable characteristics not present in these employee stock options Additionally option valuation

models require the input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected volatility of the stock price Because

our employee stock options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options and because changes

in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimates in our opinion the existing models may

not provide reliable single measure of the fair value of its share-based awards

Our expected volatility assumptions are based on our peer group average implied volatility for 2009 and 2010

and are based upon our peer group median implied volatility for 2011 Expected life assumptions for 2009 and the first

three quarters of 2010 are based upon the average of the simplified method as described in Securities and Exchange

Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No 107 which is the midpoint between the vesting date and the end of the

contractual term and the contractual term of the option in accordance with ASC 718 which states that if no amount

within the range is more or less likely than any other amount an average
of the

range its expected value should be used

for those options issued significantly out-of-the-money or the simplified method for those options issued in the fourth

quarter of 2010 and the full year of 2011 which were determined to be issued approximately at-the-money The risk-free

interest rate was selected based upon yields of U.S Treasury issues with term equal to the expected life of the option

being valued

The following table summarizes the number of stock options granted and outstanding as of December 31 2011

for the quarterly periods from January 2009 through December 31 2011 the per share exercise price of the stock

options and estimated per share weighted average fair value of stock options

Number of

shares Weighted Weighted

subject to average average

options per share estimated

granted exercise fair value

and price of of

Quarter ending outstanding options options

June 30 2009 355914 2.80 0.66

September 30 2009 79179 3.89 1.02

December 31 2009 39495 3.89 0.99

March 31 2010 1272879 6.29 0.65

June 30 2010 483000 6.63 0.67

September3o20l0 328828 7.79 1.14

December 31 2010 1301608 11.67 4.32

March31 2011 1449725 22.50 8.78

June 30 2011 799950 24.18 9.28

September302Oll 331400 13.62 5.41

December3l2Oll 503300 7.80 3.39

As described above the per share estimated fair value of stock options was estimated for the date of grant

using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model This model estimates the fair value by applying series of factors

including the exercise price of the stock option the fair market value of our common stock risk free interest rate the

expected term of the stock option expected share price volatility of the underlying common stock and expected

dividends on the underlying common stock Additional information regarding our valuation of common stock and option

awards is set forth in Note to our consolidated fmancial statements included elsewhere in this report
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Accounting for Acquisitions

Accounting for acquisitions requires us to recognize and measure identifiable assets acquired liabilities

assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity Our accounting for acquisitions involves significant

judgments and estimates including the fair value of certain forms of consideration such as our common stock the fair

value of acquired intangible assets which involve projections of future revenues cash flows and terminal value which

are then discounted at an estimated discount rate the fair value of other acquired assets and assumed liabilities including

potential contingencies and the useful lives of the assets The projections are developed using internal forecasts

available industry and market data and estimates of long-term rates of growth for our business The impact of prior or

future acquisitions on our financial position or results of operations may be materially impacted by the change in or

initial selection of assumptions and estimates

Financial Instruments

In September 2006 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued authoritative guidance codified

as ASC 820 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures ASC 820 ASC 820 defines fair value establishes

framework for measuring fair value in U.S generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosure about fair

value measurements

ASC 825 Financial Ins fruments ASC 825 delayed the effective date of the application of ASC 820 to

fiscal years beginning after November 15 2008 for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities that are recognized

or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on nonrecurring basis Nonrecurring nonfinancial assets and

nonfinancial liabilities for which the Company has not applied the provisions of ASC 820 primarily include those

measured at fair value in goodwill and long-lived asset impairment testing those initially measured at fair value in

business combination and nonfinancial liabilities for exit or disposal activities

ASC 820 defmes fair value as the price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer liability an exit

price in the principal most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market

participants on the measurement date ASC 820 establishes fair value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in

measuring fair value into the following levels

In determining fair value we utilize valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and

minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible as well as consider counterpart credit risk in the

assessment of fair value

Level Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly or indirectly

Level Unobservable inputs based on the companys own assumptions

Our financial liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis are categorized using the fair

value hierarchy as of December 31 2010 and 2011 were as follows

Level Level Level Total

As of December 31 2010

Financial liabilities

Interest rate swap 654 654

Contingent consideration 6202 6202

As of December31 2011

Financial liabilities

Interest rate swap 326 326

Contingent consideration 1621 1621
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The fair value of the interest rate swap is detennined using observable market inputs such as current interest

rates and considers nonperformance risk of the Company and that of our counterparties

The contingent consideration relates to earn-out provisions recorded in conjunction with certain acquisitions

completed in 2009 and 2010 Of the total decrease in fair value of the contingent consideration of $4.6 million in 2011

$506000 was settled as cash consideration to satisf installments related to 2009 and 2010 acquisitions 58000 shares of

our common stock were issued with fair value of $808000 to settle an earnout related to 2009 acquisition

approximately $222000 was recorded in SGA expenses and approximately $1.2 million was recorded in interest and

other expenses net in the Consolidated Statements of Operations due to changes in the fair value of the contingent

consideration Additionally in the third quarter of 2011 we and the sellers of certain Canadian subsidiaries agreed to

terminate the clawback and earnout provisions in the acquisition agreements As result we recorded reduction to

contingent consideration of $1.9 million in the third quarter of 2011 This reduction is included in SGA expenses
in the

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In addition to the recently adopted accounting pronouncements discussed above in conjunction with our critical

accounting policies we believe the following recently adopted accounting pronouncements are important to an

understanding of our financial statements

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2006 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC Topic 740 Income Taxes ASC 740
which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprises financial statements ASC

740 also prescribes recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and

measurement of tax position taken or expected to be taken in tax return In addition ASC 740 provides guidance on

derecognition classification interest and penalties accounting in interim periods disclosure and transition ASC 740

deferred adoption for most nonpublic enterprises to annual periods beginning after December 15 2008 We elected to

defer its application until its required effective date of January 2009 Our policy for evaluating uncertain tax positions

prior to the adoption of ASC 740 has been to provide for income taxes based on positions taken on the our tax return

with valuation allowances established for uncertain positions based on the guidance established by ASC Topic 450

Contingencies We adopted the provisions of ASC 740 effective January 2009 and the adoption did not have

material impact on our consolidated financial position results of operations and cash flows for the years
ended

December 31 2009 2010 and 2011

In December 2007 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC Topic 805 Business Combinations

ASC 805 ASC 805 changes accounting for business combinations through requirement to recognize 100% of the

fair values of assets acquired liabilities assumed and noncontrolling interests in acquisitions of less than 100%

controlling interest when the acquisition constitutes change in control of the acquired entity Other requirements

include capitalization of acquired in-process research and development assets expensing as incurred acquisition-related

transaction costs and capitalizing restructuring charges as part of the acquisition only if requirements of ASC 420 Exit

or Disposal Cost Obligations are met ASC 805 is effective for business combination transactions for which the

acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15 2008

We adopted ASC 805 effective January 2009 and applied the principles contained in this standard to all acquisitions

that were completed after this date Our consolidated fmancial position results of operations and cash flows for the years

ended December 31 20092010 and 2011 reflect the adoption of ASC 805

In March 2008 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC Topic 815 Derivatives and Hedging

ASC 815 ASC 815 requires additional disclosures about the objectives of the derivative instruments and hedging

activities the method of accounting for such instruments and tabular disclosure of the effects of such instruments and

related hedged items on the Companys financial position results of operations and cash flows ASC 815 is effective for

financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15 2008 with early adoption

encouraged We adopted ASC 815 effective January 2009 and the adoption did not have material impact on our

consolidated fmancial position results of operations and cash flows for the
years

ended December 31 2009 2010 and

2011

In April 2008 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as AST Topic 350 Intangibles Goodwill and

Other ASC 350 which is effective for all fiscal years and interim periods beginning after December 15 2008 Early

adoption of the provisions of ASC 350 is not permitted ASC 350 requires additional footnote disclosures about the
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impact of the Companys ability or intent to renew or extend agreements related to existing intangibles or expected

future cash flows from those intangibles how the Company accounts for costs incurred to renew or extend such

agreements the time until the next renewal or extension period by asset class and the amount of renewal or extension

costs capitalized if any For any intangibles acquired after January 2009 ASC 350 requires that the Company

consider its experience regarding renewal and extensions of similar arrangements in determining the useful life If the

Company does not have experience with similar arrangements ASC 350 requires that the Company use the assumptions

of market participant putting the intangible to its highest and best use in determining the useful life We adopted the

provisions of ASC 350 effective January 2009 and the adoption did not have material impact on our consolidated

financial position results of operations and cash flows for the years ended December 31 2009 2010 and 2011

In May 2009 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC Topic 855 Subsequent Events ASC
855 ASC 855 requires that an entity shall recognize in the fmancial statements the effects of all subsequent events that

provide additional evidence about conditions that existed at the date of the balance sheet including the estimates inherent

in the process of preparing fmancial statements ASC 855 defmes two types of subsequent events recognized

subsequent events and nonrecognized subsequent events Recognized subsequent events provide additional evidence

about conditions that existed at the balance sheet date and must be reflected in the companys fmancial statements

Nonrecognized subsequent events provide evidence about conditions that arose after the balance sheet date and are not

reflected in the financial statements of company ASC 855 is effective for interim or annual financial periods ending

after June 15 2009 and is to be applied prospectively We adopted the provisions of ASC 855 during the year ended

December 31 2009 The adoption of the provisions of ASC 855 did not have material effect on our consolidated

financial condition results of operations and cash flows for the years
ended December 31 2009 2010 and 2011

In June 2009 the FASB issued ASC Topic 105 Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Brief History

ASC 105 ASC 105 will supersede existing non-SEC accounting and reporting standards The codification will not

change GAAP but will rather organize it into new hierarchy with two levels authoritative and nonauthoritative All

authoritative GAAP will carry equal weight and be organized in topical structure ASC 105 is effective for interim and

annual reporting periods ending after September 15 2009 We adopted the provisions of ASC 105 for the years ended

December 31 2009 2010 and 2011 The adoption of the provisions of ASC 105 did not have material effect on our

consolidated financial condition results of operations and cash flows

In October 2009 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ASU 2009-13 ASU 2009-13

addressing revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables The new guidance establishes selling price hierarchy for

determining the selling price of deliverable eliminates the residual method of allocation requires the allocation of

arrangement consideration to all deliverables using the relative selling price method and significantly expands disclosure

requirements The guidance is effective prospectively for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in

fiscal years beginning on or after June 15 2010 We adopted the provisions of ASU 2009-13 effective January 2011

and this adoption did not have material impact on our consolidated financial position results of operations and cash

flows

In January 2010 the FASB issued ASU No 2010-06 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosure ASU 2010-

06 This update provides amendments to Codification topic Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures which require

new disclosures about transfers in and out of Levels and and the reasons for the transfers as well as reconciliation for

fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs Level The update is effective for interim and annual

reporting periods beginning after December 15 2009 We adopted the provisions of ASU 2010-06 on January 2011

and adoption of this update did not have material impact on our consolidated fmancial condition results of operations

and cash flows

Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In May 2011 the FASB issued ASU No 2011-04 Fair Value Measurement Topic 820 Amendments to

Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in US GAAP and IFRS ASU 2011-04

This ASU represents the converged guidance of the FASB and the International Accounting Standards Board on fair

value measurement These amendments have resulted in common requirements for measuring fair value and for

disclosing information about fair value measurements including consistent meaning of the term fair value The

common requirements are expected to result in greater comparability of fair value measurements presented and disclosed

in fmancial statements prepared in accordance with U.S GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards The

amendments are to be applied prospectively and are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2011 We

plan to adopt these provisions in the first quarter of 2012 Adoption of these provisions is not expected to have material

impact on our consolidated fmancial statements
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In June and December 2011 the FASB issued ASU No 201 1-05 Comprehensive Income Topic 220
Presentation of Comprehensive Income ASU 2011-05 and ASU 2011-12 Deferral of the Effective Date for

Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassflcations of Items Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in

Accounting Standards Update No 2011-05 ASC 220 Comprehensive Income respectively These update amend ASC

Topic 220 Comprehensive Income to provide that total comprehensive income will be reported in one continuous

statement or two separate but consecutive statements of fmancial performance Presentation of total comprehensive

income in the statement of stockholders equity or the footnotes will no longer be allowed The calculation of net income

and basic and diluted net income per share will not be affected These ASUs are effective for fiscal years and interim

periods within those years beginning on or after December 15 2011 Retrospective adoption is required and early

adoption is permitted We plan to adopt these provisions in the first quarter of 2012 and do not believe that adoption of

ASU 2011-05 will have significant impact on our consolidated fmancial statements

In September 2011 FASB issued ASU No 2011-08 Intangibles-Goodwill and Other Topic 350 Testing

Goodwill for Impairment ASU 2011-08 This ASU is intended to simplify goodwill impairment testing by adding

qualitative review step to assess whether the required quantitative impairment analysis that exists today is necessary The

fair value calculation for goodwill will not be required unless the Company concludes based on the qualitative

assessment that it is more likely than not that the fair value of reporting unit is less than its book value If such

decline in fair value is deemed more likely than not to have occurred then the quantitative goodwill impairment test that

exists under current GAAP must be completed otherwise goodwill is deemed to be not impaired and no further testing

is required until the next annual test date or sooner if conditions or events before that date raise concerns of potential

impairment in the business The amended goodwill impairment guidance does not affect the manner in which

company estimates fair value The new standard is effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed

for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2011 with early adoption permitted We do not believe that adoption of

this ASU will have significant impact on our consolidated financial statements

There were various other accounting standards and interpretations issued during 2010 and 2011 that we have

not yet been required to adopt none of which are expected to have material impact on our financial position results of

operations or cash flows

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position due to adverse changes in financial

market prices and rates Our market risk exposure results primarily from fluctuations in interest rates as well as inflation

In the normal course of business we are exposed to market risks including changes in interest rates which affect our

debt as well as cash flows We may also face additional exchange rate risk in the future as we expand our business

internationally

Inleresi Rate Risk As of December 31 2011 we had cash and cash equivalents totaling approximately $8.4

million These amounts were held for future acquisition and working capital purposes and were held in non-interest

bearing accounts of which $5.9 million were held in the U.S Therefore the U.S amounts are insured in full through

June 30 2012 against bank failure under the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Temporary Liquidity Guarantee

Program

Our outstanding debts of $39.1 million and $5.0 million at December 31 2011 related to indebtedness under our

working capital facilities and Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility respectively and contain floating interest rates

Thus our interest rate is subject to market risk in the form of fluctuations in interest rates The effect of hypothetical

one percentage point increase in our variable rate debt would result in an increase of approximately $450000 in our

annual pre-tax net loss assuming no further changes in the amount of borrowings subject to variable rate interest from

amounts outstanding at December 31 2011

In August 2008 as required under our then existing credit facility in order to protect against interest rate

exposure on its variable-rate debt we entered into an interest rate swap to fix the interest rate applicable to our variable-

rate debt The agreement swaps one-month LIBOR for fixed interest rate of 4.36% We do not and do not intend to

engage in the practice of trading derivative securities for profit

Foreign Exchange Risk As of December 31 2011 we have foreign currency risks related to our revenues and

operating expenses denominated in currencies other than the U.S dollar the Canadian dollar and the Pound Sterling Our

financial results could be affected by factors such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates or weak economic

conditions in foreign markets We do not currently hedge our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations
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given that the net difference between foreign currency denominated revenue and
expenses is immaterial In the future

however we may hedge such exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements set forth herein commence on page F-i of this Form 10-K

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information

required to be disclosed in its Exchange Act reports is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time

periods specified in the SECs rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to its

management including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as appropriate to allow timely

decisions regarding required disclosure

As of the end of the period covered by this report December 31 2011 the Evaluation Date the Company
carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of its management including the Chief

Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the effectiveness of the design and operation of its disclosure controls

and procedures Based upon this evaluation the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that

the Companys disclosure controls and procedures were effective at reasonable assurance level as of the Evaluation

Date

Management Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of Exam Works is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over

financial reporting as such is defmed in Rules 3a- 15f promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as

amended and for performing an assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over fmancial reporting as of

December 31 2011 The Companys internal control over financial reporting is process that is designed to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of fmancial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Internal control systems no matter how well designed have inherent limitations Therefore even those systems

determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and

presentation and may not prevent or detect misstatements In addition projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to

future periods are subject to risks that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the

degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate

ExamWorks management performed an assessment of the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2011 using the criteria described in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO The objective of this

assessment is to determine whether the Companys internal control over fmancial reporting was effective as of December

31 2011 ExamWorks management has concluded that as of December 31 2011 its internal control over fmancial

reporting was effective to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of its financial reporting and the

preparation of its fmancial statements for external purposes in accordance with United States generally accepted

accounting principles

During 2011 the Company acquired MES Group Inc Premex Group Ltd MLS Group of Companies

Medicolegal Services Inc North York Rehabilitation Centre Inc Capital Vocational Specialists Inc Matrix Health

Management Inc and Bronshvag Refer to Note of the Notes to consolidated fmancial statements for additional

information regarding these acquisitions As permitted by related SEC Staff interpretive guidance for newly acquired

businesses the Company excluded these acquisitions from managements annual assessment of the effectiveness of the

Companys internal control over fmancial reporting as of December 31 2011 These acquisitions constituted 18% of

total assets as of December 31 2011 and 47% of revenues for the year then ended These businesses will be included in
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future evaluations of the effectiveness of the Companys internal controls and procedures when these systems have been

implemented

KPMG LLP the Companys Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm has issued an attestation report

on the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting The report is included in Item 15a
under the heading Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation

required by Rule 3a- 15d and 5d- 15d of the Exchange Act that occurred during the period covered by Form 10-K

that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal controls

Item 9B Other Information

Third Amendment to Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility

On February 27 2012 the Company entered into third amendment to its Senior Secured Revolving Credit

Facility the Third Amendment The Third Amendment amended the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility as to

the definitions of consolidated fixed charges and consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio and does not permit the

consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio as of the end of any fiscal quarter to be less than for fiscal quarter ending

during the period from December 31 2011 to and including September 30 2012 1.75 to 1.00 and ii for fiscal quarter

ending thereafter 2.00 to 1.00

The foregoing summary of the Third Amendment does not purport to be complete and is subject to and

qualified in its entirety by the full text of such Third Amendment which is filed herewith as Exhibit 10.19.4 and

incorporated herein by reference
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PART III

Pursuant to General Instruction of Form 10-K the information called for by Part III Item 10 Directors

and Executive Officers of the Registrant Item 11 Executive Compensation Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain

Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related

Transactions and Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services is incorporated herein by reference from the

registrants definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A not later than 120

days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Form 10-K
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this Report

Financial Statements

Description

ExamWorks Group Inc and Subsidiaries

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2010 and 2011 F-4

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the years ended December 31 2009
2OlOand2Oll F-S

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity for the
years

ended December 31 2009 2010 and 2011 F-6

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31 2009 2010 and 2011 F-7

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-8

Financial Statement Schedules

The following Financial Statement Schedule for the Registrant is filed as part of this Report and should be read in

conjunction with the Registrants Financial Statements

Description

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 61
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Exhibits

Exhibit

Number Title

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated June 23 2010 by and among ExamWorks Group Inc ExamWorks

Inc and ExamWorks Merger Sub Inc filed as Exhibit 2.1 to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form

S-l filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by reference

herein

2.2 Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of January 11 2011 by and among Exam Works Group Inc

ExamWorks Inc MES Group Inc George Turek and the minority shareholders of MES Group Inc set

forth therein filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

January 13 2011 and incorporated by reference herein

2.3 Agreement for the sale and purchase of the entire issued share capital of Premex Group Limited dated May

10 2011 among ExamWorks Group Inc ExamWorks UK Ltd and the shareholders of Premex Group

Limited set forth therein filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on May 13 2011 and incorporated by reference herein

2.4 Tax Deed dated May 10 2011 relating to the sale and purchase of the entire issued share capital of Premex

Group between ExamWorks UK Ltd And Covenantors set forth therein filed as Exhibit 2.2 to Form 8-K

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 13 2011 and incorporated by reference herein

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Exam Works incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1

to Form 10-K filed March 11 2011
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of ExamWorks incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Form 10-K filed

March 11 2011
4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate of ExamWorks filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No to

ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-I filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

October 21 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

4.2 Indenture dated July 19 2011 by and among ExamWorks Group Inc the Guarantors party thereto and

U.S Bank National Association as Trustee including Form of 9% Note Due 2019 filed as Exhibit 4.1 to

Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 22 2011 and incorporated by

reference herein

4.3 Registration Rights Agreement dated July 19 2011 by and among ExamWorks Group Inc the Guarantors

party thereto and Merrill Lynch Pierce Fenner Smith Incorporated as representative of the several

Initial Purchasers filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

July 22 2011 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.1 Loan and Security Agreement dated as of December 18 2009 by and among ExamWorks Inc its

subsidiaries party thereto Fifth Third Bank and Bank of America filed as Exhibit 10.1.1 to Amendment No
to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-l filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission

on September 17 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.2 Consent and First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of December 31 2009 by and

among ExamWorks Inc and its subsidiaries party thereto in favor of Fifth Third Bank filed as Exhibit

10.1.2 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

Consent and Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of December 31 2009 by and

10.1.3 among ExamWorks Inc and its subsidiaries party thereto in favor of Fifth Third Bank as the administrative

agent for the lenders party thereto filed as Exhibit 10.1.3 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration

Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and

incorporated by reference herein

10.1.4 Consent and Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of December 31 2009 by and

among ExamWorks Inc and its subsidiaries party thereto in favor of Fifth Third Bank as the administrative

agent for the lenders party thereto filed as Exhibit 10.1.4 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration

Statement on Form S-l filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and

incorporated by reference herein

10.1.5 Consent and Fourth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of December 31 2009 by and

among ExamWorks Inc and its subsidiaries party thereto in favor of Fifth Third Bank as the administrative

agent for the lenders party thereto filed as Exhibit 10.1.5 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration

Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and

incorporated by reference herein

10.1.6 Consent and Fifth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of January 19 2010 by and

among ExamWorks Inc its subsidiaries party thereto Fifth Third Bank and Bank of America filed as
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Exhibit 10.1.6 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.7 Consent Agreement to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of March 12 2010 by and among

ExamWorks Inc its subsidiaries party thereto Fifth Third Bank and Bank of America filed as Exhibit

10.1.7 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-I filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission on October 26 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.8 Second Consent Agreement to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of March 15 2010 by and among

ExamWorks Inc its subsidiaries party thereto Fifth Third Bank and Bank of America filed as Exhibit

10.1.8 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.9 Third Consent Agreement to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of March 15 2010 by and among

ExamWorks Inc its subsidiaries party thereto Fifth Third Bank and Bank of America filed as Exhibit

10.1.9 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.10 Fourth Consent Agreement to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of March 26 2010 by and among

ExamWorks Inc its subsidiaries party thereto Fifth Third Bank and Bank of America filed as Exhibit

10.1.10 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.11 Sixth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of April 26 2010 by and among ExamWorks

Inc its subsidiaries party thereto Fifth Third Bank and Bank of America filed as Exhibit 10.1.11 to

ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

August 13 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.12 Seventh Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of June 10 2010 by and among

ExamWorks Inc and its subsidiaries party thereto in favor of Fifth Third Bank as the administrative agent

for the lenders party thereto filed as Exhibit 10.1.12 to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by reference

herein

10.1.13 Eighth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of June 23 2010 by and among Exam Works

Inc its subsidiaries party thereto Fifth Third Bank Bank of America and General Electric Capital

Corporation filed as Exhibit 10.1.13 to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.14 Ninth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of June 30 2010 by and among Exam Works

Inc its subsidiaries party thereto ExamWorks Canada Inc Fifth Third Bank Bank of America and

General Electric Capital Corporation filed as Exhibit 10.1.14 to Amendment No to ExamWorks

Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17

2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.15 Fifth Consent Agreement to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of August 2010 by and among

ExamWorks Inc its subsidiaries party thereto ExamWorks Canada Inc Fifth Third Bank Bank of

America and General Electric Capital Corporation flied as Exhibit 10.1.15 to Amendment No to

ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

September 17 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.16 Tenth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of August 2010 by and among

ExamWorks Inc its subsidiaries party thereto ExamWorks Canada Inc Fifth Third Bank Bank of

America and General Electric Capital Corporation filed as Exhibit 10.1.16 to Amendment No to

ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

September 17 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.17 Eleventh Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of September 2010 by and among
ExamWorks Inc its subsidiaries party thereto Fifth Third Bank Bank of America and General Electric

Capital Corporation filed as Exhibit 10.1.17 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement

on Form 5-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and incorporated

by reference herein

10.1.18 Twelfth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of September 2010 by and among

ExamWorks Inc its subsidiaries party thereto ExamWorks Europe Inc Fifth Third Bank Bank of

America and General Electric Capital Corporation filed as Exhibit 10.1.18 to Amendment No to

ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

September 17 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.19 Sixth Consent Agreement to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of October 2010 by and among

ExamWorks Inc its subsidiaries party thereto ExamWorks Canada Inc ExamWorks Europe Inc Fifth

Third Bank Bank of America and General Electric Capital Corporation filed as Exhibit 10.1.19 to
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Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on October 13 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.1.20 Consent under Loan and Security Agreement dated as of October 11 2010 by and among ExamWorks

Inc its subsidiaries party thereto ExamWorks Canada Inc Fifth Third Bank Bank of America and

General Electric Capital Corporation filed as Exhibit 10.1.20 to Amendment No to ExamWorks

Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 13

2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.2.1 Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan of the Registrant effective as of July 12 2010 filed as

Exhibit 10.2.1 to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

l0.2.2 Form of Stock Option Award Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.2.2 to ExamWorks Registration Statement on

Form S-l filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by

reference herein

0.2.3 Form of Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.2.3 to ExamWorks Registration

Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13 2010 and

incorporated by reference herein

l0.2.4 Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.2.4 to ExamWorks Registration Statement

on Form S-I filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by

reference herein

iO.2.5 First Amendment to ExamWorks Group Inc Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan filed as

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 2011 and

incorporated by reference herein

10.3.1 Stockholders Agreement dated July 14 2008 by and among ExamWorks Holdings LLLP the

stockholders party thereto and ExamWorks Inc filed as Exhibit 10.3.1 to ExamWorks Registration

Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13 2010 and

incorporated by reference herein

10.3.2 Amendment to Stockholders Agreement effective as of July 14 2008 by and between ExamWorks

Holdings LLLP and ExamWorks Inc filed as Exhibit 10.3.2 to ExamWorks Registration Statement on

Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by

reference herein

10.3.3 Second Amendment to Stockholders Agreement dated as of March 12 2010 by and among ExamWorks

Inc ExamWorks Holdings LLLP and the stockholders party thereto filed as Exhibit 10.3.3 to

ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-l filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

August 13 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.4 Form of Warrant to purchase Common Stock dated May 2010 filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Amendment No
to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

September 17 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.5 Registration Rights Agreement dated May 2010 by and among ExamWorks Inc Broadband Capital

Management LLC and the officers and employees of Broadband Capital Management LLC party thereto

filed as Exhibit 10.5 to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-I filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.6 Form of Investor Rights Agreement between ExamWorks Inc and the investors party thereto filed as

Exhibit 10.6 to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.7 Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and its officers and directors filed as Exhibit

10.7 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on October 21 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.8 Asset Purchase Agreement dated June 30 2010 by and among Direct IME Corp Exam Works Group Inc

Direct IME Direct IME Inc Direct IME Occupational Therapy Services Inc Eleanor Cumiskey and Greg

Cumiskey filed as Exhibit 10.8 to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.9 Asset Purchase Agreement dated June 30 2010 by and among SOMA Medical Assessments Corp
ExamWorks Group Inc SOMA Medical Assessments Inc 1495929 Ontario Inc and Troy Cumiskey filed

as Exhibit 10.9 to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on August 13 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.10 Monitoring Fee Agreement dated July 14 2008 by and between ExamWorks Inc and Compass Partners

L.L.C Monitoring Fee Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.10 to Amendment No to ExamWorks

Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17

2010 and incorporated by reference herein
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10.11 Letter Agreement Re Monitoring Fee Agreement dated May 29 2009 filed as Exhibit 10.11 to

Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.12 Amendment to Monitoring Fee Agreement dated January 2010 filed as Exhibit 10.12 to Amendment No
to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission

on September 17 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.13 Letters to RedRidge regarding engagement agreement and increases to the Companys existing credit filed

as Exhibit 10.13 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.14 Form of due diligence letter with RedRidge filed as Exhibit 10.14 to Amendment No to ExamWorks

Registration Statement on Form S-I filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17
2010 and incorporated by reference herein

iO.15 Consulting Agreement dated July 14 2008 by and between CFO Medical Services Inc and Edward

Decter M.D filed as Exhibit 10.15 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form
S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and incorporated by

reference herein

10.1 Consulting Agreement dated July 14 2008 by and between CFO Medical Services Inc and Steven

Robbins M.D filed as Exhibit 10.16 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on Form
S-I filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17 2010 and incorporated by

reference herein

10.1 Administrative Services and Support Agreement dated July 14 2008 by and between CFO Medical

Services Inc and Edward Decter M.D filed as Exhibit 10.17 to Amendment No to ExamWorks

Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17
2010 and incorporated by reference herein

l0.l8 Administrative Services and Support Agreement dated July 14 2008 by and between CFO Medical

Services Inc and Steven Robbins M.D filed as Exhibit 10.18 to Amendment No to ExamWorks

Registration Statement on Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17
2010 and incorporated by reference herein

10.19.1 Credit Agreement dated as of October ii 2010 among ExamWorks Group Inc Delaware corporation

the Guarantors party thereto the Lenders party thereto and Bank of America N.A in its capacity as

administrative agent filed as Exhibit 10.19 to Amendment No to ExamWorks Registration Statement on

Form S-i filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 13 2010 and incorporated by

reference herein

10.19.2 First Amendment and Consent Agreement dated as of May 2011 by and among ExamWorks Group Inc
as Borrower Bank of America N.A as Administrative Agent and the Guarantors and Lenders party

thereto amending Credit Agreement dated as of October 10 2010 filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 10 2011 and incorporated by reference herein

10.19.3 Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of July 2011 by and among ExamWorks Group Inc
as Borrower Bank of America N.A as Administrative Agent and the Guarantors and Lenders party thereto

filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 11 2011 and

incorporated by reference herein

10.19.4 Third Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of February 27 2012 by and among ExamWorks Group

Inc as Borrower Bank of America N.A as Administrative Agent and the Guarantors and Lenders party

thereto

10.20 Sales Finance Agreement Recourse Confidential Invoice Discounting Facility UK Debts dated May 12
2011 by and between Barclays Bank PLC and Premex Services Limited filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 17 2011 and incorporated by reference herein

10.21 Amendment Letter dated May 12 2011 by and between Barclays Bank PLC and Premex Services Limited

filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 17 2011 and

incorporated by reference herein

10.22 Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement dated October 2011 by and among Direct IME Corp
ExamWorks Group Inc DAAL Financial f.k.a Direct IME Direct IME Inc Direct IME Occupational

Therapy Services Inc Eleanor Cumiskey and Greg Cumiskey filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form l0-Q filed with

the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 14 2011 and incorporated by reference herein

10.23 Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement dated October 2011 by and among SOMA Medical

Assessments Corp ExamWorks Group Inc 1742366 Ontario Limited f.k.a SOMA Medical Assessments

Inc 1495929 Ontario Inc and Troy Cumiskey filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Form 10-Q filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission on November 14 2011 and incorporated by reference herein

0.24 Separation and Release Agreement dated May 19 2011 by and between Exam Works Group Inc and Joshua
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Lemaire filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K filed on May 20 2011 and incorporated by reference herein

21.1 List of subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 3a- 14a and 5d- 14a

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 3a- 14a and 5d- 14a
32.1 Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350

l01

Schedules to this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Item 601 b2 of Regulation S-K The Company agrees to

furnish supplementary copies of any omitted schedules to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request

Confidential treatment was granted for certain portions which are omitted in the copy of the exhibit electronically

filed with the SEC The omitted information was filed separately with the SEC pursuant to our application for

confidential treatment

Denotes management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

The Company has not included XBRL exhibits to this Form 10-K in accordance with SEC rules which provide 30

day grace period with respect to registrants first filing containing detailed tagging Within 30 days of the filing of this

report the Company will file an amendment on Form 0-K/A containing the XBRL exhibits including detailed tagging
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SCHEDULE II

EXAMWORKS GROUP INC
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Charged to

Beginning Costs and Ending

Balance Expenses Deductions Acquisitions Balance

Year ended December 31 2009

Allowance for doubtful accounts 301 226 208 113 432

Year ended December 31 2010

Allowance for doubtful accounts 432 173 109 319 815

Year ended December 31 2011

Allowance for doubtful accounts 815 2297 450 2662

All financial statement schedules not listed are omitted because they are inapplicable or the requested

information is shown in the fmancial statements of the Registrant or in the related notes to the consolidated financial

statements
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has

duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2011 to be signed on its behalf by the

undersigned thereunto duly authorized on this 29th day of February 2012

EXAMWORKS GROUP INC

By Is Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Senior Executive Vice President and ChiefFinancial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the

following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title Date

Is/ Richard Perlman Chairman of the Board and Director February 29 2012

Richard Penman

Is James Price Chief Executive Officer and February 29 2012

James Price Director Principal Executive Officer

/s Miguel Fernandez de Castro Chief Financial Officer and Senior February 29 2012

Miguel Fernandez de Castro Executive Vice President Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer

/s Peter Bach Director February 29 2012

Peter Bach

/5/ Peter Graham Director February 29 2012

Peter Graham

/s Thomas Presby Director February 29 2012

Thomas Presby

/s William Shutzer Director February 29 2012

William Shutzer

Is David Zenoff Director February 29 2012

David Zenoff
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Exam Works Group Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of ExamWorks Group Inc and subsidiaries

the Company as of December 31 2010 and 2011 and the related consolidated statements of operations and

comprehensive loss stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December

31 2011 In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements we also have audited the financial

statement schedule included in Item 5a2 These consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are

the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated

financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether

the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence

supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting

principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement

presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the consolidated fmancial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the

financial position of the Company as of December 31 2010 and 2011 and the results of their operations and their cash

flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31 2011 in conformity with U.S generally

accepted accounting principles Also in our opinion the related financial statement schedule when considered in relation

to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as whole presents fairly in all material respects the information

set forth therein

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States ExamWorks Group Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 based on

criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of

the Treadway Commission COSO and our report dated February 29 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion on the

effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting

Is KPMG LLP

Atlanta Georgia

February 29 2012

F-2



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

ExamWorks Group Inc

We have audited ExamWorks Group Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011
based on criteria established in Internal Con frol Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO ExamWorks Group Inc.s management is responsible for

maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal

control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial

Reporting Item 9A.b Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Companys internal control over financial

reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether

effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an

understanding of internal control over fmancial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists and testing

and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audit also

included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit

provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of fmancial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes

those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and

fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that

transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance

with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have

material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls

may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or

procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion ExamWorks Group Inc maintained in all material respects effective internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2011 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

As described in Managements Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under

Item 9A.b of ExamWorks Group Inc.s Annual Report on Form 10-K management has excluded all entities acquired

in purchase business combinations during 2011 except National IME Centres Inc from its assessment of internal

control over fmancial reporting as of December 31 2011 We have also excluded these entities acquired in purchase

business combinations during 2011 from our audit of internal control over financial reporting The total assets and

revenues of these entities represented approximately 18% and 47% respectively of the related consolidated financial

statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31 2011

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the consolidated balance sheets of ExamWorks Group Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31 2010

and 2011 and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss stockholders equity and cash

flows for each of the
years

in the three-year period ended December 31 2011 and our report dated February 29 2012

expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements

Is KPMG LLP

Atlanta Georgia

February 29 2012
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EXAM WORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets

In thousands except share and per share amounts

December 31

2010 2011

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 33624 8416

Accounts receivable net 38638 144041

Other receivables 33 40

Prepaid expenses 2175 4487

Deferred tax assets 68 1640

Other current assets 42 1173

Total current assets 74580 159797

Property equipment and leasehold improvements net 4870 8918

Goodwill 90582 300260

Intangible assets net 66914 146168

Deferred tax assets noncurrent 7669

Deferred financing costs net 4176 11458

Other assets 271 438

Total assets 249062 627039

Liabilities and Stockholders Equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 19999 42642

Accrued expenses 9414 28410

Accrued interest expense 10247

Deferred revenues 272 1332

Current portion of subordinated unsecured notes payable 2312 1932

Current portion of contingent eamout obligation 2478 91

Other current liabilities 3105 5459

Total current liabilities 37580 90113

Senior unsecured notes payable 250000

Senior secured revolving credit facility and working capital facilities 4998 44063

Long-term subordinated unsecured notes payable less current portion 2546 717

Long-term contingent earnout obligation less current portion 2032 86

Deferred tax liability noncurrent 2159

Other long-term liabilities 1666 1977

Total liabilities 48822 389115

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders equity

Preferred stock $0.0001 par value Authorized 50000000 shares no shares issued

and outstanding at December 31 2010 and 2011

Common stock $0.0001 par value Authorized 250000000 shares issued and

outstanding 32216104 and 34090618 shares at December 31 2010 and 2011

respectively

Additional paid-in capital 211861 268162

Accumulated other comprehensive income loss 1216 1429
Accumulated deficit 12840 21549

Treasury stock at cost no shares and 805613 shares outstanding at December 31
2010 and 2011 respectively 7263
Total stockholders equity 200240 237924

Total liabilities and stockholders equity 249062 627039

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated fmancial statements
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EXAM WORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

In thousands except share and per share amounts

For the years ended December 31
2009 2010 2011

Revenues 49634 163511 397860
Costs and expenses

Costs of revenues 32026 103606 262242

Selling general and administrative
expenses 15811 37689 84133

Depreciation and amortization 6889 19505 47439
Total costs and expenses 54726 160800 393814

Income loss from operations 5092 2711 4046
Interest and other expenses net

Interest expense net 1807 8178 15480

Loss on early extinguishment of debt 461 3169 621

Loss gain on interest rate swap 343 42 328
Realized foreign currency gain loss 156 688

Total interest and other expenses net 1925 11233 16461

Loss before income taxes 7017 8522 12415
Income tax benefit 2613 2484 4082

Net loss 4404 6038 8333

Per share data

Net loss
per

share

Basic and diluted 0.42 0.33 0.25

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding

Basic and diluted 10479155 18500859 33975658

Comprehensive Loss

Net loss 4404 6038 8333
Foreign currency translation adjustments 1216 2645

Total comprehensive loss 4404 4822 10978

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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EXAM WORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity

In thousands except share amounts

Balances at December31 2008

Issuance of common stock net of

related costs for cash

Issuance of common stock for

acquisitions

Share-based compensation

Net loss

Balances at December31 2009

Issuance of preferred stock net of

related costs for cash

Issuance of common stock in

exchange for preferred stock 4975180 33000 4975180

Issuance of common stock in public

offering net of issuance costs 9290114

Issuance of common stock net of

related costs for cash and

services

Issuance of common stock net of

related costs for termination of

agreement

Issuance of common stock net of

related costs to settle earnout

obligations

Issuance of common stock for

acquisitions

Issuance of common stock for the

exercise of options and warrants

Issuance of common stock for board

services

Share-based compensation

Excess tax benefit on share-based

compensation

Net loss

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation

adjustments

Balances at December 31 2010

Issuance of common stock for

acquisitions

Issuance of common stock for the

exercise of options and warrants

Issuance of common stock from

treasury for acquisitions

Issuance of common stock for

services

Issuance of common stock net of

related costs to settle earnout

obligations

Share-based compensation

Net loss

Other comprehensive loss

Foreign currency translation

adjustments

Stock repurchases under stock

repurchase programs

Other

Balances at December 31 2011

2645 2645

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

210204 560

2123578 3503

33000

133694

Series Accumulated

convertible Treasury Additional other Total

preferred stock Common stock stock paid-in comprehensive Accumulated stockholders

Shares Amount Shares Amount Amount capital income loss deficit equity

10023160 22921 2398$ 20523

560

3503
218 218

4404 4404
12356942 27202 6802 20400

4975180 33000 579 32421

2966

1434

576

10075 10076

703

1816 1816

974 974

6038 6038

1464392

739506

2966

133695

1434

103947 576

3035851

199699 703

50473

1216 1216

32216104 211861 1216 12840 200240

2098038 45386 45386

479423 2292 2292

202999 2158 376 1788

44908

57758 808 808

7834 7834

8333 8333

1008612 9421 9421
25 25

34090618 7263$ 268162 l429$ 21549$ 237924
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EXAMWORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

In thousands

For the years ended December 31

2009 2010 2011

Operating activities

Net loss 4404 6038 8333
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities

Gain loss on interest rate swap 343 42 328
Depreciation and amortization 6889 19505 47439

Amortization of deferred rent 71 61 450
Share-based compensation 218 1816 7834

Excess tax benefit related to share-based compensation 974
Provision for doubtful accounts 226 173 2297

Amortization of deferred financing costs 132 872 1941

Loss on early extinguishment of debt 461 3169 621

Deferred income taxes 2723 5406 6364
Other 10

Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of effects of acquisitions

Accounts receivable 1100 2098 9047
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 141 560 1801
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 2982 5946 1907
Accrued interest expense 59 10240

Deferred revenue and customer deposits 270 917 169
Other liabilities 1828 1714 2.430

Net cash provided by operating activities 4177 18303 39543

Investing activities

Cash paid for acquisitions net 25707 115225 322248

Purchases of equipment and leasehold improvements 1559 1730 6856
Working capital

and other settlements for acquisitions 1491 418 6710
Net cash used in investing activities 25775 116537 335814

Financing activities

Borrowings under credit facilities 40134 67315 278000

Borrowings under senior unsecured notes payable 250000

Net borrowings under working capital facilities 4997 35621

Proceeds from the exercise of options and warrants 703 2292

Excess tax benefit related to share-based compensation 974

Issuance of preferred stock net 32421

Issuance of common stock net 560 136660

Advances repayments from related party notes 3500 3500
Repayment of subordinated unsecured notes payable 345 2167 2421
Purchases of stock for treasury 9421
Payment of deferred financing costs 1817 6534 9746
Repayment under credit facilities 20138 100550 273000

Other 440
Net cash provided by financing activities 21894 130319 270885

Exchange rate impact on cash and cash equivalents 40 178

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents 296 32125 25208
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 1203 1499 33624

Cash and cash equivalents end of year 1499 33624 8416

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities

Issuance of common stock for acquisitions 3503 10075 47174

Issuance of subordinated unsecured notes payable for acquisitions 5512 1747

Issuance of deferred payments for acquisitions 389

Issuance of common stock to settle earnout obligations 576 808

Issuance of common stock for termination of agreement 1434

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information

Cash paid for interest 1332 4994 5447

Cash paid for income taxes 207 231 4061

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated fmancial statements
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EXAMWORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 2009 2010 and 2011

Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation

ExamWorks Group Inc ExamWorks or the Company is leading provider of independent medical

examinations IME5 peer and bill reviews and related services IME services or the IME industry ExamWorks

Inc was incorporated as Delaware corporation on April 27 2007 In 2008 ExamWorks Inc acquired three companies

operating in the independent medical examination IME industry In 2009 ExamWorks Inc acquired 11 other IME

companies including provider of software solutions to the IME industry In 2010 ExamWorks Inc acquired 14

additional IME companies In 2011 ExamWorks Inc acquired nine other IME companies As of December 31 2011

ExamWorks Inc operates out of 45 service centers serving all 50 United States Canada and the United Kingdom In

June 2010 ExamWorks Inc effected corporate reorganization creating holding company ExamWorks Group Inc

with ExamWorks Inc becoming wholly-owned subsidiary of ExamWorks Group Inc In the fourth quarter of 2010

the Company completed an Initial Public Offering IPO of 9.3 million shares of common stock

The consolidated fmancial statements include the accounts of ExamWorks its wholly-owned subsidiaries and

other entities controlled by ExamWorks Significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in

consolidation Certain prior year amounts in the consolidated fmancial statements and notes thereto have been

reclassified to conform to the current years presentation

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Stock Split

On October 12 2010 the Board of Directors approved an amended and restated certificate of incorporation that

effected stock split of
every outstanding shares of preferred stock and common stock into 5.1411 shares of preferred

stock or common stock respectively The par value of the common and convertible preferred stock was not adjusted as

result of the stock split All issued and outstanding common stock convertible preferred stock warrants and options for

common stock and per share amounts contained in the financial statements have been retroactively adjusted to reflect

this stock split for all periods presented The Board of Directors also approved an increase in the authorized capital to

250.0 million shares of common stock and 50.0 million shares of preferred stock

Use of Estimates

The preparation of fmancial statements in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues

and expenses during the reporting period Management bases its estimates on certain assumptions which they believe are

reasonable in the circumstances and actual results could differ from those estimates The more significant estimates

reflected in these consolidated fmancial statements include the valuation of equity issued prior to the Companys IPO

purchase price allocations useful lives of intangible assets potential impairment of goodwill and intangible assets the

allowance for doubtful accounts and the valuation of share-based compensation and derivative instruments

Foreign Currencies

Assets and liabilities recorded in foreign currencies are translated into U.S dollars at the exchange rate on the

balance sheet date Revenues and expenses are translated at average rates of exchange prevailing during the year

Translation adjustments resulting from this
process are recorded to other comprehensive income and are reported net of

the effect of income taxes on the consolidated financial statements For the years ended December 31 2010 and 2011
the income tax expense benefit related to foreign currency translation was $844000 and $960000 respectively For

the year ended December 31 2009 all of the Companys assets and liabilities were denominated in U.S dollars

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when

purchased to be cash equivalents The Company had no cash equivalents as of December 31 2010 and 2011
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EXAMWORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 20092010 and 2011

Accounts Receivable andAllowancefor DoubtfulAccounts

Accounts receivable consist of amounts owed to the Company for services provided in the normal course of

business and are reported net of allowance for doubtful accounts which amounted to $815000 and $2.7 million as of

December 31 2010 and 2011 respectively Generally no collateral is received from customers and additions to the

allowance are based on ongoing credit evaluations of customers with general credit experience being within the range of

managements expectations Accounts are reviewed regularly for collectability and those deemed uncollectible are

written off

Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Company routinely assesses the fmancial strength of its customers and establishes an allowance for

doubtful accounts based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of specific customers historical trends and other

information For the year ended December 31 2009 11% of total revenues were associated with one customer For the

year ended December 31 2010 and December 31 2011 no individual customer accounted for more than 10% of

revenues At December 31 2010 and 2011 there were no individual customers that accounted for greater than 10% of

the accounts receivable balance

As of December 31 2011 the Company had cash and cash equivalents totaling approximately $8.4 million

These amounts were held for future acquisition and working capital purposes and were held in non-interest bearing

accounts of which $5.9 million were held in the U.S The U.S amounts are insured in full against bank failure through

June 30 2012 under the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program

Property Equipment and Leasehold Improvements

Property equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded at cost Depreciation is computed using the

straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets and accelerated methods for income tax

purposes Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of their expected useful life or the remaining lease term

Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred

Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets Subsections of Financial Accounting

Standards Board FASB ASC Subtopic 360-10 ASC 360 Properly Plant and Equipment Overall long-lived

assets such as equipment and purchased intangible assets subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable If

circumstances require long-lived asset or asset group be tested for possible impairment the Company first compares

undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by that asset or asset group to its carrying value If the carrying value

of the long-lived asset or asset group is not recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow basis an impairment is recognized

to the extent that the carrying value exceeds its fair value Fair value is determined through various valuation techniques

including discounted cash flow models quoted market values and third-party independent appraisals as considered

necessary At December 31 2010 and 2011 no impairment was noted
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EXAM WORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 20092010 and 2011

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill is an asset representing the future economic benefits arising from assets acquired in business

combination that are not individually identified and separately recognized Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least

annually in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 350 Intangibles Goodwill and Other ASC 350
The goodwill impairment test is two-step test Under the first step the fair value of the reporting unit is compared with

its canying value including goodwill If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value an indication

of goodwill impairment exists for the reporting unit and the enterprise must perform step two of the impainnent test

measurement Under step two an impainnent loss is recognized for any excess of the carrying amount of the reporting

units goodwill over the implied fair value of that goodwill The implied fair value of goodwill is determined by

allocating the fair value of the reporting unit in manner similar to purchase price allocation and the residual fair value

after this allocation is the implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill Fair value of the reporting unit is determined

using discounted cash flow analysis If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value step two does not

need to be performed

The Company performed its annual impairment review of goodwill in October of 2010 and 2011 and it was

determined that the carrying amount of goodwill was not impaired and there have been no subsequent developments that

would indicate impairment exists as of December 31 2011 The goodwill impairment review will continue to be

performed annually or more frequently if facts and circumstances warrant review

ASC 350 also requires that intangible assets with definite lives be amortized over their estimated useful lives

Currently customer relationships trade names covenants not-to-compete and technology are amortized using the

straight-line method over estimated useful lives

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred fmancing costs totaling $1.7 million were incurred in December 2009 in connection with the

Companys previous credit facility with Fifth Third Bank Fifth Third Credit Facility and were to be amortized to

interest expense over the three-year term of the facility using the straight-line method which approximates the effective

interest method In the first ten months of 2010 an additional $2.1 million of deferred financing costs were incurred as

the Company expanded its borrowing availability under the Fifth Third Credit Facility The Fifth Third Credit facility

was repaid in November 2010 with proceeds generated from the IPO In connection with this early retirement of debt

the Company recognized debt extinguishment costs of approximately $3.2 million in 2010 for the unamortized portion of

the loan costs The debt extinguishment costs were recorded as other interest expense in accordance with ASC topic

470 Debt ASC 470

In November 2010 the Company entered in to new senior secured revolving credit facility with Bank of

America N.A Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility see Note 10 and has incurred deferred fmancing costs of

$7.4 million $4.4 million of which were incurred in 2010 and $3.0 million of which were incurred in the year
ended

December 31 2011 In July 2011 the Company reduced the aggregate revolving commitments under the Senior Secured

Revolving Credit Facility by $37.5 million for maximum commitment of $262.5 million In conjunction with this

reduction the Company recognized debt extinguishment costs of approximately $621000 in July 2011 for the

unamortized portion of the loan costs which were recorded as other interest expense Additionally in July 2011 the

Company closed private offering of $250.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 9.0% senior notes due 2019

Senior Unsecured Notes and incurred deferred fmancing costs of $6.7 million associated therewith

The deferred fmancing costs associated with the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility and the Senior

Unsecured Notes will be amortized to interest expense over the five-year term of the facility as amended and the eight-

year term of the notes respectively using the straight-line method which approximates the effective interest method

For the years
ended December 31 2009 2010 and 2011 the Company amortized $132000 $872000 and $1.9

million to interest expense respectively
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EXAMWORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 2009 2010 and 2011

Deferred Rents

The Company entered into various leases for offices that have certain escalation clauses or other features which

require rental expense to be recognized on straight-line basis over the life of the lease At December 31 2010 and

2011 the deferred rent balance was $681000 and $1.5 million respectively and is included in other current and long-

term liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets

Revenue Recognition

Revenue related to IMEs peer reviews bill reviews and administrative support services is recognized at the

time services have been performed and the report is shipped to the end user The Company believes that recognizing

revenue at the time the report is shipped is appropriate because the Companys revenue policies meet the following four

criteria in accordance with ASC 605-10-S25 Revenue Recognition Overall persuasive evidence that arrangement

exists ii shipment has occurred iii the price is fixed and determinable and iv collectability is reasonably assured

The Company reports revenues net of any sales use and value added taxes

Revenue related to other IME services including litigation support services and medical record retrieval

services where no report is generated is recognized at the time the service is performed The Company believes that

recognizing revenue at the time the service is performed is appropriate because the Companys revenue policies meet the

following four criteria in accordance with ASC 605-l0-S25 persuasive evidence that arrangement exists ii services

have been rendered iiithe price is fixed and determinable and iv collectability is reasonably assured

Certain agreements with customers in the U.K include provisions whereby collection of the amounts billed are

contingent on the favorable outcome of the claim The Company has deemed these provisions to preclude revenue

recognition at the time of sale as collectability is not reasonably assured and the sales are contingent and is deferring

these revenues net of estimated costs until the case has been settled and the contingency has been resolved There was

no deferral related to contingent revenues as of December 31 2010 For the year ended December 31 2011 the

Company had deferred $2.6 million in contingent revenues and $1.6 million in costs associated with the contingent

revenues

Should changes in conditions cause management to determine these criteria are not met for certain future

transactions revenue recognized for any reporting period could be adversely affected

Costs of Revenues

Costs of revenues are comprised of fees paid to members of the Companys medical panel other direct costs

including transcription film and medical record obtainment and transportation and other indirect costs including labor

and overhead related to the generation of revenues

Shipping and Handling Costs

Shipping and handling charges billed to customers are recorded as revenue the corresponding costs are

included in costs of revenues

Marketing and Advertising Costs

Marketing and advertising costs are expensed as incurred and amounted to $448000 $1.2 million and $2.2

million for the years ended December 31 2009 2010 and 2011 respectively and are included in SGA expenses in the

accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations
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Accounting for Leases

The Company leases office space under operating lease agreements with original lease periods of up to 10

years Certain of the lease agreements contain renewal and rent escalation provisions Rent escalation provisions are

considered in determining straight-line rent expense to be recorded over the lease term The lease term begins on the date

of initial possession of the lease property for purposes of recognizing lease expense on straight-line basis over the term

of the lease Lease renewal periods are considered on lease-by-lease basis and are generally not included in the initial

lease term Landlord allowances for improvements to leaseholds are included in property and equipment and offset by

corresponding deferred rent credit The Company amortizes the leasehold improvements over the shorter of the life of

the improvements or the life of the lease The deferred rent credit is included in other liabilities current and long term in

the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets and will be amortized as reduction of rent expense over the term of the

applicable lease

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts

of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards Deferred

tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years

in which

those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of

change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date The Company applies the

provisions of FASB Interpretation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainly in Income Taxes included in FASB ASC

Subtopic 740-10 Income Taxes Overall and recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are

more likely than not of being sustained Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is

greater than 50% likely of being realized Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the

change in judgment occurs Prior to the adoption of FASB Interpretation No 48 the Company recognized the effect of

income tax positions only if such positions were probable of being sustained

The Company records interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense

Loss Per Common Share

Basic loss per
share is calculated by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of common shares

outstanding during each period Diluted loss per common share is calculated by dividing net loss adjusted on an as if

converted basis by the weighted-average number of actual shares outstanding and when dilutive the share equivalents

that would arise from the assumed conversion of convertible instruments The effect of potentially dilutive stock options

and warrants is calculated using the treasury stock method

For the year ended December 31 2009 the potentially dilutive securities include options exercisable into 1.3

million shares of common stock and 219000 shares of common stock issuable to settle the equity component of an

eamout obligation For the year
ended December 31 2010 the potentially dilutive securities include options and

warrants exercisable into 5.5 million shares of common stock 113000 shares of common stock issuable to settle the

equity component of an earnout obligation and 135000 shares of common stock issuable at the holders option to settle

subordinated unsecured note For the year ended December 31 2011 the potentially dilutive securities include options

and warrants exercisable into 7.8 million shares of common stock and 68000 shares of common stock issuable at the

holders option to settle subordinated unsecured note

For the years ended December 31 2009 2010 and 2011 all of the potentially dilutive securities were excluded

from the calculation of shares applicable to loss per share because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive
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Share-Based Compensation

The Company has an Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan as amended the Plan that provides

for granting of stock options The Company accounts for share-based awards in accordance with ASC Topic 718

Compensation Stock Compensation ASC 718 ASC 718 requires measurement of compensation cost for all share-

based awards at fair value on the grant date or measurement date if different and recognition of compensation expense

net of forfeitures over the requisite service period for awards expected to vest

The fair value of stock option grants is determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model The Black-Scholes

option-pricing model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions

and are fully transferable characteristics not present in these employee stock options Additionally option valuation

models require the input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected volatility of the stock price Because

the Companys employee stock options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options and

because changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimates in managements

opinion the existing models may not provide reliable single measure of the fair value of its share-based awards

The Companys expected volatility assumptions are based on the Companys peer group average implied

volatility for 2009 and 2010 and are based upon the Companys peer group median implied volatility for 2011 Expected

life assumptions for 2009 and the first three quarters of 2010 are based upon the average of the simplified method as

described in Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No 107 which is the midpoint between the

vesting date and the end of the contractual term and the contractual term of the option in accordance with ASC 718

which states that if no amount within the range is more or less likely than any other amount an average of the range its

expected value should be used for those options issued significantly out-of-the-money or the simplified method for

those options issued in the fourth quarter of 2010 and the full year of 2011 which were determined to be issued

approximately at-the-money The risk-free interest rate was selected based upon yields of U.S Treasury issues with

term equal to the expected life of the option being valued

The assumptions utilized for stock option grants during 2009 2010 and 2011 were as follows

2009 2010 2011

Volatility 45.06 47.87% 40.08 44.31% 35.79 44.46%

Expected life years 8.00 6.50 8.00 6.00

Risk-free interest rate 2.643.30% 1.623.53% 1.21 2.54%

Dividend yield

Fairvalue 0.66 1.02 0.634.32 3.399.28

In 2009 and 2010 the Company issued 772239 and 4172687 stock option awards respectively to employees

and non-employee directors The weighted average
fair value of each stock option was $0.79 and $2.06 per option

respectively and the aggregate fair value was $614000 and $8.6 million respectively The majority of these awards vest

over three-year period with the remaining awards vesting 50% over the earlier of 18 months or the IPO period of

months and 50% over 12 month period following the IPO provided the individual remains in the employment of the

Company as of the vesting date Additionally all these options could vest earlier in the event of change in control or

merger or other acquisition and 1810166 of these options could vest earlier in the event of an IPO In the fourth quarter

of 2010 in conjunction with the completed IPO the Company accelerated the vesting on all eligible outstanding stock

options and recorded an additional $694000 in share-based compensation expense related to the change in vesting term

Share-based compensation expense was $218000 and $1.7 million for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2010

respectively all of which was recorded in selling general and administrative SGA expenses
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In 2011 the Company issued 3173900 stock option awards to employees and non-employee directors The

weighted average fair value of each stock option was $7.69 per option and the aggregate fair value was $24.4 million

All of these awards vest over three-year period Additionally all these options could vest earlier in the event of

change in control or merger or other acquisition Share-based compensation expense
related to the awards was $7.4

million for the year ended December 31 2011 of which $2.0 million was included in costs of revenues and $5.4 million

was recorded in SGA expenses

At December 31 2010 and 2011 the unrecognized compensation expense related to stock option grants was

$7.3 million and $22.9 million respectively with remaining weighted average life of 2.1 and 1.7 years respectively

summary of option activity for the years ended December 31 2009 2010 and 2011 follows

Weighted

Weighted average

average remaining Aggregate

Number of exercise contractual intrinsic

options price life value

Outstanding at December 31 2008 817116 2.80

Options granted 772239 3.20

Options forfeited 265573 2.89

Options exercised

Outstanding at December 31 2009 1323782 3.02

Options granted 4172687 8.45

Options forfeited 242633 6.88

Options exercised 195311 3.50

Outstanding at December 31 2010 5058525 7.29

Options granted 3173900 19.64

Options forfeited 402220 12.22

Options exercised 458901 5.00
__________ __________

Outstanding at December 31 2011 7371304 12.48 8.66 years $12725000

Exercisable at December 31 2011 2281246 6.06 7.83 years 8745000

Expected to vest after December 31 2011 4682853 15.36 9.04
years 3669000

Aggregate intrinsic value represents the value of the Companys closing stock price on the last trading day of

the fiscal period in excess of the weighted average exercise price multiplied by the number of options outstanding or

exercisable Options expected to vest are unvested shares net of expected forfeitures The total intrinsic value of stock

options exercised was approximately $2.4 million and $7.4 million during the years ended December 31 2010 and 2011

respectively There were no option exercises in 2009 There were 234845 options exercisable as of December 31 2009

with weighted average exercise price of $2.81 and 1795615 options exercisable as of December 31 2010 with

weighted average exercise price of $4.19

During the years
ended December 31 2010 and 2011 the Company issued 50473 and 31200 shares of

restricted stock respectively to certain non-employee members of the Board of Directors as compensation for services

provided during the year These shares of restricted stock had weighted average fair value of $3.75 and $13.62 per

share respectively and the aggregate fair value was $189000 and $425000 respectively The fair value of these awards

was based upon an estimate of fair value or the market price of the underlying common stock as of the date of the grant

for those issued following the IPO The restriction on these shares expires after one-year period provided the individual

remains in the service of the Company as of that date Additionally the restriction on these shares could expire earlier in

the event of change in control or merger or other acquisition For the years ended December 31 2010 and 2011 share

based compensation expense related to these awards was $88000 and $279000 respectively At December 31 2010 and

2011 the unrecognized compensation expense related to shares of restricted stock is $102000 and $248000

respectively with remaining weighted average
life of 0.6 years
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During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company issued 24934 restricted stock units to certain

employees and outside consultants These restricted stock units had weighted average fair value of $14.04 per unit and

the aggregate fair value was $350000 The fair value of these awards was based upon an estimate of fair value or the

market price of the underlying common stock as of the date of the grant for those issued following the IPO These

awards vest over two- or three-year period provided the individual remains in the service of the Company as of the

vesting date Additionally these restricted stock units could vest earlier in the event of change in control or merger or

other acquisition Of these restricted stock units none were vested as of December 31 2010 and 13708 shares have been

issued for vested units as of December 31 2011 and the remaining shares will be issued at the date of vesting For the

years ended December 31 2010 and 2011 share-based compensation expense related to these awards was $61000 and

$177000 respectively At December 31 2010 and 2011 the unrecognized compensation expense related to restricted

stock units is $289000 and $112000 respectively with remaining weighted average life of 1.7 and 0.7 years

respectively

On January 2012 the Company issued approximately 2.2 million stock option awards to certain employees in

conjunction with 2012 incentive compensation plan The weighted average fair value of each stock option was $4.23

per option and the aggregate fair value was $9.3 million All of these awards vest over three-year period and could vest

earlier in the event of change in control or merger or other acquisition Share-based compensation expense related to

these awards will be recorded over the three year vesting period

Fair Value Measurements

In September 2006 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC Topic 820 Fair Value

Measurements and Disclosures ASC 820 ASC 820 defines fair value establishes framework for measuring fair

value in U.S generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosure about fair value measurements ASC 820

is effective for interim reporting periods in fiscal
years beginning after November 15 2007 The Company adopted the

applicable provisions of ASC 820 effective January 2008

ASC Topic 825 Financial Instruments ASC 825 delayed the effective date of the application of ASC 820

to fiscal years beginning after November 15 2008 for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities that are

recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on nonrecurring basis Nonrecurring nonfinancial assets

and nonfinancial liabilities for which the Company has not applied the provisions of ASC 820 primarily include those

measured at fair value in goodwill and long-lived asset impairment testing those initially measured at fair value in

business combination and nonfmancial liabilities for exit or disposal activities

ASC 820 defmes fair value as the price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer liability an exit

price in the principal most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market

participants on the measurement date ASC 820 establishes fair value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in

measuring fair value into the following levels

In determining fair value the Company utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs

and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible as well as consider counterpart credit risk in its

assessment of fair value

Level Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly or indirectly

Level Unobservable inputs based on the companys own assumptions
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The Companys financial liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis are categorized using

the fair value hierarchy at December 31 2010 and 2011 and are as follows in thousands

Level Level Level Total

As of December 31 2010

Financial liabilities

Interest rate swap 654 654

Contingent consideration 6202 6202

As of December 31 2011

Financial liabilities

Interest rate swap 326 326

Contingent consideration 1621 1621

The fair value of the interest rate swap is determined using observable market inputs such as current interest

rates and considers nonperformance risk of the Company and that of its counterparties

The contingent consideration relates to earnout provisions recorded in conjunction with certain acquisitions

completed in 2009 and 2010 see Note Of the total decrease in fair value of the contingent consideration of $4.6

million in 2011 $506000 was settled as cash consideration to satisf installments related to 2009 and 2010 acquisitions

58000 shares of our common stock were issued with fair value of $808000 to settle an earnout related to 2009

acquisition approximately $222000 was recorded in SGA expenses and approximately $1.2 million was recorded in

interest and other expenses net in the Consolidated Statements of Operations due to changes in the fair value of the

contingent consideration Additionally in the third quarter of 2011 we and the sellers of certain Canadian subsidiaries

agreed to terminate the clawback and earnout provisions in the acquisition agreements As result we recorded

reduction to contingent consideration of $1.9 million in the third quarter of 2011 This reduction is included in SGA

expenses
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations

In February 2007 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC 825 which permits entities to

choose to measure many fmancial instruments and certain other items at fair value This provision of ASC 825 is

effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15 2007 As the Company did not elect the fair value option the

adoption of this provision of ASC 825 did not have material impact on the Companys consolidated fmancial position

results of operations and cash flows for the years ended December 31 2009 2010 and 2011

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss consists of two components net loss and other comprehensive income loss Other

comprehensive income loss refers to revenues expenses gains and losses that under GAAP are recorded as

component of stockholders equity but are excluded from net loss The Companys other comprehensive income loss

consists of foreign currency translation adjustments from those business units not using the U.S dollar as their functional

currency
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2006 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC Topic 740 Income Taxes ASC 740
which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprises fmancial statements ASC
740 also prescribes recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and

measurement of tax position taken or expected to be taken in tax return In addition ASC 740 provides guidance on

derecognition classification interest and penalties accounting in interim periods disclosure and transition ASC 740

deferred adoption for most nonpublic enterprises to annual periods beginning after December 15 2008 The Company
pursuant to ASC 740 elected to defer its application until its required effective date of January 2009 The Companys

policy for evaluating uncertain tax positions prior to the adoption of ASC 740 has been to provide for income taxes based

on positions taken on the Companys tax return with reserves established for uncertain positions based on the guidance

established by ASC Topic 450 Contingencies The Company adopted the provisions of ASC 740 effective January

2009 and the adoption did not have material impact on the Companys consolidated financial position results of

operations and cash flows for the years ended December 31 2009 2010 and 2011

In December 2007 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC Topic 805 Business Combinations

ASC 805 ASC 805 changes accounting for business combinations through requirement to recognize 100% of the

fair values of assets acquired liabilities assumed and noncontrolling interests in acquisitions of less than 100%

controlling interest when the acquisition constitutes change in control of the acquired entity Other requirements

include capitalization of acquired in-process research and development assets expensing as incurred acquisition-related

transaction costs and capitalizing restructuring charges as part of the acquisition only if requirements of ASC 420 Exit

or Disposal Cost Obligations are met ASC 805 is effective for business combination transactions for which the

acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15 2008

The Company adopted ASC 805 effective January 2009 and applied the principles contained in this standard to all

acquisitions that were completed after this date The Companys consolidated financial position results of operations and

cash flows for the years ended December 31 2009 2010 and 201 ireflect the adoption of ASC 805

In March 2008 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC Topic 815 Derivatives and Hedging

ASC 815 ASC 815 requires additional disclosures about the objectives of the derivative instruments and hedging

activities the method of accounting for such instruments and tabular disclosure of the effects of such instruments and

related hedged items on the Companys financial position results of operations and cash flows ASC 815 is effective for

financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15 2008 with early adoption

encouraged The Company adopted ASC 815 effective January 2009 and the adoption did not have material impact

on the Companys consolidated financial position results of operations and cash flows for the years ended December 31

2009 2010 and 2011

In April 2008 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC 350 which is effective for all fiscal

years and interim periods beginning after December 15 2008 Early adoption of the provisions of ASC 350 is not

permitted ASC 350 requires additional footnote disclosures about the impact of the Companys ability or intent to renew

or extend agreements related to existing intangibles or expected future cash flows from those intangibles how the

Company accounts for costs incurred to renew or extend such agreements the time until the next renewal or extension

period by asset class and the amount of renewal or extension costs capitalized if any For any intangibles acquired after

January 2009 ASC 350 requires that the Company consider its experience regarding renewal and extensions of similar

arrangements in determining the useful life If the Company does not have experience with similar arrangements ASC
350 requires that the Company use the assumptions of market participant putting the intangible to its highest and best

use in determining the useful life The Company adopted the provisions of ASC 350 effective January 2009 and the

adoption did not have material impact on the Companys consolidated financial position results of operations and cash

flows for the years ended December 31 2009 2010 and 2011
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In May 2009 the FASB issued authoritative guidance codified as ASC Topic 855 Subsequent Events ASC
855 ASC 855 requires that an entity shall recognize in the fmancial statements the effects of all subsequent events that

provide additional evidence about conditions that existed at the date of the balance sheet including the estimates inherent

in the process of preparing fmancial statements ASC 855 defines two types of subsequent events recognized

subsequent events and nonrecognized subsequent events Recognized subsequent events provide additional evidence

about conditions that existed at the balance sheet date and must be reflected in the companys fmancial statements

Nonrecognized subsequent events provide evidence about conditions that arose after the balance sheet date and are not

reflected in the financial statements of company ASC 855 is effective for interim or annual financial periods ending

after June 15 2009 and is to be applied prospectively The Company adopted the provisions of ASC 855 during the year

ended December 31 2009 The adoption of the provisions of ASC 855 did not have material effect on the Companys
consolidated financial condition results of operations and cash flows for the years ended December 31 2009 2010 and

2011

In June 2009 the FASB issued ASC Topic 105 Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Brief History

ASC 105 ASC 105 will supersede existing non-SEC accounting and reporting standards The codification will not

change GAAP but will rather organize it into new hierarchy with two levels authoritative and nonauthoritative All

authoritative GAAP will carry equal weight and be organized in topical structure ASC 105 is effective for interim and

annual reporting periods ending after September 15 2009 The Company adopted the provisions of ASC 105 for the

years ended December 31 2009 2010 and 2011 The adoption of the provisions of ASC 105 did not have material

effect on the Companys consolidated financial condition results of operations and cash flows

In October 2009 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ASU 2009-13 ASU 2009-13

addressing revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables The new guidance establishes selling price hierarchy for

determining the selling price of deliverable eliminates the residual method of allocation requires the allocation of

arrangement consideration to all deliverables using the relative selling price method and significantly expands disclosure

requirements The guidance is effective prospectively for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in

fiscal years beginning on or after June 15 2010 The Company adopted the provisions of ASU 2009-13 effective January

2011 and this adoption did not have material impact on its consolidated financial position results of operations and

cash flows

In January 2010 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ASU 2010-06 Fair Value Measurements

and Disclosure This update provides amendments to Codification topic Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures

which require new disclosures about transfers in and out of Levels and and the reasons for the transfers as well as

reconciliation for fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs Level The update is effective for

interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15 2009 Adoption of this update did not have material

impact on the Companys consolidated fmancial condition results of operations and cash flows

Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In May 2011 the FASB issued ASU 2011-04 Fair Value Measurement Topic 820 Amendments to Achieve

Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in US GAAP and IFRS This ASU represents the

converged guidance of the FASB and the International Accounting Standards Board on fair value measurement These

amendments have resulted in common requirements for measuring fair value and for disclosing information about fair

value measurements including consistent meaning of the term fair value The common requirements are expected to

result in greater comparability of fair value measurements presented and disclosed in financial statements prepared in

accordance with U.S GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards The amendments are to be applied

prospectively and are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2011 The Company plans to adopt these

provisions in the first quarter of 2012 Adoption of these provisions is not expected to have material impact on the

Companys consolidated financial statements
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In June and December 2011 the FASB issued ASU No 20 11-05 Comprehensive Income Topic 220
Presentation of Comprehensive Income ASU 2011-05 and ASU 2011-12 Deferral of the Effective Date for

Amendments to the Presentation of Reclass/Ications of Items Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in

Accounting Standards Update No 2011-05 ASC 220 Comprehensive Income respectively These update amend ASC

Topic 220 Comprehensive Income to provide that total comprehensive income will be reported in one continuous

statement or two separate but consecutive statements of fmancial performance Presentation of total comprehensive

income in the statement of stockholders equity or the footnotes will no longer be allowed The calculation of net income

and basic and diluted net income per share will not be affected These ASUs are effective for fiscal years and interim

periods within those years beginning on or after December 15 2011 Retrospective adoption is required and early

adoption is permitted The Company plans to adopt these provisions in the first quarter of 2012 and does not believe that

adoption of ASU 2011-05 will have significant impact on its financial position results of operations or cash flows

In September 2011 FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ASU No 2011-08 Intangibles-Goodwill

and Other Topic 350 Testing Goodwill for Impairment This ASU is intended to simplify goodwill impairment testing

by adding qualitative review step to assess whether the required quantitative impairment analysis that exists today is

necessary
The fair value calculation for goodwill will not be required unless the Company concludes based on the

qualitative assessment that it is more likely than not that the fair value of reporting unit is less than its book value If

such decline in fair value is deemed more likely than not to have occurred then the quantitative goodwill impairment

test that exists under current GAAP must be completed otherwise goodwill is deemed to be not impaired and no further

testing is required until the next annual test date or sooner if conditions or events before that date raise concerns of

potential impainnent in the business The amended goodwill impairment guidance does not affect the manner in which

company estimates fair value The new standard is effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed

for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2011 with early adoption permitted Adoption of these provisions is not

expected to have material impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements

Acquisitions

ExamWorks operates in highly fragmented industry and has completed numerous acquisitions since July 14

2008 key component of ExamWorks acquisition strategy is growth through acquisitions that expand its geographic

coverage that provide new or complementary lines of business expand its portfolio of services and that increase its

market share

The Company has accounted for all business combinations using the purchase method to record new cost

basis for the assets acquired and liabilities assumed The Company recorded based on preliminary purchase price

allocation intangible assets representing client relationships tradenames covenants not to compete and technology and

the excess of purchase price over the estimated fair value of the tangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed and the

separately recognized intangible assets has been recorded as goodwill in the accompanying consolidated financial

statements The goodwill is attributable to synergies achieved through the streamlining of operations combined with

improved margins attainable through increased market presence The results of operations are reflected in the

consolidated financial statements of the Company from the date of acquisition

2008 Acquisitions

On July 14 2008 ExamWorks completed the acquisitions of CFO Medical Services Inc Crossland Medical

Review Services Inc Southwest Medical Exam Services Inc Diagnostic Imaging Institute Inc Pacific Billing

Services Inc and Southwest Medical Exam Services of Louisiana LLC enabling the Company to provide IME services

in the New Jersey New York and Texas areas

CFO Medical Services Acquisition

On July 14 2008 CFO Medical Services Inc CFOmerged into wholly-owned subsidiary of ExamWorks

for $13.6 million comprised of $7.1 million cash consideration including transaction costs of $220000 less cash

acquired of $335000 and 2351004 shares of the Companys common stock with an estimated fair value of $6.6

million The CFO acquisition enabled the Company to commence its operations in New Jersey
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Crossland Medical Review Services Acquisition

On July 14 2008 ExamWorks acquired 100% of the outstanding common stock of Crossland Medical Review

Services Inc Crossland for $6.2 million comprised of $5.7 million cash consideration including transaction costs of

$98000 less cash acquired of $557000 and 356211 shares of the Companys common stock with an estimated fair

value of $1.0 million The Crossland acquisition enabled the Company to expand operations in New York

Southwest Medical Examination Services Acquisitions

On July 14 2008 ExamWorks acquired 100% of the outstanding common stock of Southwest Medical

Examination Services Inc Diagnostic Imaging Institute Inc Pacific Billing Services Inc and Southwest Medical

Exam Services of Louisiana LLC collectively known as the Southwest Medical acquisition for $12.2 million

comprised of $9.1 million cash consideration including transactions costs of $171000 less cash acquired of $260000
and 1146625 shares of the Companys common stock with an estimated fair value of $3.2 million The Southwest

Medical acquisition enabled the Company to expand operations in Texas

2009 Acquisitions

Abeton Acquisition

On December 31 2009 ExamWorks acquired in two separate transactions substantially all of the assets and

assumed certain liabilities of Abeton Inc and Medical Assurance Group Inc both subsidiaries of The Abeton Group

collectively the Abeton acquisition for aggregate consideration of $9.6 million comprised of $7.0 million cash

consideration $2.4 million in seller debt and 153996 shares of the Companys common stock with an estimated fair

value of $254000 In conjunction with the Abeton acquisition the Company incurred transaction costs of $343000

which are reported in SGA expenses in the accompanying 2009 Consolidated Statement of Operations The Abeton

acquisition enabled the Company to expand its operations in the Pacific Northwest and Southwest regions

The fmal allocation of consideration for the Abeton acquisition is summarized as follows in thousands

Final

13

86
73

In 2010 the Company recorded an adjustment to working capital resulting in decrease to total consideration

paid of $73000 The goodwill and other intangible assets resulting from the Abeton acquisition are deductible for tax

purposes

Preliminary

purchase price

allocation

December 31
2009

Equipment and leasehold improvements 124

Customer relationships 3525

Tradename 1072

Covenants not to compete 46

Technology 99

Goodwill 4340

Deferred tax asset associated with step-up in book basis 224

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed net 224

Totals 9654

Adjustments

reclassifications

purchase

price

allocation

December

31 2010

124

3525

1072

46

99

4353
224

138

9581
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Additionally in 2009 the Company completed the following individually insignificant acquisitions as defined

in SEC Regulation S-X Rule 3-05 with an aggregate purchase price of $26.2 million comprised of $19.1 million cash

consideration less cash acquired of $443000 1613998 shares of the Companys common stock with an estimated fair

value of $2.7 million $2.0 million of seller debt in the form of subordinated unsecured notes payable $389000 of

deferred payments and $2.3 million of contingent consideration In conjunction with the other 2009 acquisitions the

Company incurred transaction costs of $1.2 million which are reported in SGA expenses in the accompanying 2009

Consolidated Statement of Operations These acquisitions expanded the Companys geographic coverage and to lesser

extent enhanced its portfolio of services

Company name

The Ricwel Corporation

Ricwel of West Virginia LLC

Marquis Medical Administrators Inc

Florida Medical Services Inc

IME Software Solutions LLC

Benchmark Medical Consultants Inc

The Evaluation Group Inc

MedNet I.M.S Inc

Qualmed Evaluations LLC

IME operations of Physicians Practice

Form of acquisition

100% of the outstanding common stock

100% of the membership interest

100% of the outstanding common stock

100% of the outstanding common stock

100% of the membership interest

100% of the outstanding common stock

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Date of

acquisition

April 17 2009

April 17 2009

May 21 2009

May 21 2009

July 2009

August 2009

August 14 2009

December 31 2009

December 31 2009

December 31 2009

The final allocation of consideration for these acquisitions is summarized as follows in thousands

Preliminary

purchase

price

allocation

December 31
2009

_______________
258

10320

3043

851

1289

9622

280
1008

______________

26111
_____________

Final

purchase

price

allocation

December

Equipment and leasehold improvements

Customer relationships

Tradename

Covenants not to compete

Technology

Goodwill

Net deferred tax liability asset associated with step-up in book basis

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed net

Totals

Adjustments

reclassifications

31
2010

258

10320

3043

851

1289

316 9306
376 96

40 1048

100 26211
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EXAMWORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 2009 2010 and 2011

In 2010 the Company recorded an adjustment to working capital for one of the insignificant 2009 acquisitions

resulting in an increase to total consideration paid of $100000 Certain of these transactions contain earnout provisions

based upon the achievement of certain revenue targets and profitability targets and payable annually over two-year or

4.75 year period Based on estimates of expected cash payments and the probability of acquired businesses achieving

certain results the Company recorded $2.3 million of contingent consideration in conjunction with the preliminary

purchase price allocation The contingent consideration includes seller debt in the form of subordinated unsecured notes

payable with an estimated fair value of $1.1 million 355584 shares of the Companys common stock with an estimated

fair value of $572000 and deferred payments with an estimated fair value of $618000 The seller debt and the shares of

the Companys stock are subject to clawback provisions in the event that certain revenue targets are not achieved over

the eamout period The deferred payments are payable annually over twoyear period 50% payable in cash and 50%

payable with the Companys common stock The fair value of the deferred payments are adjusted quarterly based

primarily on the movement in the fair value of the Companys common stock to be issued with the change being

recorded as other income expense
in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations For the years ended

December 31 2009 and 2010 the Company recorded additional contingent consideration of $300000 and $2.3 million

respectively resulting primarily from the change in the value of the earnout as other expense and for the year ended

December 31 2011 the Company recorded reduction to contingent consideration of $1.4 million of which $1.2 million

was recorded as other income and $221000 was recorded in SGA expenses in the accompanying Consolidated

Statements of Operations Goodwill of $5.2 million and other intangible assets of $9.9 million are deductible for tax

purposes

2010 Acquisitions

Metro Medical Acquisition

On March 26 2010 ExamWorks acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of Metro

Medical Services LLC Metro Medical for aggregate consideration of $13.5 million comprised of $13.0 million cash

consideration less cash acquired of $722000 and 589930 shares of the Companys common stock with an estimated fair

value of $1.3 million In conjunction with the Metro Medical acquisition the Company incurred transaction costs of

$101000 which are reported in SGA expenses
in the accompanying 2010 Consolidated Statement of Operations The

Metro Medical acquisition enabled the Company to further expand its operations in the northeastern region of the United

States

The final allocation of consideration for the Metro Medical acquisition is summarized as follows in thousands

Final

purchase price

allocation

December 31
2011

682
_______________

13488

186

4715

1458

66

100

5601

680

Preliminary

purchase price

allocation

December 31 Adjustments

2010 reclassifications

Equipment and leasehold improvements 186

Customer relationships 4715

Tradename 1458

Covenants not to compete 66

Technology 100

Goodwill 5601

Deferred tax asset associated with step-up in book basis 680

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed net
__________________

Totals

In 2011 the Company finalized the purchase price allocation with no adjustments The goodwill and other

intangible assets resulting from the Metro Medical acquisition are deductible for tax purposes

682

13488
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EXAMWORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December31 2009 2010 and 2011

Direct IME Acquisition

On June 30 2010 ExamWorks acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of Direct

IME Partnership Direct IME for aggregate consideration of $13.6 million comprised of $11.9 million cash

consideration less cash acquired of $50000 507606 shares of the Companys common stock with an estimated fair

value of $1.4 million and $351000 of contingent consideration The acquisition agreement contains clawback

provision whereby certain revenue and profitability targets must be met for period of two years At the time of closing

the Company expected Direct IME to achieve the targeted levels Additionally the acquisition agreement contains

contingent consideration in the form of an earnout provision based upon the achievement of certain revenue and

profitability targets Any contingent consideration is payable at the end of two-year period The fair value of the

contingent consideration is adjusted quarterly based primarily on variations in the expected performance of the acquired

businesses with the change being recorded as other income expense
in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of

Operations For the
year

ended December 31 2010 the Company recorded additional contingent consideration of

$210000 resulting primarily from the change in the value of the earnout as other expense
in the accompanying

Consolidated Statements of Operations In the third quarter of 2011 the Company and the sellers of Direct IME agreed

to terminate the clawback and earnout provisions in the acquisition agreement As result the Company recorded

reduction to contingent consideration of approximately $600000 in SGA
expense

in the accompanying Consolidated

Statement of Operations In conjunction with the Direct IME acquisition the Company incurred transaction costs of

$194000 which are reported in SGA expenses
in the accompanying 2010 Consolidated Statement of Operations The

Direct IME acquisition enabled the Company to expand operations into the Canadian market

The final allocation of consideration for the Direct IME acquisition is summarized as follows in thousands

Preliminary Final

purchase price purchase price

allocation allocation

December 31 Adjustments December 31
2010 reclassifications 2011

Equipment and leasehold improvements 34 34

Customer relationships 5416 5416

Tradename 720 720

Covenants not to compete 33 33

Technology 48 48

Goodwill 5708 5708

Deferred tax asset associated with step-up in book basis 815 815

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed net 855 855

Totals 13629 13629

In 2011 the Company finalized the purchase price allocation with no adjustments The goodwill and other

intangible assets resulting from the Direct IME acquisition are deductible for tax purposes

Verity Acquisition

On August 2010 ExamWorks acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of Verity

Medical Inc Verity Medical for cash consideration of $14.0 million In conjunction with the Verity Medical

acquisition the Company incurred transaction costs of $138000 which are reported in SGA expenses in the

accompanying 2010 Consolidated Statement of Operations The Verity Medical acquisition enabled the Company to

further expand its operations in the midwestern region of the United States
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EXAMWORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 2009 2010 and 2011

The final allocation of consideration for the Verity Medical acquisition is summarized as follows in

thousands

Equipment and leasehold improvements

Customer relationships

Tradename

Covenants not to compete

Technology

Goodwill

Deferred tax asset associated with step-up in book basis

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed net

Totals

Final

purchase price

allocation

December 31
2011

46

6063

1036

51

83

6160 14 6174
12 20

540 22 518

13991 13991

In 2011 the Company finalized the purchase price allocation with limited adjustments The goodwill and other

intangible assets resulting from the Verity Medical acquisition are deductible for tax purposes

UK Independent Medical Acquisition

On September 2010 ExamWorks acquired 100% of the outstanding common stock of UK Independent

Medical Systems UKIM for aggregate consideration of $16.0 million comprised of $14.5 million cash consideration

and 253003 shares of the Companys common stock with an estimated fair value of $1.5 million In conjunction with

the UKIM acquisition the Company incurred transaction costs of $447000 which are reported in SGA expenses in the

accompanying 2010 Consolidated Statement of Operations The UKIM acquisition enabled the Company to expand

operations into the UK market

The fmal allocation of consideration for the UKIM acquisition is summarized as follows in thousands

Preliminary

purchase price

allocation

December 31
2010

152

3238

1704

107

2895

Final

purchase price

allocation

December 31
2011

152

3238

1704

107

1487 4382

1989

4418

15995

Preliminary

purchase price

allocation

December 31
2010

46

6063

1036

51

83

Adjustments

reclassifications

Equipment and leasehold improvements

Customer relationships

Tradename

Covenants not to compete

Technology

Goodwill

Deferred tax asset associated with step-up in book basis

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed net

Totals

Adjustments

reclassifications

1163 826

6358 1940
15622 373
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EXAM WORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 2009 2010 and 2011

In 2011 the Company finalized the purchase price allocation and recorded an adjustment to working capital

resulting in an increase to total consideration paid of $373000 Other adjustments to the purchase price allocation in

2011 relate primarily to decrease in fair value of acquired account receivable The goodwill and other intangible assets

resulting from the UKIM acquisition are deductible for U.S federal income tax purposes

Other 2010 Acquisitions

Additionally in 2010 the Company completed the following individually insignificant acquisitions as defined

in SEC Regulation S-X Rule 3-05 with an aggregate purchase price of $70.2 million comprised of $62.8 million cash

consideration less cash acquired of $1.0 million 1685312 shares of the Companys common stock with an estimated

fair value of $5.9 million $1.7 million of seller debt in the form of subordinated unsecured notes payable and $786000
of contingent consideration portion of this debt may be settled at the election of the seller with 135282 shares of the

Companys common stock In conjunction with the other 2010 acquisitions the Company incurred transaction costs of

$1.2 million which are reported in SGA expenses in the accompanying 2010 Consolidated Statement of Operations

These acquisitions expanded the geographic coverage and to lesser extent enhanced the service offering of the

Company

Company name Form of acquisition

American Medical Bill Review Inc Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

AMBR
Medical Evaluations Inc ME
401 Diagnostics Inc

Independent Medical Services

Corporation

Network Medical Review Co Ltd 100% of the outstanding common stock

SOMA Medical Assessments Inc Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Exigere Corporation 100% of the outstanding common stock

Health Cost Management LLC Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

BME Gateway Inc Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Royal Medical Consultants Inc Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

The final allocation of consideration for these acquisitions is summarized as follows in thousands

Equipment and leasehold improvements

Customer relationships

Tradename

Covenants not to compete

Technology

Goodwill 37513 298

Net deferred tax liability associated with step-up in book basis 2540 212

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed net 2294 598
______________

Totals 70318 88
_____________

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Date of acquisition

March 15 2010

March 15 2010

June 30 2010

June 30 2010

June 30 2010

June 30 2010

August 62010

September 2010

October 2010

December 20 2010

Preliminary

purchase price

allocation

December 31
2010

792

Adjustments

reclassifications

Final

purchase price

allocation

December 31
2011

792

24814 24814

5984 5984

242 242

1219 1219

37811

2328
1696

70230
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EXAMWORK GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 2009 2010 and 2011

In 2011 the Company recorded adjustments to working capital resulting in decrease to total consideration

paid of $88000 The SOMA Medical Assessments Inc SOMA acquisition agreement contains clawback provision

whereby certain revenue and profitability targets must be met for period of two years At the time of closing the

Company expected SOMA to achieve the targeted levels Additionally the SOMA agreement contains contingent

consideration in the form of an eamout provision based upon the achievement of certain revenue and profitability targets

At the date of the SOMA acquisition the Company recorded $536000 as the estimate of the fair value of the contingent

consideration related to this acquisition Any contingent consideration is payable at the end of two-year period The fair

value of the contingent consideration is adjusted quarterly based primarily on variations in the expected performance of

the acquired businesses with the change being recorded as other income expense in the accompanying Consolidated

Statements of Operations For the year ended December 31 2010 the Company recorded additional contingent

consideration of $714000 resulting primarily from the change in the value of the earnout as other
expense

in the

accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations In the third quarter of 2011 the Company and the sellers of

SOMA agreed to terminate the clawback and earnout provisions in the acquisition agreement As result the Company
recorded reduction to contingent consideration of approximately $1.3 million in SGA expense

in the accompanying

Consolidated Statement of Operations Goodwill of $24.0 million and other intangible assets of $21.7 million are

deductible for tax purposes

2011 Acquisitions

MES Group Acquisition

On February 28 2011 the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the outstanding stock of MES

Group Inc MES for aggregate consideration of $215.0 million comprised of $175.0 million cash consideration

1424501 shares of Company common stock with fair value of approximately $30.0 million using value of $21.07

per share the closing price of the Companys common stock on February 28 2011 and $10.0 million of assumed

indebtedness under MES credit facility which was paid off at closing In conjunction with the MES acquisition the

Company incurred transaction costs of $2.0 million of which $1.5 million and $535000 were incurred in the
years

ended December 31 2010 and 2011 respectively and are reported in SGA expenses in the Companys accompanying

Consolidated Statements of Operations The MES acquisition broadens the Companys product portfolio customer base

and increases the Companys market share in the U.S

The preliminary allocation of consideration for the MES acquisition is summarized as follows in thousands

Preliminary

purchase price

allocation

December 31
2011

Building equipment and leasehold improvements 1800

Customer relationships 38190
Tradename 17426

Covenants not to compete 511

Technology 762

Goodwill 159988

Net deferred tax liability associated with step-up in book basis 18244
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed net 14581

Totals 215014
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EXAM WORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDL4RIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 20092010 and 2011

The goodwill and other intangible assets resulting from the MES acquisition are not expected to be deductible

for tax purposes The Company believes that information gathered to date provides reasonable basis for estimating the

fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed but the Company is waiting for additional information necessary to

finalize those fair values principally as it relates to the valuation of acquired accounts receivable and income tax matters

Thus the provisional measurements of fair value set forth above are subject to change As the adjustments to the

preliminary purchase price allocation are not deemed material to the consolidated fmancial statements the Company has

not reflected the adjustments retroactively as of the acquisition date The Company expects to complete the purchase

price allocation as soon as practicable but no later than one year from the acquisition date The MES acquisition

contributed $120.3 million in revenues and $9.3 million in operating income for the year ended December 31 2011

Premex Group Acquisition

On May 10 2011 the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the outstanding share capital of Premex

Group Limited Premex for aggregate consideration of $108.4 million comprised of $66.5 million cash consideration

661610 shares of Company common stock with fair value of approximately $15.1 million using value of $22.85 per

share the closing price of the Companys common stock on May 10 2011 and $26.8 million of assumed indebtedness

under Premexs receivables facility which was paid off at closing In conjunction with the Premex acquisition the

Company incurred transaction costs of $646000 during the year ended December 31 2011 and are reported in SGA

expenses in the Companys accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations The Premex acquisition increases the

Companys market share in the U.K and broadens the Companys product portfolio and customer base in the U.K

The preliminary allocation of consideration for the Premex acquisition is summarized as follows in thousands

Preliminary

purchase price

allocation

December 31
2011

Equipment and leasehold improvements 650

Customer relationships 32886

Tradename 10602

Covenants not to compete 109

Technology 2356
Goodwill 28131

Deferred tax asset associated with step-up in book basis 603

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed net 33019

Totals 108356

The goodwill and other intangible assets resulting from the Premex acquisition are expected to be deductible for

tax purposes The Company believes that information gathered to date provides reasonable basis for estimating the fair

values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed but the Company is waiting for additional information necessary to

finalize those fair values principally as it relates to the valuation of acquired accounts receivables and income tax

matters Thus the provisional measurements of fair value set forth above are subject to change As the adjustments to

the preliminary purchase price allocation are not deemed material to the consolidated financial statements the Company

has not reflected the adjustments retroactively as of the acquisition date The Company expects to complete the purchase

price allocation as soon as practicable but no later than one year from the acquisition date The Premex acquisition

contributed $59.2 million in revenues and $2.6 million in operating income for the year ended December 31 2011
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Other 2011 Acquisitions

EXAM WORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 2009 2010 and 2011

Additionally in 2011 the Company completed the following individually insignificant acquisitions as defined

in SEC Regulation S-X Rule 3-05 with an aggregate purchase price of $46.1 million comprised of $44.6 million cash

consideration less cash acquired of $564000 and 214926 shares of the Companys common stock with an estimated fair

value of $2.0 million In conjunction with the other 2011 acquisitions the Company incurred transaction costs of

$604000 of which $42000 and $562000 were incurred in the years ended December 31 2010 and 2011 respectively

and are reported in SGA expenses in the Companys Consolidated Statements of Operations These acquisitions

expanded the geographic coverage and to lesser extent enhanced the service offering of the Company

Company name

National IME Centres Inc

MLS Group of Companies Inc

Medicolegal Services Inc

North York Rehabilitation Centre Inc

Capital Vocational Specialists Inc

Matrix Health Management Inc

Bronshvag

Form of acquisition

100% of the outstanding common stock

100% of the outstanding common stock

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities

Date of acquisition

February 18 2011

September 28 2011

September 28 2011

October 2011

October 2011

October 24 2011

October 27 2011

The preliminary allocation of consideration for these acquisitions is summarized as follows in thousands

Equipment and leasehold improvements

Customer relationships

Tradename

Covenants not to compete

Technology

Goodwill

Net deferred tax liability associated with step-up in book basis

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed net

Totals

Preliminary

purchase price

allocation

December 31
2011

213

18577

2989
197

334

21500

356
2598

46052

Goodwill of $19.9 million and other intangible assets of $20.1 million are expected to be deductible for tax

purposes The Company believes that information gathered to date provides reasonable basis for estimating the fair

values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed but the Company is waiting for additional information necessary to

finalize those fair values Thus the provisional measurements of fair value set forth above are subject to change Such

changes are not expected to be significant The Company expects to complete the purchase price allocation as soon as

practicable but no later than one year from the acquisition date The other 2011 acquisitions contributed $10.6 million in

revenues and $270000 in operating income for the year ended December 31 2011

Pro forma Financial Information

The following unaudited pro fonna results of operations for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2011

assumes that the 2010 and 2011 acquisitions were completed on January 2010
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EXAMWORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 2009 2010 and 2011

For the years
ended December 31 2010 and 2011 the pro forma results include adjustments to reflect

additional interest expense of $18.4 million and $6.0 million respectively associated with the funding of the

acquisitions assuming that acquisition related debt was incurred on January 2010 In addition incremental

depreciation and amortization expense was recorded as if the acquisitions had occurred on January 2010 and amounted

to $33.4 million and $10.0 million for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2011 respectively Finally adjustments

of $28.8 million and $12.4 million were made to SGA expenses for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2011

respectively principally related to certain salary and other personal expenses attributable to the previous owners of the

acquired businesses These adjustments represent contractual reductions and are considered to be non-recurring and are

not expected to have continuing impact on the operations of the Company

Years ended

December 31

2010 2011

Pro forma revenues 485739 483203
Pro forma net loss 3192 6594

Pro forma net loss
per

share

Basic and diluted 0.14 0.19

The pro forma financial information presented above is not necessarily indicative of either the results of

operations that would have occurred had the acquisitions been effective as of January of the respective years or of

future operations of the Company

Property Equipment and Leasehold Improvements

Property equipment and leasehold improvements at December 31 2010 and 2011 consist of the following in

thousands

Estimated December 31

useful

lives 2010 2011

Building 15 years 600

Computer and office equipment years 5738 10742

Furniture and fixtures years 1379 1682

Leasehold improvements Lease term 295 627

7412 13651

Less accumulated depreciation 2542 4733

Total 4870 8918

Depreciation expense was $656000 $1.7 million and $4.0 million for the years ended December 31 2009

2010 and 2011 respectively
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EXAMWORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 2009 2010 and 2011

Goodwill at December 31 2010 and 2011 consists of the following in thousands

December 31

Balance at beginning of
year

Goodwill acquired during the year

Adjustments to prior year acquisitions

Effect of foreign currency
translation

Balance at end of
year

2010

32395

57877

303
613

90582

2011

90582

209619

1799

1740
300260

Intangible assets at December 31 2010 and 2011 consist of the following in thousands

December 31 2010

Amortizable intangible assets

Customer relationships

Tradenames

Covenants not to compete

Technology

Totals

Amortizable intangible assets

Customer relationships

Tradenames

Covenants not to compete

Technology

Totals

Gross

carrying

amount

70163

17883

1729

3427

93202

Gross

carrying

amount

157826

48046

2784

6750

215406

Net

Accumulated carrying

amortization value

19130 51033

4606 13277

841 888

1711 1716

26288 66914

December 31 2011

Net

Accumulated carrying

amortization value

50438 107388

13277 34769

1587 1197

3936 2814

69238 146168

The aggregate intangible amortization expense was $6.2 million $17.8 million and $43.4 million for the years

ended December 31 2009 2010 and 2011 respectively The estimated future amortization expense of intangible assets

is as follows in thousands

Years ended December 31

Total

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

Thereafter

Amount

49008

42853

26943

18399

6092

2873

146168

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Estimated

useful lives

40 to 42 months

45 months

36 months

24 to 40 months

Estimated

useful lives

40 to 60 months

45 to 84 months

36 months

24 to 40 months
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EXAMWORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 2009 2010 and 2011

Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses at December 31 2010 and 2011 consist of the following in thousands

December 31

2010 2011

Accrued compensation and benefits 1647 3323
Accrued professional fees 1775 4112

Accrued income and other taxes 2235 1546

Accrued medical panel fees 284 1880

Accrued value added tax 2829 15812

Other accrued expenses 644 1737

Total 9414 28410

Stockholders Equity

During the year ended December 31 2011 the Company issued approximately 2.1 million shares of common

stock with fair value of $45.4 million to fund the stock consideration of certain acquisitions completed through June

30 2011 Additionally in October 2011 the Company reissued from treasury approximately 203000 shares of

common stock with fair value of $1.8 million to fund the stock consideration of certain acquisitions completed in

October 2011

During the
year

ended December 31 2011 the Company issued approximately 458000 shares of common

stock to settle stock options exercised during the year

During the year ended December 31 2011 the Company issued approximately 21000 shares of common stock

to settle warrants exercised during the period

During the
year

ended December 31 2011 the Company issued approximately 14000 shares of common stock

to settle vested restricted stock units granted in the prior year to an outside consultant as compensation for services to be

provided during the year The Company recorded the expense related to these awards in SGA expenses over the

requisite service period

On August 2011 the Company issued approximately 31000 shares of restricted stock with an estimated fair

value of $425000 to the members of the Board of Directors as compensation for services to be provided in the upcoming

year The Company will record the expense
related to these awards in SGA expenses over the

one-year
service period

On August 12 2011 the Company issued approximately 58000 shares of common stock with fair value of

approximately $808000 to fund the stock component of the second earnout obligation from 2009 acquisition

On August 2011 the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized the implementation of

share repurchase program to repurchase up to $20.0 million of outstanding shares of the Companys common stock for

treasury Purchases under this buyback program may be made from time to time on the open market and in privately

negotiated transactions including pursuant to the terms of 10b5-1 plan 10b5-1 plan allows company to purchase

shares during blackout period provided the company communicates its share purchase instructions to the broker prior

to the blackout period pursuant to written plan that may not be changed The timing of these purchases depends upon

several factors including market conditions the market price of the Companys common stock the effect of the share

dilution on earnings available cash and any other potential risks the Company might encounter The share repurchase

plan may be discontinued at any time at the discretion of the Company For the
year ended December 31 2011 the

Company had repurchased approximately 1009000 shares of common stock under the share repurchase program These

shares were repurchased at an average cost of $9.34 per
share for total cost of $9.4 million
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EXAMWORKS GROUP INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 2009 2010 and 2011

Repurchased shares of the Companys common stock are held as treasury shares until they are reissued or

retired When the Company reissues treasury stock if the value of the transaction is greater than the
average price paid to

acquire the shares an increase in additional paid-in capital is recorded Conversely if the value of the transaction is less

than the average price paid to acquire the shares decrease is recorded to additional paid-in capital to the extent of

increases previously recorded for similar transactions and decrease is recorded in retained earnings for any remaining

amount

Related Party Transactions

In December 2009 two stockholders advanced the Company $3.5 million in the form of subordinated

promissory notes to fund portion of the cash consideration of the acquisitions completed in December 2009 The notes

bore interest at an annual rate of 7.5% and were repaid in January 2010

Beginning in July 2008 and through December 2009 the Company was party to monitoring fee agreement

with Compass whereby the Company would pay Compass on quarterly basis 5% of Adjusted EBITDA as defined In

December 2009 the Company and Compass agreed to terminate the monitoring fee agreement in exchange for one

time payment of $2.0 million to be settled with 739506 shares of ExamWorks common stock as approved by the

Companys independent director Compass Partners directed us to issue one half of such shares to each of Richard

Perlman and James Price the Companys Chairman and CEO respectively The shares were issued in January 2010 The

Company recorded charge in the fourth quarter of 2009 of $1.4 million included in SGA expenses
in the

accompanying 2009 Consolidated Statement of Operations representing the estimated fair value of the shares to be

issued to settle the termination obligation Inclusive of this charge the Company incurred $1.7 million in monitoring fees

for the year ended December 31 2009 Compass is an entity owned and controlled by Richard Perlman the Companys

Chairman

In June 2009 the Company engaged RedRidge Finance Group RedRidge to assist the Company in securing

additional debt fmancing to allow the Company to continue to implement its acquisition strategy In December 2009 in

conjunction with the closing of the Fifth Third Credit Facility see Note 10 the Company paid RedRidge $500000 in

broker fees and recorded them as deferred fmancing costs in the Consolidated Balance Sheet PP Investment LLC

PP company owned by Richard Perlman and James Price the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

respectively of the Company are minority owners of RedRidge For the year ended December 31 2010 the Company

paid RedRidge $425000 in connection with the credit facility Pursuant to the payment of the broker fees the Company

RedRidge PP Mr Perlman and Mr Price entered into letter agreement under which PP waived any right it had to

any portion of the broker fees paid by the Company to RedRidge and agreed that such broker fee minus amounts paid to

RedRidges employees would be paid solely to RedRidges majority owner No such broker fees were paid to RedRidge

during the year ended December 31 2011

The revolving credit facilities contain provision requiring the Company to use third party to perform

financial due diligence for acquisitions exceeding certain size With the approval of the senior lender the Company

engaged RedRidge to assist it with financial due diligence and incurred $52000 in fees in 2009 related to acquisitions

completed in December 2009 The Company incurred $725000 and $490000 in fees respectively pertaining to

acquisition-related work performed during the years ended December 31 2010 and 2011 respectively PP Mr
Perlman and Mr Price have likewise waived any right PP had to any portion of the diligence fees paid by the Company

to RedRidge

In 2010 the Company utilized private planes when necessary for business operations using NetJets Inc

NetJets share belonging to PerPrice Aviation Inc Georgia corporation PerPrice Mr Penman and Mr Price

each own 50% of the total outstanding shares of PerPrice PerPrice was reimbursed for the actual cost incurred in

connection with the Companys use of the NetJets share in 2010 which totaled approximately $311000 The Company

does not expect to incur any further costs through this arrangement with PerPrice
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In June 2010 the Company entered into lease agreement with Compass for corporate office space located at

655 Madison Avenue 23rd Floor New York NY Pursuant to the lease which runs from April 2010 through June 30

2014 the Company paid Compass rental fee of $10080 per month in 2010 which fee was subject to increase

commencing January 2011 based on proportionate pass through of base rent increases and increases for property

taxes and building operating expenses The aggregate amount of all periodic rental payments made to Compass for such

office space for the year ended December 31 2010 was $102720 In addition in June 2010 the Company paid Compass

$40320 as advance rent payment for the last four months of the lease and approximately $62000 as its share of

leasehold improvements For the year ended December 31 2011 the Company made rental payments to Compass of

$132000 Prior to the entry into this lease agreement the Company did not incur costs in excess of $120000 per year

with respect to leasing this corporate office space

The Company is party to certain consulting agreements with each of Dr Edward Decter and Dr Steven

Robbins who are stockholders of the Company and were considered related parties for the year ended December 31
2009 and through the IPO in November 2010 and members of its medical panel which set forth the terms and

conditions upon which Dr Decter and Dr Robbins are entitled to compensation for IMEs and other services performed

by them on behalf of the Company In addition such agreements provide that Dr Decter and Dr Robbins are to be

provided with minimum number of IMEs For the
years ended December 31 2009 and 2010 the Company paid Dr

Decter $819000 and $1.1 million respectively for IME services performed For the years ended December 31 2009

and 2010 the Company paid Dr Robbins $360000 and $415000 respectively for IME services performed

Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Commitments

The Company and its subsidiaries lease office space and office related equipment under noncancelable

operating leases with various expiration dates from 2012 through 2019

Future minimum lease payments under the operating leases in each of the
years subsequent to December 31

2011 are as follows in thousands

Amount

Years ended December 31

2012 8572

2013 6019
2014 4498
2015 3410
2016 2275

Thereafter 2510

Total 27284

Related rent expense was $1.7 million $4.0 million and $8.1 million for the years ended December 31 2009
2010 and 2011 respectively

Employee Benefit Plans

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries each sponsor separate voluntary defined contribution pension

plans The plans cover employees that meet specific age and length of service requirements The Company and certain of

its subsidiaries have various matching and vesting arrangements within their individual plans For the years ended

December 31 2009 2010 and 2011 the Company recorded $18000 $41000 and $297000 respectively in

compensation expense related to these plans
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Letter of Credit

As of December 31 2010 and 2011 the Company had $220000 and $190000 respectively outstanding under

letters of credit which are used to secure certain of the Companys leased office facilities

10 Long-Term Debt

December 31

2010 2011

in thousands

Senior Unsecured Notes Payable 250000

Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility Bank of America N.A 5000

Working capital facilities Barclays 4998 39063

Various subordinated unsecured notes payable maturing at various dates

from2Ollthrough2Ol4d 4858 2649

9856 296712

Less current portion 2312 1932

7544 294780

On July 19 2011 the Company closed private offering of $250.0 million in aggregate principal

amount of 9.0% senior notes due 2019 the Senior Unsecured Notes The Senior Unsecured Notes were

issued at price of 100% of their principal amount The Senior Unsecured Notes are senior obligations of

ExamWorks and are guaranteed by ExamWorks existing and future U.S subsidiaries portion of the gross

proceeds of $250.0 million were used to repay borrowings outstanding under the Companys Senior Secured

Revolving Credit Facility and pay related fees and expenses and the remainder will be used for general

corporate purposes including acquisitions

The Senior Unsecured Notes were issued under an Indenture dated as of July 19 2011 the Indenture

among the Company the Guarantors and U.S Bank National Association as trustee the Trustee The

Senior Unsecured Notes are the Companys general senior unsecured obligations and rank equally with the

Companys existing and future senior unsecured obligations and senior to all of the Companys further

subordinated indebtedness The Senior Unsecured Notes accrue interest at rate of 9.0% per year payable

semi-annually in cash in arrears on January 15 and July 15 of each year commencing January 15 2012

At any time on or after July 15 2015 the Company may redeem some or all of the Senior Unsecured Notes at

the redemption prices stated in the Indenture plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption Prior

to July 15 2014 the Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the Senior

Unsecured Notes with net cash proceeds from certain equity offerings at redemption price equal to 109% of

the aggregate principal amount of the Senior Unsecured Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest if any

provided that at least 65% of the original aggregate principal amount of the Senior Unsecured Notes remains

outstanding after redemption Further the Company may redeem some or all of the of the Senior Unsecured

Notes at any time prior to July 15 2015 at redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the

Senior Unsecured Notes plus make whole premium described in the Indenture plus accrued and unpaid

interest

The Indenture includes covenants which subject to certain exceptions limit the ability of the Company and its

restricted subsidiaries as defined in the Indenture to among other things incur additional indebtedness make

certain types of restricted payments incur liens on assets of the Company or the restricted subsidiaries engage

in asset sales and enter into transactions with affiliates Upon change of control as defined in the Indenture

the Company may be required to make an offer to repurchase the Senior Unsecured Notes at 101% of their

principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest The Indenture also contains customary events of default
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The Company entered into Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility agreement dated November

2010 with Bank of America N.A The facility initially consisted of $180.0 million revolving credit facility

The facility is available to finance the Companys acquisition program and working capital needs On February

2011 the Company exercised the accordion feature of the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility

increasing the facility from $180.0 million to $245.0 million

On May 2011 the Company increased and fully exercised the accordion features of the Senior Secured

Revolving Credit Facility The increase and exercise of the accordion feature increased the committed capacity

of the credit facility by $55.0 million from total of $245.0 million to total of $300.0 million

On July 2011 the Company entered into second amendment to its Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility

the Second Amendment which became effective simultaneously with the consummation of the Companys

private offering of the Senior Unsecured Notes The Second Amendment amended the Senior Secured

Revolving Credit Facility to among other things extend the maturity date of the Senior Secured Revolving

Credit Facility from November 2013 to July 2016 ii pennit the issuance and sale of the Senior Unsecured

Notes iiireplace the consolidated senior leverage ratio with consolidated senior secured leverage ratio while

permitting the maximum consolidated senior secured leverage ratio to be 3.00 to iv permit the Companys
maximum consolidated leverage ratio to increase from 3.5 to to 4.75 to reduce the borrowing cost and

vi allow the Company to complete acquisitions with purchase price of up to $75.0 million previously $50.0

million without prior lender consent The Second Amendment also reduced the aggregate revolving

commitments under the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility by $37.5 million for maximum commitment

of $262.5 million subject to the Companys right to increase the aggregate revolving commitments by $37.5

million for maximum commitment of $300.0 million so long as the Company is not in default and the

Company satisfies certain other customary conditions

Borrowings under the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility as amended bear interest at either LIBOR

plus the applicable margin or ii base rate equal to the highest of the federal funds rate plus 0.5% the

Bank of America prime rate and LIBOR using one month-period plus 1.0% plus the applicable margin

as the Company elects The applicable margin means percentage per annum determined in accordance with

the following table

Commitment

Pricing Consolidated Senior Secured Fee/Unused Letter of Eurocurrency Base Rate

Tier Leverage Ratio Line Fee Credit Fee Rate Loans Loans

2.5Oto 1.0 0.50% 3.75% 3.75% 2.75%

22.00 to 1.0 but2.50 to 1.0 0.45% 3.50% 3.50% 2.50%

21.50 to 1.0 but2.00 to 1.0 0.40% 3.25% 3.25% 2.25%

21.00 to 1.Obut 1.50 to 1.0 0.35% 3.00% 3.00% 2.00%

1.00 to 1.0 0.30% 2.75% 2.75% 1.75%

In the event of default the outstanding indebtedness under the facility will bear interest at an additional 2%

The Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility contains restrictive covenants including among other things

financial covenants requiring the Company to not exceed maximum consolidated senior secured leverage

coverage ratio maximum total consolidated leverage ratio and to maintain minimum consolidated fixed

charge coverage ratio The Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility also restricts the Companys ability

subject to certain exceptions to incur indebtedness prepay or amend other indebtedness create liens make

certain fundamental changes including mergers or dissolutions pay dividends and make other payments in

respect of capital stock make certain investments sell assets change its lines of business enter into

transactions with affiliates and other corporate actions
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On February 27 2012 the Company entered into third amendment to its Senior Secured Revolving Credit

Facility the Third Amendment The Third Amendment amended the Senior Secured Revolving Credit

Facility as to the defmitions of consolidated fixed charges and consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio and

does not permit the consolidated fixed charge coverage
ratio as of the end of any fiscal quarter to be less than

for an fiscal quarter ending during the period from December 31 2011 to and including September 30 2012

1.75 to 1.00 and ii for an fiscal quarter ending thereafter 2.00 to 1.00

As of December 31 2011 the Company had $5.0 million outstanding under the Senior Secured Revolving

Credit Facility bearing interest at rate of 3.00% resulting in $257.5 million of undrawn commitments

without taking into account $190000 outstanding under letter of credit However the credit agreement

governing the Companys Senior Revolving Credit Facility contains restrictive covenants including among

other things financial covenants which may limit the amount of borrowings available

On September 29 2010 the Companys indirect wholly-owned subsidiary UKIM entered into Sales

Finance Agreement the UKIM SFA with Barclays Bank PLC Barclays pursuant to which Barclays will

provide UKIM working capital facility of up to 5000000 subject to the terms and conditions of the UKIM

SFA The working capital facility bears discount margin of 2.5% over Base Rate 0.5% rate on December 31

2011 and serves to fmance UKIMs unpaid account receivables The working capital facility operates on co

terminus and cross-default basis with other facilities provided by Barclays and with the Senior Secured

Revolving Credit Facility As of December 31 2011 the Company had $6.6 million outstanding under the

working capital facility resulting in approximately $1 .1 million in availability

On May 12 2011 the Companys indirect wholly-owned subsidiary Premex entered into Sales Finance

Agreement the Premex SFA with Barclays pursuant to which Barclays will provide Premex working

capital facility of up to 26500000 subject to the terms and conditions of the Premex SFA The working

capital facility bears discount margin of 2.4% over Base Rate 0.5% rate on December 31 2011 and serves to

finance Premexs unpaid account receivables The working capital facility operates on co-terminus and cross-

default basis with other facilities provided by Barclays and with the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility

As of December 31 2011 the Company had $32.5 million outstanding under the working capital facility

resulting in approximately $8.5 million in availability

During 2009 and 2010 the Company issued seller debt in the form of subordinated unsecured notes

payable with an estimated fair value of approximately $5.5 million relating to certain acquisitions see Note

These notes are unsecured and subordinated to the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility and the Senior

Unsecured Notes issued in July 2011 Five notes payable totaling $4.4 million bear interest at 6% and are

payable quarterly with amounts ranging between $50000 and $76000 with maturity dates ranging from

August 2011 through March 2013 The remaining balance of the notes payable $1.1 million are noninterest

bearing and are payable annually with amounts ranging between $250000 and $333000 maturing in 2014 The

Company made principal payments totaling $2.4 million during the year ended December 31 2011

As of December 31 2011 future maturities of long-term debt were as follows in thousands

Amount

Years ended December 31
2012 1932

2013 6988

2014 32792

2015

2016 5000

Thereafter 250000

Total 296712
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11 Financial Instruments

The FASB issued ASC 815 which establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments

ASC 815 requires an entity to recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities and measure those instruments at fair

value Derivatives that do not qualif as hedge must be adjusted to fair value in earnings If the derivative does qualify

as hedge under ASC 815 changes in the fair value will either be offset against the change in fair value of the hedged

assets liabilities or firm commitments or recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income until the hedged item

is recognized in earnings The ineffective portion of hedges change in fair value will be immediately recognized in

earnings

In August 2008 in order to protect against interest rate exposure on its variable-rate debt the Company entered

into an interest rate swap to fix the interest rate applicable to certain of its variable-rate debt The agreement swaps one-

month LIBOR for fixed interest rate of 4.36% with notional amount of $10.5 million $8.3 million and $6.6 million

as of December 31 2009 2010 and 2011 respectively The Company did not meet the criteria for hedge accounting

under ASC 815 thus the difference between its amortized cost and its fair value resulted in an unrealized gain loss at

December 31 2009 2010 and 2011 of $343000 $42000 and $328000 respectively and such amount was reported in

interest and other expenses net on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations

The Company does not enter into derivative transactions for speculative purposes

12 Income Taxes

The components of the benefit for income taxes for the period for the years ended December 31 2009 2010

and 2011 were as follows in thousands

December 31

2009 2010 2011

Current

Federal 1913 422

State 106 285 352

Foreign __________
724 1508

110 2922 2282

Deferred

Federal 2169 4120 5189
State 554 616 916
Foreign 670 259

Total 2723 5406 6364
Benefit for income taxes 2613 2484 4082
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Deferred taxes result from temporary differences between the bases of assets and liabilities for financial

reporting purposes
and such amounts as measured by tax laws and regulations The sources of the temporary differences

and their effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 2010 and 2011 were as follows in thousands

Deferred tax assets

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Basis difference of intangible assets

Loss on interest rate swap

Net operating loss carryforwards

Shared-based compensation

Tax credits

Foreign currency
translation

Other deferred tax assets

Total deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities

Basis difference of intangible assets

Basis difference of property and equipment

Cash to accrual adjustments

Other deferred tax liabilities

Total deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred tax assets liabilities

257 131

51 1224

766 3565

2407
960

__________
1115

___________
8178

The reconciliation of income tax computed at the U.S federal statutory rate to income tax benefit for the years

ended December 31 2009 2010 and 2011 were as follows in thousands

Expected tax benefit

Increase decrease in income taxes resulting from

State income taxes net of federal benefit

Non-deductible items

Tax rate international

Other

Income tax benefit

December 31

2010 2011

Current Noncurrent Current Noncurrent

542 2578

6198

620

1162

1114

8386

329

4131

2154
337

2491

1640

538
179

1094 _________
1094 717

68 7669

4308
1168
4758

103
10337
2159

December 31
2009 2010 2011

2386 2897 4221

234 297
636

14
88

274
668

533
278

2613 2484 4082
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As of December 31 2009 the Company had federal net operating losses NOLs On December 31 2009

change in ownership took place as defmed for income tax purposes under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 IRC
Section 382 limiting the annual utilization of the NOL carryforward The Company generated $5.2 million of federal

taxable income in the year ended December 31 2010 fully utilizing the federal NOLs and resulting in federal income

taxes payable of approximately $800000 as of December 31 2010 included in accrued expenses in the accompanying

Consolidated Balance Sheet In 2011 in conjunction with the MES acquisition the Company acquired $20.1 million of

federal NOLs The Company generated $17.7 million of estimated federal taxable income in the
year

ended December

31 2011 and expects to utilize $17.7 million of the NOLs in 2011 to offset against this federal taxable income As of

December 31 2011 the Company has $2.4 million in estimated federal NOLs to offset against future federal taxable

income These NOLs are subject to IRC Section 382 limitations and expire in 2031 For the year ended December 31

2011 the Company was subject to the alternative minimum tax AMT and the Company has estimated AMT credit

carryforwards of $355000 as of December 31 2011 which may be used to offset future federal tax liabilities For the

year ended December 31 2011 the Company generated $2.1 million in estimated foreign tax credits related to income

taxes payable at certain of the Companys businesses located in the U.K which may be used to offset against future

federal taxable income Management believes that it is more likely than not that the recorded deferred tax assets will be

realized

The Company applies the provisions of ASC 740 as it relates to uncertain tax positions This interpretation

prescribes comprehensive model for how company should recognize measure present and disclose in its fmancial

statements uncertain tax positions that the company has taken or expects to take on tax return ASC 740 states that tax

benefit from an uncertain tax position may be recognized only if it is more likely than not that the position is

sustainable based on its technical merits The tax benefit of qualifying position is the largest amount of tax benefit that

is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement with taxing authority having full knowledge of all relevant

information

As of the adoption date the total amount of liability for unrecognized tax benefits related to federal and state

taxes was approximately $96000 As of December 31 2009 the liability related to unrecognized tax benefits was

approximately $96000 The Company recorded an additional liability of $80000 and $132000 in the years ended

December 31 2010 and 2011 respectively related to acquired liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits and interest and

penalties on prior year tax positions The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax

benefits in income tax expense

The following table summarizes the activity related to the unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended

December 31 2010 and 2011 in thousands

BalanceatJanuaryl2010 96

Increase to prior year tax positions
80

Increase to current year tax positions

Expiration of the statute of limitations for the assessment of taxes

Decrease related to settlements

Balance at December 31 2010 176

Increase to prior year tax positions 132

Increase to current year tax positions

Expiration of the statute of limitations for the assessment of taxes

Decrease related to settlements

Balance at December 31 2011 308
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The Company is no longer subject to U.S federal income or state tax return examinations by tax authorities for

tax years before 2006 and 2005 respectively which periods relate to certain acquired businesses The Internal Revenue

Service IRS commenced an examination of the Companys U.S income tax returns for 2009 during the second

quarter of 2011 As of December 31 2011 the IRS had not proposed any adjustments to the Companys tax positions

and in January 2012 the Company received closure letter from the IRS stating that no adjustments were identified The

Company operates in multiple taxing jurisdictions and faces audits from various tax authorities The Company remains

subject to examination until the statute of limitations expires for the respective tax jurisdiction The Company does not

anticipate that the amount of the unrecognized benefit will significantly increase or decrease within the next 12 months

Undistributed earnings of the Companys foreign subsidiaries are considered indefinitely reinvested and

accordingly no provision for U.S federal income taxes has been recorded Deferred taxes are provided for earnings

outside the United States when those earnings are not considered indefmitely reinvested

13 Segment and Geographical Information

The Company applies the provisions of ASC Topic 280 Segment Reporting ASC Topic 280 ASC 280
which is based on management approach to segment reporting establishes requirements to report selected segment

information quarterly and to report annually entity-wide disclosures about products major customers and the

geographies in which the entity holds material assets and reports revenue An operating segment is defined as

component that engages in business activities whose operating results are reviewed by the chief operating decision maker

and for which discrete financial information is available Based on the provisions of ASC 280 the Company has

determined that it operates in one segment The Company manages its resources and assesses its performance on an

enterprise-wide basis The Companys product groups qualify for aggregation under ASC 280 due to their similarities in

customer base economic characteristics and the nature of products and services provided The Company has disclosed

the revenues and operating income for MES Premex and all insignificant 2011 acquisitions for the year ended December

31 2011 as required by ASC 805 in Note although the Company does not consider these entities to be individual

segments for purposes of required disclosure under ASC 280 Information relating to the Companys revenues and long-

lived assets is as follows

Revenues For the years ended December 31

2009 2010 2011

in thousands

United States 49634 147918 298056
Canada 9710 21271

United Kingdom 5883 78533

Total 49634 163511 397860

Long-lived assets December 31

2010 2011

in thousands

United States 126772 340955

Canada 24028 42377
United Kingdom 7616 72452

Total 158416 455784

Long-lived assets are noncurrent assets excluding deferred tax assets and deferred financing costs
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Exhibit 10.19.4

THIRD AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS THIRD AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT dated as of February 27 2012 and effective as

of December 31 2011 the Agreement is entered into among ExamWorks Group Inc Delaware corporation

the Borrower the Guarantors the Lenders party hereto and Bank of America N.A as Administrative

Agent All capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to such

terms in the Credit Agreement as defmed below

RECITALS

WHEREAS the Borrower the Guarantors the Lenders and the Administrative Agent entered into that certain

Credit Agreement dated as of October 11 2010 as amended or modified from time to time the Credit

Agreement

WHEREAS the Borrower has requested that the Lenders amend the Credit Agreement as set forth below
and

WHEREAS the Lenders are willing to amend the Credit Agreement subject to the terms and conditions set

forth below

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants contained herein and for

other good and valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged the parties

hereto agree as follows

Amendments The Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows effective as of December

31 2011

The defmition of Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio in Section 1.01 of the Credit

Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows

Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio means as of any date of determination the ratio of the

sum of Consolidated EBITDA for the period of the four fiscal quarters most recently ended minus ii
Consolidated Cash Taxes for such period minus iii Consolidated Capital Expenditures for such period to

Consolidated Fixed Charges for the period of the four fiscal quarters most recently ended

The defmition of Consolidated Fixed Charges in Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is

hereby amended to read as follows

Consolidated Fixed Charges means for any period for the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on

consolidated basis an amount equal to the sum of the cash portion of Consolidated Interest Charges for such

period ii Consolidated Scheduled Funded Debt Payments for such period other than payments of

Indebtedness made with respect to the receivables facilities permitted by Section 8.03f at the applicable maturity

date of each such facility pj iii the amount of cash dividends and other distributions made by the Borrower

during such period all as determined in accordance with GAAP Notwithstanding the foregoing for purposes of

calculating Consolidated Fixed Charges for the four fiscal quarter periods ending December 31 2011 March 31

2012 and June 30 2012 the cash portion of Consolidated Interest Charges with respect to the Senior Notes shall be

deemed to include without duplication any interest accrued with respect to such Senior Notes during such

period and any interest paid in cash with respect to such Senior Notes during such period

Section 8.11c of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to read as follows

Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio Permit the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage

Ratio as of the end of any fiscal quarter of the Borrower to be less than for any fiscal quarter ending during the

period from December 31 2011 to and including September 30 2012 1.75 to 1.0 and ii for any fiscal quarter

ending thereafter 2.0 to 1.0



Conditions Precedent This Agreement shall be effective upon the satisfaction of the following

conditions

the receipt by the Administrative Agent of counterparts of this Agreement duly executed by the

Borrower the Guarantors the Required Lenders and Bank of America N.A as Administrative Agent and

the receipt by the Administrative Agent on behalf of each Lender consenting to this

Agreement on or before 1200 p.m Eastern time on February 24 2012 of an amendment fee equal to 0.075% of

such Lenders Revolving Commitment and ii the Administrative Agent and Merrill Lynch Pierce Feimer Smith

Incorporated of all fees and expenses due and payable to them in connection with this Agreement

Miscellaneous

The Credit Agreement and the obligations of the Loan Parties thereunder and under the other

Loan Documents are hereby ratified and confirmed and shall remain in full force and effect according to their

terms The Loan Parties acknowledge and confirm that as of the date hereof the Administrative Agent on behalf

of the Lenders has valid and enforceable first priority security interest in the Collateral the Borrowers

obligation to repay the outstanding principal amount of the Loans and reimburse the L/C Issuer for any drawing on

Letter of Credit is unconditional and not subject to any offsets defenses or counterclaims and the Administrative

Agent and the Lenders have performed fully all of their respective obligations under the Credit Agreement and the

other Loan Documents The Loan Parties also acknowledge and confirm that by entering into this Agreement the

Lenders do not waive or release any term or condition of the Credit Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents

or any of their rights or remedies under such Loan Documents or applicable Law or any of the obligations of any

Loan Party thereunder

Each Guarantor acknowledges and consents to all of the terms and conditions of this

Agreement affirms all of its obligations under the Loan Documents as modified hereby and agrees that this

Agreement and all documents executed in connection herewith do not operate to reduce or discharge its obligations

under the Credit Agreement or the other Loan Documents except as expressly set forth herein

The Loan Parties hereby represent and warrant as follows

Each Loan Party has taken all necessary action to authorize the execution delivery and performance of

this Agreement

ii This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Loan Parties and constitutes each of the

Loan Parties legal valid and binding obligations enforceable in accordance with its terms except as such

enforceability may be subject to bankruptcy insolvency reorganization fraudulent conveyance or transfer

moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors rights generally and general principles of equity regardless of

whether such enforceability is considered in proceeding at law or in equity

iii No consent approval authorization or order of or filing registration or qualification with any court or

governmental authority or third party is required in connection with the execution delivery or performance by any

Loan Party of this Agreement

The Loan Parties represent and warrant to the Lenders that the representations and warranties

of the Loan Parties set forth in Article VI of the Credit Agreement and in each other Loan Document are true and

correct in all material respects as of the date hereof with the same effect as if made on and as of the date hereof

except any such representation and warranty that is qualified by materiality or reference to Material Adverse

Effect is true and correct in all respects on and as of the date hereof and to the extent that any such representation

and warranty expressly relates solely to an earlier date each such representation and warranty is true and correct in

all material respects as of such earlier date except that any such representation and warranty that is qualified by

materiality or reference to Material Adverse Effect is true and correct in all respects as of such earlier date and ii
no event has occurred and is continuing or would result from the execution and delivery of this Agreement which

constitutes Default or an Event of Default

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts each of which when so

executed and delivered shall be an original but all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument Delivery

of an executed counterpart of this Agreement by telecopy shall be effective as an original and shall constitute



representation that an executed original shall be delivered This Agreement shall be considered to be Loan

Document for purposes
of the Credit Agreement

THIS AGREEMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES

HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the

date first above written

BORROWER
EXAMWORKS GROUP INC

Delaware corporation

By Is Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Name Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Title Chief Financial Officer Senior Executive Vice President and Treasurer

GUARANTORS
EXAM WORKS INC

Delaware corporation

By Is Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Name Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Title ChiefFinancial Officer Senior Executive Vice President and Treasurer

EXAMWORKS CANADA INC Delaware corporation

EXAMWORKS EUROPE INC Delaware corporation

FLORIDA MEDICAL SPECIALISTS INC
New Jersey corporation

MARQUIS MEDICAL ADMiNISTRATORS INC
New York corporation

SOUTHWEST MEDICAL EXAMINATION SERVICES INC
Texas corporation

PACIFIC BILLING SERVICES INC
Texas corporation

DIAGNOSTIC IMAGING INSTITUTE INC
Texas corporation

NETWORK MEDICAL REVIEW COMPANY
LTD an Illinois corporation

NETWORK MEDICAL MANAGEMENT COMPANY
LTD an Illinois corporation

INSURANCE APPEALS LTD
an Illinois corporation

ELITE PHYSICIANS LTD
an Illinois corporation

WORKERSFIRST INC
an Illinois corporation

THIRD AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT
EXAMWORKS GROUP INC



MES GROUP INC
Michigan corporation

MEDICAL EVALUATION SPECIALISTS iNC
Michigan corporation

MEDICAL EVALUATION SPECIALISTS
California corporation

MEDICAL EVALUATION SPECIALISTS-MASSACHUSETTS INC
Massachusetts corporation

MEDICAL EVALUATION SPECIALISTS INC
Pennsylvania corporation

LONE STAR CONSULTiNG SERVICES 1NC
Texas corporation

MES MANAGEMENT SERVICES INC
New York corporation

MLS GROUP OF COMPANIES INC
Michigan corporation

By Is Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Name Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Title Chief Financial Officer Senior Executive Vice President and Treasurer

RICWEL OF WEST VIRGINIA LLC
West Virginia limited liability company

CFO MEDICAL SERVICES LLC
New Jersey limited liability company

By ExamWorks Inc its sole member and manager

By Is Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Name Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Title Chief Financial Officer Senior Executive Vice President and Treasurer

THIRD AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT
EXAM WORKS GROUP INC



IME SOFTWARE SOLUTIONS LLC
Michigan limited liability company

EXAMWORKS REVIEW SERVICES LLC
Delaware limited liability company

EXAM WORKS EVALUATIONS OF NEW YORK
LLC New York limited liability company

MEDICOLEGAL SERVICES LLC
Delaware limited liability company

IME RESOURCES LLC
Delaware limited liability company

CREDENTIALMED LLC
Delaware limited liability company

ISALUS LLC
Delaware limited liability company

By ExamWorks Inc its sole member

By Is Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Name Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Title ChiefFinancial Officer Senior Executive Vice President and Treasurer

DDA MANAGEMENT SERVICES LLC
New York limited liability company

By Lone Star Consulting Services Inc its sole member

By Is Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Name Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Title ChiefFinancial Officer Senior Executive Vice President and Treasurer

THIRD AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT
EXAM WORKS GROUP INC



ADMINISTRATIVE

AGENT
BANK OF AMERICA N.A
as Administrative Agent

By Is Anne Zeschke

Name Anne Zeschke

Title Vice President

LENDERS
BANK OF AMERICA N.A
as Lender Swing Line Lender and LIC Issuer

By Is Mark Hardison

Name Mark Hardison

Title Vice President

GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL CORPORATION
as Lender

By Is Grant Johnston

Name Grant Johnston

Title Duly Authorized Signatory

FIFTH THIRD BANK
as Lender

By Is Philip Renwick

Name Philip Renwick

Title Vice President

SUNTRUST BANK
as Lender

By Is Mary Coke

Name Mary Coke

Title Vice President

WELLS FARGO BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
as Lender

By Is William Nixon

Name William Nixon

Title Senior Vice President

CREDIT SUISSE AG CAYMAN ISLANDS BRANCH
as Lender

By Is Mi Bruger

Name Mi Bruger

Title Vice President

By Is Kevin Buddhdew

Name Kevin Buddhdew

Title Associate

THIRD AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT
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BARCLAYS BANK PLC
as Lender

By Is Michael Mozer

Name Michael Mozer

Title Vice President

COMMUNITY SOUTHERN BANK
as Lender

By Is Thomas Bethel

Name Thomas Bethel

Title Corporate Banking Manager

GOLDMAN SACHS BANK USA
as Lender

By Is Ivan Anderson

Name Ivan Anderson

Title Authorized Signatory

THIRD AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT
EXAMWORKS GROUP INC



Exhibit 21.1

ExamWorks Group Inc

The following table lists the direct and indirect subsidiaries of ExamWorks Group Inc

Jurisdiction of

Incorporation or

Name Organization

ExamWorks Inc Delaware

Southwest Medical Examination Services Inc Texas

Diagnostic Imaging Institute Inc Texas

Pacific Billing Services Inc Texas

The Ricwel Corporation Ohio

Marquis Medical Administrators Inc New York

Florida Medical Specialists Inc New Jersey

CFO Medical Services LLC New Jersey

IME Software Solutions LLC Michigan

ExamWorks Review Services LLC Delaware

Ricwel of West Virginia LLC West Virginia

ExamWorks Evaluations of New York LLC New York

Exigere Corporation Washington

Network Medical Review Company Ltd Illinois

Network Medical Management Company Ltd Illinois

Elite Physicians Ltd Illinois

Insurance Appeals Ltd Illinois

WorkersFirst Inc Illinois

MES Group Inc Michigan

Medical Evaluation Specialists Inc Michigan

Medical Evaluation Specialists California

Medical Evaluation SpecialistsMassachusetts Inc Massachusetts

Medical Evaluation Specialists Inc Pennsylvania

MES Management Services Inc New York

Lone Star Consulting Services Inc Texas

DDA Management Services LLC New York

MLS Group of Companies Inc Michigan

Medicolegal Services LLC Delaware

IME Resources LLC Delaware

CredentialMed LLC Delaware

iSalus LLC Delaware

ExamWorks Canada Inc Delaware

SOMA Medical Assessments Corp Ontario Canada

Direct IME Corp Ontario Canada

MF IMA Corp Ontario Canada

Matrix Health Management Corp Ontario Canada

North York Rehabilitation Centre Corp Ontario Canada

Capital Vocational Specialists Corp Ontario Canada

Orange4 Inc Ontario Canada

Orange5 Inc Ontario Canada

IMA Resources Corp Ontario Canada

ExamWorks Europe Inc Delaware

Exam Works UK Ltd England and Wales

UK Independent Medical Services Limited England and Wales

UK Legal Funding Solutions Ltd England and Wales

Legal Evolve Limited England and Wales

Independent Medical Reporting IMR Limited England and Wales

Independent Medical Reports Limited England and Wales

Independent Medicals Ltd England and Wales



Independent Medical Assessment Services Ltd

Independent Medical Experts Limited

Independent Medical Providers Ltd

Independent Reports Limited

Axis Costs Limited

UK Legal Imaging Services Limited

Premex Group Limited

Premex Services Limited

Premex Document Management Limited

Premex Insight Limited

Premex Services Liverpool Limited

Howarth Medical Reporting Services Limited

Premex Properties Limited

3d Risk Solutions Limited

3d Solutions Limited

Premex Rehabilitation Limited

Micrah Services Limited

Micrah Rehabilitation Limited

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors

ExamWorks Group mc

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements on Form S-8 No 333-170487 and No 333-

177994 of ExamWorks Group Inc of our reports dated February 29 2012 relating to the consolidated balance sheets

of ExamWorks Group Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31 2010 and 2011 and the related consolidated statements

of operations and comprehensive loss stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period

ended December 31 2011 and related financial statement schedule and the effectiveness of internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2011 which reports appear in the December 31 2011 annual report on Form 10-

of ExamWorks Group Inc

Our report dated February 29 2012 on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2011 contains an explanatory paragraph that states all 2011 acquisitions except National IME Centres Inc were

excluded from managements assessment The total assets and revenues of these entities represented approximately 18%

and 47% respectively of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December

31 2011

Is KPMG LLP

Atlanta Georgia

February 29 2012



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

James Price certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Exam Works Group Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the

registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a-1 5e and 5d- 15e and internal control

over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 5f and Sd-i 5f for the registrant and

have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information

relating to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by

others within those entities particularly during the period in which this report is being

prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control

over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial

statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and

presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls

and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such

evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial

reporting that occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants

fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report that has materially affected or is

reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial

reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal

control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board

of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal

control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the

registrants ability to record process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who
have significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date February 29 2012

Is James Price

James Price

Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

Miguel Fernandez de Castro certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Exam Works Group Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the

registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e and internal control

over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 5f and 5d-1 5f for the registrant and

have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information

relating to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by

others within those entities particularly during the period in which this report is being

prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control

over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial

statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and

presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls

and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such

evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial

reporting that occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants

fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report that has materially affected or is

reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial

reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal

control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board

of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal

control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the

registrants ability to record process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who
have significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date February 29 2012

Is Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350

Each of the undersigned hereby certifies that to his knowledge the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal

year ended December 31 2011 of ExamWorks Group Inc the Company filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on the date hereof fuily complies with the requirements of section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 and that the information contained in such report fairly presents in all material respects the fmancial

condition and results of operations of the Company

/5/ James Price

Name James Price

Title Chief Executive Officer

Date February 29 2012

Is Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Name Miguel Fernandez de Castro

Title Chief Financial Officer

Date February 29 2012


